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OVERSIGHT OF GOVERNMENT-SPONSORED
ENTERPRISES: THE RISKS AND BENEFITS
OF GSEs TO CONSUMERS

MONDAY, JULY 21, 2003

U.S. SENATE,
SUBCOMMITTEE ON FINANCIAL MANAGEMENT,
THE BUDGET, AND INTERNATIONAL SECURITY,
OF THE COMMITTEE ON GOVERNMENTAL AFFAIRS,
Washington, DC.

The Subcommittee met, pursuant to notice, at 2 p.m., in room
SD-342, Dirksen Senate Office Building, Hon. Peter G. Fitzgerald,
Chairman of the Subcommittee, presiding.

Present: Senator Fitzgerald.

OPENING STATEMENT OF SENATOR FITZGERALD

Senator FITZGERALD. I would like to call this meeting to order.
Let me first welcome our distinguished panel of experts here today.
We appreciate all of you making time in your busy schedules to be
here for this important topic.

Let me first set forth the purpose of this hearing, as I see it. The
purpose is, No. 1, to examine the current status of Fannie Mae and
Freddie Mac and possibly the Federal Home Loan Bank Boards,
which are also Government-Sponsored Enterprises and are in-
volved in housing. At least, the Chicago Federal Home Loan Bank
is. And two, to engage in a balanced and healthy debate about the
risks and benefits of these large corporations, which were estab-
lished by Congressional charters.

Let us stipulate at the outset that the housing GSEs fulfill an
important public policy mission that is built into their government
charters, to facilitate home ownership by low- to moderate-income
families. In my judgment, the housing GSEs have contributed
meaningfully to this cause, helping to give us perhaps the best
housing market in the world.

Second, GSEs, by charter, have prescribed limits on their activi-
ties. Unlike most companies, GSEs cannot enter into any business
they want. In the case of Fannie and Freddie, they are limited
largely to dealing in mortgages and mortgage finance. Moreover,
the size of the mortgages they can deal in is carefully limited in
their charters.

Third, the GSEs have effectively promoted access to mortgage
credit throughout the Nation, including inner cities, rural areas,
and underserved areas, by increasing the liquidity of mortgage in-
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vestments and improving the distribution of investment capital
available for residential mortgage financing.

That being said, we cannot ignore continuing news reports re-
garding the size, complexity, and financial status of these housing
GSEs, in particular, Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac. These news re-
ports raise a number of questions. Is there adequate market dis-
cipline on Fannie and Freddie? Would more competition help in en-
suring that Fannie and Freddie do not take unnecessary risks? Are
they adequately capitalized? Are some of the features of their spe-
cial status as GSEs necessary in today’s sophisticated financial
marketplace?

What are the implications of interest rate volatility? If lower in-
terest rates lowered Fannie Mae’s earnings, as were recently re-
ported, what will happen when the Federal Reserve takes away the
proverbial punch bowl and starts raising interest rates? Are Fannie
and Freddie both completely hedged against falling and rising
rates? And if they are perfectly hedged, how is it that they can
earn a profit?

Is it appropriate for us to allow banks and S&Ls to have an un-
limited amount of GSE debt on their balance sheets? By so aggres-
sively promoting housing, are we not artificially sucking debt cap-
ital away from more productive enterprises, as American families
move into larger and larger homes in ever-expanding metropolitan
areas?

After several weeks of studying Fannie and Freddie, my own
guess is that they are probably strong enough and sufficiently
hedged enough to survive a serious downturn in the housing mar-
ket. But perhaps they are not strong enough to survive the severest
of financial downturns, such as we had in the 1930’s. But then
again, nor are many of our largest companies and financial institu-
tions.

I am pleased to welcome our distinguished panel of witnesses,
who collectively represent some of the best minds in this debate,
both for and against. Unfortunately, we do not have representa-
tives from Fannie or Freddie testifying today, but notwithstanding
their absence, we have at least one GSE, the Federal Home Loan
Bank of Chicago, represented by its President, Alex Pollock. My
hope is that we can engage in a balanced but vigorous debate so
that we can ensure the continued success of GSEs in fulfilling their
mission.

I would now like to introduce our witnesses before calling on
each of them for an opening statement.

Our first witness is Alex J. Pollock, the President and Chief Ex-
ecutive Officer of the Federal Home Loan Bank of Chicago. Mr. Pol-
lock has had a distinguished financial career in my home State of
Illinois and has been in his current position since 1991. He is
known as the architect of the innovative Mortgage Partnership Fi-
nance program, which has grown to over $35 billion in assets since
its introduction in 1997, and is the author of numerous articles on
banking, financial systems, and management.

Mr. Pollock will be followed by Peter J. Wallison, Senior Fellow
of the American Enterprise Institute and Co-Director of AEI’s pro-
gram on financial market deregulation. Prior to joining AEI in
1999, Mr. Wallison served as General Counsel of the U.S. Treasury
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Department and Counsel to President Ronald Reagan and was a
partner with Gibson, Dunn and Crutcher.

Next, we will hear from Bert Ely, who has specialized in deposit
insurance and banking structure issues since 1981. Mr. Ely cur-
rently is the principal of Ely and Company, a consulting firm de-
voted to financial institutions and monetary policy. Mr. Ely has tes-
tified before Congress on numerous occasions to share his expertise
in banking issues. Prior to the founding of his firm, Mr. Ely served
as Chief Financial Officer of a public company and as a manage-
ment consultant with Touche Ross and Company and was an audi-
tor with Ernst and Ernst.

I would also like to welcome W. Michael House, Executive Direc-
tor of FM Policy Focus and a partner with Hogan and Hartson. In
these capacities, Mr. House concentrates on regulatory matters be-
fore Congress, representing national and multinational corpora-
tions, trade associations, and coalitions. Prior to his current posi-
tion, Mr. House served as Chief of Staff to former U.S. Senator
Howell Heflin from Alabama.

Next, we will hear from the Hon. James C. Miller III, Chairman
of CapAnalysis Group, LLC, Senior Fellow at the Hoover Institu-
tion at Stanford University, and counselor to Citizens for a Sound
Economy. From 1981 to 1985, Mr. Miller served as Chairman of the
Federal Trade Commission and subsequently was named by Presi-
dent Reagan as Director of the Office of Management and Budget.

I would also like to welcome Bart Harvey, Chairman of the
Board and Chief Executive Officer of the Enterprise Foundation. As
Chairman and CEO, Mr. Harvey provides seed capital, operating
funds, financing, technical assistance, and training to help rebuild
low-income communities. Prior to joining the Enterprise Founda-
tion in 1984, Mr. Harvey served in a number of domestic and inter-
national positions for the investment bank Dean Witter Reynolds.

To close our panel, the Subcommittee will hear from Dr. Susan
M. Wachter from the Wharton School of Business at the University
of Pennsylvania. Dr. Wachter is a professor of real estate, finance,
and city and regional planning at the university, a position she has
held since 1972. Dr. Wachter also serves as a visiting fellow at the
Brookings Institution and has received numerous awards for her
teaching excellence in the area of financial management.

Again, I would like to thank all of you for being available today
to testify on the risks and benefits of Government-Sponsored Enter-
prises.

In the interest of time, I would ask that you summarize your tes-
timony as best you can. I have read all of your statements and they
are all very good. Some are very brief and actually could be read
here, but others are much more lengthy, and for those of you who
have written very lengthy opening statements, if you could submit
those statements for the record, they will be included as part of the
permanent record of this hearing. If you could just summarize your
comments, I think that would keep us moving along much more
quickly.

We try to give each of you 5 minutes for your opening statement
and then we will go for a free-for-all debate, with both advocates,
pro and con, on the panel and we will all have a very lively debate.

Mr. Pollock, thank you for coming from Chicago, and welcome.
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TESTIMONY OF ALEX J. POLLOCK,! PRESIDENT AND CHIEF EX-
ECUTIVE OFFICER, FEDERAL HOME LOAN BANK, OF CHI-
CAGO, CHICAGO, ILLINOIS

Mr. PoLLocK. Thank you very much, Mr. Chairman, and thank
you for giving us the opportunity to share our views with you. We
believe your hearings today are very appropriate.

The American single-family mortgage market is the biggest cred-
it market in the world. It seems to us it is socially the most impor-
tant. It is the current version of Thomas Jefferson’s view that we
ought to have a property-owning citizenry to have a vibrant repub-
lic. Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac are surely the most important
factors in this extremely large and important market.

We take as the key question for today, in such a market in which
Government-Sponsored Enterprises play the central role, how do
we assure that the benefits of the GSE charter are passed through
the mortgage finance system to benefit home-buying consumers?
Before I give our thoughts on this, I do want to note that I am ex-
pressing the views of the Chicago Federal Home Loan Bank. There
are 12 Federal Home Loan Banks. Each is a company. Each has
its own management, its own board, and most distinctly, its own
views. So this is the Chicago view, and given its market orienta-
tion, perhaps we fit in with other Chicago views and Chicago
schools.

The Chicago view on today’s key question can be summarized
easily. It is: The best way for Congress to ensure that GSE charter
advantages are passed through to consumers, is to encourage great-
er competition in the GSE sector.

Mr. Chairman, in your opening remarks, you mentioned market
discipline. That is another word for competition, and indeed, we be-
lieve that the market forces of competition and the innovation and
efficiency they induce are the best disciplines for all enterprises, in-
cluding GSEs. No amount of regulation or redesign in regulators or
thinking about regulatory structures, however important that may
be, can substitute for the effects of competition.

There are, of course, three housing GSEs, as you mentioned, Mr.
Chairman, Fannie Mae, Freddie Mac, and the Federal Home Loan
Banks. We are all major sources of housing finance. We are all
major issuers of debt, and indeed, we were all set up (in 1932 for
us, 1938 for Fannie, and 1970 for Freddie), in times of economic
stress and problems. The key function of all housing GSEs is to
link the mortgage market to the bond market, so, of course, we are
involved with bonds.

I think it is safe to say all three GSEs have evolved differently
than their designers would ever have imagined, and that is part of
the reason why it is a good idea to think about them now.

Of the three, there is no doubt that Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac
dominate the secondary mortgage market. Last year, 2002, they
represented more than 80 percent of the conforming loan volume.
If you look at the outstanding loans of conforming size, that is to
say, eliminating jumbos and FHA loans and sub-prime, Fannie and
Freddie together have at least a 67 percent market share of all the
outstanding single-family conventional loans, as defined. That is a

1The prepared statement of Mr. Pollock appears in the Appendix on page 41.
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big share measured in any way. And on top of that, they have sus-
tained a remarkable, extremely profitable record over many years,
with rates of return on common equity year after year in the 25
percent range.

It seems clear to us, as part of this, that lending institutions who
divest their credit risk to Fannie and Freddie by paying guarantee
fees, pay very high fees relative to the losses involved. For exam-
ple, last year, those guarantee fees averaged 19 basis points per
year, but the losses were less than one basis point per year. It was
a good credit year, but lenders are paying what we view as a non-
competitive fee.

We think that both businesses of the GSEs, that is the mortgage
funding business and the credit guarantee business, are in need of
more competition. It is that need which has, at the root, generated
the debates about Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac, in which all of the
distinguished panelists here today have played a role.

In our view, there are three possible outcomes to this debate.
One is continued expansion and even more market dominance by
Fannie and Freddie. The second is the privatization of GSEs and
removing all their ties to the government. The third is creating a
more competitive, economically efficient sector. I am not speaking
of operationally efficient; I am speaking of economically efficient,
which means the lack of the economic rents which today charac-
terize the GSEs.

As to No. 1, it is easy to imagine continuation of the status quo,
leading to ever greater market dominance by Fannie Mae and
Fannie Mae.

As to No. 2, you can make very strong theoretical arguments that
privatization is the right answer, and in fact, my good friend Peter
Wallison has and does make such arguments. However, most peo-
ple think the actual probability of privatization is something close
to zero. We conclude that, as a practical matter, the only available
way to improve this GSE sector (which has made great contribu-
tions, Mr. Chairman, we agree), in order to get greater consumer
benefit is to increase competition.

As an essential fact in the mortgage funding business, only a
GSE, because of the GSE advantages, can compete with another
GSE. Therefore, the Home Loan Banks, through our Mortgage
Partnership Finance business, have set out to compete in the mort-
gage funding business. Through the risk sharing structures of
Mortgage Partnership Finance, we have put over 500 private finan-
cial institutions, all Federal Home Loan Bank members, into com-
petition with Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac in the credit guarantee
business. Because of this, credit risk which would otherwise be con-
centrated in Fannie and Freddie is now dispersed into hundreds of
private institutions.

So we are making a serious effort to carry out our own theory
of making the GSE sector more competitive, but I am sure there
are many other additional pro-competitive possibilities which could
be considered.

As Andrew Jackson said in 1832, when vetoing the rechartering
of the Second Bank of the United States, the GSE of its day, if we
cannot make our government all that it should be, at least we can



6

take a stand against the grants of monopolies. I imagine that Andy
Jackson would have extended that thought to duopolies, as well.

Mr. Chairman, thanks again for the opportunity to present our
views.

Senator FITZGERALD. Thank you, Mr. Pollock. I had never
thought of the Bank of the United States as a GSE, but I guess
now that I think about it, you are probably right.

Mr. Wallison, thank you. You may proceed.

TESTIMONY OF PETER J. WALLISON,! SENIOR FELLOW,
AMERICAN ENTERPRISE INSTITUTE

Mr. WALLISON. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. The title of these
hearings, it seems to me, was quite well chosen, because the real
question for Congress is whether the benefits provided by Fannie
Mae and Freddie Mac outweigh their costs and the risks they cre-
ate.

In my view, the case against Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac is
very simple. They create enormous risks for the government, for
the taxpayers, and for the economy as a whole, and yet—if I may
disagree respectfully with your opening statement, Mr. Chairman,
provide no significant benefit to homeowners today.

Fannie and Freddie have been doubling in size every 5 years and
now have combined liabilities of almost $3.3 trillion. This is not a
problem that can, in my view, be safely or responsibly put off.

Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac were created for a single purpose,
to provide liquidity for the housing finance system by creating a
market for mortgages made by banks and other mortgage origina-
tors. They did this very well. There is now a vibrant and efficient
secondary market for residential mortgages. The structure will now
operate without government assistance of any kind and does, in
fact, in what is called the jumbo market. So Fannie and Freddie
are no longer necessary for their original purpose. They should be
thanked and sent home.

Fannie and Freddie know all of this, so they have been diligent
in creating a rationale for themselves that does not depend on their
providing liquidity to the housing market. They now say that they
help put people in homes by lowering interest rates on home mort-
gages. They also suggest through their advertising that they dis-
proportionately help minority home buyers. However, they do not
really do these things.

Many studies have shown that Fannie and Freddie’s activities re-
duce rates on home mortgages by a very small amount, somewhere
in the range of 25 basis points, or one-quarter of one percent. If I
can put this in some perspective, every time the Fed raises interest
rates one-quarter of a point, it has the opposite effect. If that one-
quarter point were as important as Fannie and Freddie suggest in
their advertising, thousands and thousands of American families
would be frozen out of home ownership every time the Fed raises
interest rates by a quarter-point. I don’t think that happens.

In any event, as shown by a Census Bureau study presented at
an AEI conference in October, the monthly cost of owning a home
is not the obstacle that prevents renters from buying homes. The

1The prepared statement of Mr. Wallison appears in the Appendix on page 45.
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obstacle is the down payment. Most renters do not have the down
payment necessary to buy a home. Accordingly, the claim by
Fannie and Freddie that they put people in homes by reducing in-
terest rates is not true.

Through their advertising, Fannie and Freddie also suggest that
they provide special assistance to minority families hoping to be-
come homeowners, but they do not do this, either. Instead, accord-
ing to a study by Jonathan Brown of Essential Information, a
Nader-related group, Fannie and Freddie buy proportionately fewer
conventional conforming loans that banks make in minority and
low-income areas than they buy in middle-class white areas.

So the U.S. housing finance system gets very little benefit from
the continued existence of Fannie and Freddie as Government-
Sponsored Enterprises. What, then, are the costs?

In 2001, CBO estimated that Fannie and Freddie receive an im-
plicit subsidy from the U.S. Government, in effect, an extension of
U.S. Government credit, with an annual value of at least $10.6 bil-
lion. But the costs, stated in terms of the risks they create, are far
greater than this. Because Fannie and Freddie are implicitly
backed by the U.S. Government, financial problems at either of
them could require a government bailout. The government has
done this before for other GSEs.

Until the recent problems at Freddie, we might have said, and
I did say, that both were in such good financial health that a bail-
out was not at all likely. Now, because of doubts about the account-
ing of both of them, no one can be sure of this anymore. Given their
$3.3 trillion liabilities, if even a small part of this obligation has
to be made up by taxpayers, it will make the S&L bailout look in-
significant.

But even that does not end the risks we all face with these two
companies. Because they are integral to the health of the housing
market, the failure of either of them could have a systemic effect,
meaning an adverse effect on the economy as a whole.

One of the ways they might do this, incidentally, is through the
holding of their securities by our financial institutions. If their se-
curities decline in value, so does the capital of these institutions,
reducing the amount that they can lend in any area, not just in the
mortgage area.

Thus, since there are only two of these companies, it is accurate
to say that the continued health of our economy depends on deci-
sions by only two corporate managements. If one of them makes a
grave mistake, the entire economy could suffer. And the recent
events at Freddie Mac show that management judgments are not
infallible.

So what is to be done? Congress can change this calculus in a
number of ways. Although I favor complete privatization, there is
a less dramatic way to reduce the risks Fannie and Freddie create.
Congress should prohibit Fannie and Freddie from buying back
their mortgage-backed securities or accumulating any substantial
portfolio of mortgages. Most of the limited benefits that Fannie and
Freddie provide to the mortgage market come from their issuance
of mortgage-backed securities. Most of their financial risks come
from buying back these securities and accumulating portfolios of
mortgages.
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Yet buying back MBS and holding mortgages in portfolio doesn’t
have any effect, positive or negative, on mortgage rates. So Con-
gress, simply by prohibiting them from repurchasing their own
mortgage-backed securities, can largely eliminate the risks they
create without affecting mortgage interest rates. I respectfully rec-
ommend this to you, Mr. Chairman, and to the Committee.

That concludes my testimony. Thank you.

Senator FITZGERALD. Thank you, Mr. Wallison. Now, we would
gelcome your testimony, Bert Ely. Thank you very much for being

ere.

TESTIMONY OF BERT ELY,! ELY AND COMPANY, INC.

Mr. ELy. Mr. Chairman, thank you. I am here to testify today
with regard to America’s Government-Sponsored Enterprises.
While I will focus on Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac, at times, I will
touch on three other GSEs, the Federal Home Loan Bank System,
the Farm Credit System, and Farmer Mac.

I will first summarize major problems Fannie and Freddie pose
and then discuss what we do not know today about the two compa-
nies. After reviewing underlying problems caused by Fannie and
Freddie’s GSE status, I will comment on proposed GSE tweaks,
none of which will solve the GSE problem. I will conclude by dis-
cussing longer-term solutions to the GSE problem, including com-
plete privatization.

The Fannie and Freddie problem today and the broader GSE
problems stem from their relatively rapid growth, which has been
facilitated by their numerous privileges. This growth has been driv-
en by management desires to enhance the wealth of GSE execu-
tives as well as the wealth of stockholders in the three stockholder-
owned GSEs.

In addition to being unfair competitors, the GSEs pose increased
systemic risk to the U.S. financial system and, therefore, the tax-
payers. Fannie and Freddie are too big to fail. The financial mar-
kets clearly believe Congress will rescue any troubled GSE, as it
has done twice before.

The potential for a third GSE rescue has been heightened by the
troubling revelation of serious accounting problems at Freddie.
Should those problems worsen, then a Congressional rescue of
Freddie and its Siamese twin, Fannie, will become increasingly
likely.

Particularly troubling is that we don’t fully know what we don’t
know about Fannie and Freddie. So far, Freddie’s problems have
been characterized as just accounting problems driven by a desire
to smooth its earnings. However, the ongoing investigation of
Freddie’s finances may reveal serious problems in its risk manage-
ment practices. Concern about Freddie’s risk management was ex-
pressed quite strongly by Senator Corzine at last Thursday’s Bank-
ing Committee hearing on the GSEs. He is better placed than per-
haps any other Member of Congress to express that concern.

One reason we don’t know what we don’t know about Fannie and
Freddie stems from their inadequate financial disclosures, specifi-

1The prepared statement of Mr. Ely with an attachment appears in the Appendix on page
52.
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cally the risk associated with their interest rate derivatives. There
is also a troubling lack of comparability in the disclosures of the
two companies.

OFHEO Director Armando Falcon has tried to soothe Congres-
sional and public concerns about Freddie’s financial condition by
stating that the financial restatement process should not alter the
result of its quarterly risk-based capital stress test. However, the
test is both outdated and too rigid. Neither Congress nor anyone
else should take comfort in that test today or in the future.

The special status, privileges, and benefits Congress has granted
to the GSEs and particularly to Fannie and Freddie underlie the
GSE problem. First, the GSE’s arbitrage the interest rate yield
curve and their GSE status through maturity mismatching on their
balance sheets. They partially hedge their maturity mismatching
through derivatives. A private sector mortgage investor could not
safely operate today with such a high degree of maturity mis-
matching.

Second, America has an inefficient housing finance system stem-
ming from its reliance upon the secondary mortgage marketplace
and the creation of mortgage-backed securities.

Third, by lowering the cost of debt capital for those who can bor-
row from a GSE or whose debt is secured by a GSE loan guarantee,
GSEs tilt capital flows away from other sectors of the economy, no-
tably the productive sector.

Fourth, the United States is experiencing an unhealthy shift to-
ward GSE financing and away from genuine private sector finan-
cial intermediation. Because GSEs are political creatures, it is ex-
tremely difficult to correct this shift.

Fifth, because they are a statutory construct, Fannie and Freddie
represent relatively rigid features of the American financial land-
scape. They are largely exempt from the market forces constantly
reshaping the financial institution landscape.

Sixth, according to CBO, Fannie and Freddie operate quite ineffi-
ciently in delivering a housing finance subsidy. Approximately 30
percent of the subsidy stayed with Fannie and Freddie in 2000,
which explains the above-market equity rates of return Fannie and
Freddie consistently earn.

Seventh, some portion of the Fannie and Freddie subsidy goes to
the sellers of homes, not purchasers. A slight rise in housing prices
fully capitalizes the subsidy, thereby shifting all of it to sellers.

Eighth, a substantial portion of the subsidy flows to existing
homeowners, not to first-time home buyers.

Numerous proposals have been offered to rectify problems and
risks Fannie and Freddie pose. These tweaks will not solve the
Fannie-Freddie problem. Repealing the Fannie and Freddie SEC
exemption is an easily executed reform, but that will not cure the
problem.

Restructuring GSE regulation will be extremely difficult, but
moving boxes around a government organization chart will not ad-
dress the myriad of GSE problems. It would be better to move di-
rectly to more fundamental GSE reform.

Giving OFHEO more money and power will not suffice. Repeal-
ing the GSE State income tax exemption is highly meritorious, but
extremely difficult to accomplish politically. Repealing the GSE’s
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Treasury line of credit would have symbolic value, but would be
difficult to achieve.

Higher capital levels have surface appeal, but they might not
have the desired effect because of their arbitrary nature. Further,
the present credit risk leverage ratio for Fannie and Freddie may,
in fact, be adequate.

Ending mission creep has been the goal of many, but hard to
achieve because of the difficulty defining a new financial product.

The greatest public policy challenge facing Congress is what to
do should one of the GSEs experience serious financial difficulties,
for those problems could spill over to the other GSEs. Freddie’s re-
cent accounting problems and management shakeup highlight this
problem.

Complete privatization is the only real solution to the GSE prob-
lem, but first, three points. If they do not exist today, would Con-
gress create the GSEs? I doubt it, for the political impediments
which sparked the creation of the GSEs have largely disappeared.

Second, little can be done to curb Fannie and Freddie’s growth.
Given their enormous political clout, Fannie and Freddie will suc-
ceed in repelling FM Policy Focus’s containment initiatives.

Third, Fannie and Freddie should be barred from owning mort-
gages or MBS, as my good friend Peter Wallison has just men-
tioned, beyond that needed to facilitate ongoing securitization ac-
tivities. This would help mightily to reduce, if not eliminate, the
systemic risk they pose. Limiting Fannie and Freddie to just the
credit guarantee business might encourage them to seek privatiza-
tion.

Privatizing Fannie and Freddie would do five things. First of all,
it would eliminate GSE risk to taxpayers.

Second, it would create a much more efficient housing finance
system.

Third, it would build a level, competitive playing field among all
private housing finance firms.

Fourth, it would create a more flexible and adaptive housing fi-
nance industry.

And finally, it would target delivery of the housing finance sub-
sidy to just those home buyers on the cusp of home ownership.

A forthcoming paper will present my Fannie and Freddie privat-
ization proposal in great detail. It will explain how market forces
can restructure the housing finance marketplace so that the effi-
ciencies of moving large blocks of debt capital to private sector
mortgage originators can be fully captured. Market forces, not arbi-
trary capital regulations, will determine the amount of capital that
institutional mortgage owners would hold.

The paper also will propose a housing finance tax credit modeled
on the Earned Income Tax Credit that will go only to those home
buyers on the cusp of home ownership. Finally, it will address all-
important transition issues as well as the privatization of the Fed-
eral Home Loan Banks.

Mr. Chairman, the time is fast approaching when Congress must
undertake fundamental reform of the GSEs by setting in motion
the complete privatization of these anachronistic entities. I look for-
ward to your questions.

Senator FITZGERALD. Thank you. Mr. House.



11

TESTIMONY OF W. MICHAEL HOUSE,! EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR,
FM POLICY FOCUS

Mr. Houst. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. FM Policy Focus is a coa-
lition of seven associations of financial services companies actively
engaged in the mortgage industry. We were pleased to be invited
to appear before you today and commend you for holding this hear-
ing.

In 1938, Congress decided to rescue a distressed mortgage mar-
ket. It was a genuine example of Congressional vision and we, as
an organization, strongly support this vision through the continu-
ation of the core mission of the two housing GSEs, Fannie Mae and
Freddie Mac.

Our members also believe that more can be done to expand home
ownership among all Americans and especially among minorities
and households who find it financially difficult to afford a home of
their own.

The GSEs play a vital role in this expansion, and for this reason,
Congress subsidizes them to the tune of more than $10 billion an-
nually. However, in order for the GSEs to be in full compliance
with their charters and fulfill their Congressional mandated mis-
sion, they need effective government oversight founded on three
important principles: Effective regulation, sound capital, and mar-
ket discipline from enhanced disclosure.

From where we sit today, Fannie and Freddie are zero for three.
They are weakly regulated by an underfunded and understaffed
agency. They hold far less capital than that required by bank regu-
lators, and they are the only two publicly traded companies in the
Fortune 500 that are statutorily exempt from the Nation’s security
laws. If they were private institutions, homeowners and investors
alike would be at great risk. But since Fannie Mae and Freddie
Mac are Government-Sponsored Enterprises, taxpayers could go
from being in the dark about their operations to being in the red
to bail them out.

The first principle of effective regulation is the establishment of
a strong single regulator. In 1992, Congress created OFHEO as the
safety and soundness regulator, and while making HUD respon-
sible for overseeing the GSEs affordable housing mission and new
programs. Unfortunately, this regulatory system has failed us in all
three categories.

It took 10 years for OFHEO to produce a complicated and inad-
equate capital rule for the GSEs. Moreover, the GSEs lag the pri-
vate sector in promoting affordable housing. Don’t just take my
word for it: There are 24 separate studies based on HUD data that
prove it. I have attached the list to my written comments.

In 1992, Congress passed an Act that also directed HUD to
preapprove new programs of the GSEs, but the agency has never
implemented a meaningful new program review. This failure takes
on new urgency since many of the new activities that GSEs under-
take are financial products targeted directly at consumers.

Therefore, FM Policy Focus recommends that Congress replace
the existing ineffective regulatory regime with a strong single regu-

1The prepared statement of Mr. House with attachments appears in the Appendix on page
83.
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lator in the Treasury with authority over safety and soundness and
mission. This structure should have all the attributes cited by
Chairman Greenspan in his testimony before the Senate Banking
Committee just last week namely, expertise, regulatory authority,
and power strong enough to keep the GSEs safe and sound.

The second principle is that the GSEs should be required to have
capital standards similar to that required of banks, that is, bank-
like capital. Fannie and Freddie are allowed to operate on a razor-
thin capital base that doesn’t even measure up to the capital held
by the S&Ls in the 1980’s prior to their collapse.

And the third principle is that the GSEs’ exemption from the Se-
curities Act of 1933 and the Securities and Exchange Act of 1934
should be repealed. At a time when the rest of corporate America
is subject to stringent review, Fannie and Freddie continue to oper-
ate as islands unto themselves. It is especially dangerous in light
of the revelations about Freddie Mac and its earnings restatement.

Mr. Chairman, the GSEs are too big to ignore. These two compa-
nies alone are larger than the entire S&L industry combined, and
that is why the stakes of this debate are so high. The current regu-
latory scheme is bifurcated and it is weak and subject to undue in-
fluence from the GSEs. Fannie and Freddie already pose a signifi-
cant risk to the financial markets, a risk that is compounded by
their incursions into new activities that go beyond their core mis-
sion.

In closing, EM Policy Focus believes that Congress must restruc-
ture GSE regulation for all players to ensure that the GSEs are ef-
fectively regulated. I thank the Committee for allowing me to tes-
tify and ask that my entire statement be put in the record. I would
be glad to respond to questions.

Senator FITZGERALD. Thank you. Without objection. Mr. Miller.

TESTIMONY OF JAMES C. MILLER III,* SENIOR FELLOW,
HOOVER INSTITUTION

Mr. MILLER. Mr. Chairman, thank you for having me here. 1
have a statement with attachments I would ask be included in the
record.

Senator FITZGERALD. Without objection.

Mr. MILLER. Thank you, sir. I understand the focus of this hear-
ing is on the benefits and risks of the housing GSEs. It so happens
that over the past couple of years, I have been involved in two
major studies that are pretty much on target here and I would like
to describe them briefly for you.

The first study was prepared by Dr. James Pearce of Welch Con-
sulting and myself and it addressed directly the benefits and costs
of the two housing GSEs of most substantial importance here,
Freddie and Fannie. And what we did was estimate first the bene-
fits to consumers, and the way we went about that was, in sim-
plified form, looking at the difference between the interest rates
paid by consumers in the conforming market, which Freddie and
Fannie are able to facilitate, and the jumbo market, which is above

1The prepared statement of Mr. Miller with attachments appears in the Appendix on page
103.
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that. Mr. Pollock mentioned that jumbo market is, in fact, competi-
tive.

Well, what we found is that there is a big jump in the interest
rates paid by consumers, or the mortgage rates paid by consumers
when you traverse from the conforming rate into the jumbo rate.
We estimated that the jump was at least 24 basis points. We also
concluded there was an indirect effect in the jumbo market of at
least five basis points, and if you multiply that by the conforming
loans and jumbo loans that are outstanding, involving some ranges,
because there was some discussion about different methodologies,
different databases give you slightly different answers, we feel very
confident that the benefits bestowed by the nexus that Freddie and
Fannie have with the Federal Government generate on the order
of $8.4 billion to $23.5 billion per year.

Then we looked and tried to measure directly the funding advan-
tages these two GSEs realize because of their nexus with the Fed-
eral Government, and others have talked about the reasons for
those. We found on short-term debt, there was about a 10- to 20-
basis point advantage. On long-term debt, between 10 and 40 basis
points. And with respect to MBSs, between 10 and 30 basis points.
Given the amount of debt outstanding, or borrowing, this amounts
to about $2.3 billion to $7.0 billion a year.

Now, importantly, what this shows is even the high estimate of
the funding advantages to the GSEs is below the low end of our
estimate of the advantages to consumers.

Now, I want to make a point here, Mr. Chairman, and that is
that our study attempted to measure directly these benefits and di-
rectly the funding advantage. Others, including CBO, have used a
model which is basically zero-sum. They estimate the funding ad-
vantages and take away from that the consumer advantages and
there is a fee left over, ignoring the fact that these GSEs may con-
tribute a great deal of value to the housing finance market by vir-
tue of their greater efficiencies, the economies of scale, the innova-
tions, and maintaining liquidity generally in the marketplace. I
think their model is fatally flawed because you could find that your
estimate of consumer benefits exceeded the amount of the funding
advantage, which is a nonsensical result.

The second study is one that CapAnalysis, the group that I chair,
did. As you know and was mentioned here, OFHEO recently pro-
mulgated a risk-based capital standard for judging the capitaliza-
tion of these two GSEs. What this standard does is hypothesize a
4-year period during which there is a dramatic fall in housing
prices, disruption of housing, and dramatic reductions in interest
rates. That is one part of the test. The other part of the test is a
rise in interest rates for a 4-year period. And then the question is,
would these GSEs survive over a 10-year period?

Now, some questions were raised. Well, this is not just the usual
kind of capital measures, capital-asset ratios, that apply to other
federally-regulated financial institutions, and while Freddie and
Fannie do have to meet certain capital requirements, it is not the
same. So would this test really be very rigorous?

Well, what we did was hypothesize the thrift industry as being
a single firm, as if it were a single firm, would it, in fact, meet this
OFHEO risk-based capital standard?—and we applied it and guess
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what? In the case of the upward interest rate scenario, it failed
after 7% years. The industry failed the test. And, in fact, it would
have needed $32 billion more in capital at the beginning of the pe-
riod in order to survive the 10-year test period. It did pass the in-
terest rate reduction scenario, but since it failed one part of the
test, it failed it in total.

Mr. Chairman, we have an extraordinarily vigorous housing in-
dustry that is enabled by a comprehensive mortgage finance indus-
try that is facilitated by Freddie and Fannie and other GSEs. All
institutions, in my experience, can stand improvement. I have no
doubt that is true of Freddie and Fannie and the other housing
GSEs. But I think for somebody who has looked at a lot of them,
it seems to me that these are very well-run enterprises and that
they have done a substantially superior job of facilitating this very
important market. Thank you.

Senator FITZGERALD. Thank you, Mr. Miller. Mr. Harvey.

TESTIMONY OF F. BARTON HARVEY III,'! CHAIRMAN AND
CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER, THE ENTERPRISE FOUNDATION

Mr. HARVEY. Thank you, Mr. Chairman, for this opportunity.
First, just a little bit about Enterprise. Enterprise is a national
nonprofit organization that provides private capital to support af-
fordable housing and economic development in low-income commu-
nities. We have raised and invested $4.4 billion to finance 144,000
afflordable homes for low- and very-low-income families and individ-
uals.

I can say at the outset, we have no more important partners in
our work than the housing GSEs. Fannie Mae, Freddie Mac, and
the Federal Home Loan Banks have been indispensable to Enter-
prise’s efforts to expand housing opportunities for low-income and
very-low-income homeowners and renters. In many cases, the GSEs
alone were willing and able to help Enterprise meet these needs.
Without the GSEs, much of our work simply would not be possible.

Now, we are no experts on macroeconomic benefits. You have got
many of them here. We are not a research institute. We are a prac-
titioner. I think we are the only practitioner on this panel. And we
are one of the largest and representative of many more in the coun-
try who provide resources to consumers who are often left out of
the mainstream housing market. Our testimony addresses how we,
working with the GSEs, address the needs of low-income families
and individuals.

First of all, the GSEs must meet, as you said yourself, strong
Federal requirements to finance affordable housing. The legislation
that provides Fannie and Freddie’s legal and regulatory framework
requires them to dedicate substantial portions of their business to
serving low-income people and communities. In fact, as Frank
Raines said in his 2002 annual report, “for Fannie Mae, focusing
on underserved Americans is more than just the right thing to do
or something we do on the side. It is the center of our business.”
That can be said for Freddie Mac, and in its own way for the Fed-
eral Home Loan Bank System.

1The prepared statement of Mr. Harvey with an attachment appears in the Appendix on page
168.
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HUD substantially strengthened the public policy requirements
for Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac in 2000. We strongly supported
that. We are not aware of any other corporations that have such
demanding public purpose responsibilities as Fannie Mae and
Freddie Mac. And similarly, the Federal Home Loan Bank Boards
are required to dedicate 10 percent of their net income every year
to fund affordable housing. That has amounted to more than $1.7
billion that has financed $25 billion worth of affordable housing.
And billions more are available, as Alex Pollock knows, at a slight
discount for community investment.

I have served on the board of the Atlanta bank, which went be-
yond the mandatory and reached out voluntarily to serve their mis-
sion in other ways.

Enterprise has worked in productive partnerships with the GSEs
to provide housing for many thousands of low-income families and
individuals. For example, Fannie Mae, Freddie Mac, and the Enter-
prise Foundation pioneered the use of the corporate market for low-
income housing tax credits in the late 1980’s. Fannie stepped up
to invest when few others would and encouraged other corporations
to follow suit. Freddie Mac was a very early investor, as well. That
credit today is the most important Federal incentive for the devel-
opment of rental housing for low-income people in the country, and
Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac are the most important sources of
capital for it.

The pictures that you see here show you two examples of the
kind of housing Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac, working with Enter-
prise, have made possible. I hope it gives a face to this sometimes
abstract issue of the critical housing benefits that the GSEs pro-
vide. Ultimately, what we are talking about are peoples and fami-
lies and communities.

The first here that you see, Sheldon Village in Eugene, Oregon,
provides 35 homes and numerous supportive services for very low-
income people, including formerly homeless individuals with special
needs. It is located to provide easy access to educational and rec-
reational facilities and public transportation for residents. Freddie
Mac was the major financial partner.

The next example is Arbor Park Village with Fannie Mae. This
is a large-scale development, 282 homes in 28 garden-style build-
ings, all for very low-income people. It is helping revitalize a neigh-
borhood near downtown, Cleveland.

Now, these are just two of many examples that we could give
you. We use the low-income housing tax credits. We could use
many other types of financing mechanisms.

We believe the current statutory and regulatory framework for
Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac has enhanced their ability and will-
ingness to do this kind of work with organizations like Enterprise.
These partnerships deliver housing resources to people and places
that cannot take full advantage of our Nation’s generally well-func-
tioning housing system.

These companies have consistently met their affordable housing
responsibilities, even as HUD steadily and substantially increased
them over the past decade. They have the best people, the best
technology, enormous access, broad partnerships, all working on
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ways to mainstream new products and services. They have the abil-
ity to test market ideas that people like us bring to them.

Congress has expressedly provided Fannie and Freddie the flexi-
bility to respond to fast-moving market conditions and emerging
needs. We believe that curtailing Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac’s
flexibility to innovate would undermine these gains and limit fu-
ture progress towards meeting our Nation’s most serious affordable
housing needs.

Certainly, the safety and soundness of the housing GSEs is crit-
ical for consumers and the economy. Vigorous regulation is essen-
tial. But there is no reason that strong safety and soundness over-
sight should chill or constrain the GSEs’ vitally important afford-
able housing activities. In fact, the interest of affordable housing
and safety and soundness are very compatible if carried out the
right way. Thank you.

Senator FITZGERALD. Thank you, Mr. Harvey. Dr. Wachter.

TESTIMONY OF SUSAN M. WACHTER,! WHARTON SCHOOL OF
BUSINESS, UNIVERSITY OF PENNSYLVANIA

Ms. WACHTER. Thank you, Chairman Fitzgerald, for the invita-
tion to testify today on Government-Sponsored Enterprises. I ask
that my full statement be included in the record.

Senator FITZGERALD. Without objection.

Ms. WACHTER. Currently, the United States has one of the best
housing finance systems in the world. The efficiency of this system
has been advanced by the Federal chartering of Government-Spon-
sored Enterprises, particularly Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac.
These institutions have enabled the securitization and the develop-
ment of the secondary market for the funding of mortgages.
Securitization and the efficient trading of mortgages and liquidity
in secondary markets have achieved the integration of U.S. mort-
gage markets into national and international capital markets.

The goal of the Federal chartering of Fannie Mae and Freddie
Mac is to achieve public policy objectives, including the promotion
of home ownership for all Americans, and economic research indi-
cates that this mission is being accomplished. Today, I will address
how this mission is accomplished, how increased access to home
ownership for all Americans has been accomplished through the
Federal chartering of Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac.

In my testimony, I will specifically refer to a research paper au-
thored by myself and colleagues, which I request be entered into
the record.

Senator FITZGERALD. Without objection.

Ms. WACHTER. In addition, I believe the GSEs have had a critical
role, through the strength of the U.S. housing market, in the recov-
ery of the overall U.S. economy since the 2001 recession.

Based on my research and that of multiple colleagues, Fannie
Mae and Freddie Mac have contributed to the expansion of home
ownership in America, providing affordable residential mortgages
for households who otherwise would not have had the opportunity
to become homeowners. Freddie Mac and Fannie Mae’s efforts have
helped to advance gains in overall home ownership rates, as well

1The prepared statement of Ms. Wachter appears in the Appendix on page 181.
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as in home ownership rates among minority and low-income house-
holds occurring over the past decade. This has been a phenomenal
decade for home ownership which I do not believe would have been
as strong without the role of the GSEs, a decade resulting in a
record high home ownership rate of 68 percent in 2003.

GSEs have accomplished this, in part, through their special af-
fordable lending programs, of which Bart Harvey has spoken. But
also, the GSEs have accomplished this through lower mortgage in-
terest rates and through lower down payment rates. These have
been made possible through the innovation and technological ad-
vances that the GSEs have brought about over the last decade.

The findings of the recently-released research study, “The Im-
pacts of Affordable Lending Efforts on Home Ownership Rates,” by
myself, Roberto Guercia, and George McCarthy, which was pub-
lished in March 2003 in the Journal of Housing Economics, indi-
cate that affordable lending efforts can increase home ownership
opportunities overall and for underserved populations. For exam-
ple, they can result in a 30 percent increase in the relative prob-
ability of home ownership for younger households, 20 percent in-
crease in the relative probability of home ownership for minority
households, and a 15 percent increase for households residing in
central cities.

The potential gains in home ownership are attributable, in part,
to improved credit risk management, which enables lower down
payments without an increase in credit risk. Thus, it is not just
lower interest rates, mortgage rates, but also technical innovations,
such as automated underwriting, that are responsible for increas-
ing home ownership throughout this past decade.

The GSEs and a strong secondary market deliver a second major
benefit, not only to homeowners but to the American consumer
overall. Their role in accessing global capital markets and stabi-
lizing U.S. mortgage markets was evident in August 1998 upon the
defaulting of Russia’s foreign-held debt. In the global crisis, inter-
est rates moved sharply higher and illiquidity appeared to be a
growing concern worldwide. Purchasing a record number of mort-
gages, the GSEs staved off crisis by adding liquidity. Therefore, no
credit crunch evolved in the U.S. residential sector, as opposed to
other markets at the time.

This pivotal effect is even more evident in the recent role housing
has played in stabilizing the overall U.S. economy. The role of
mortgage market access to global capital markets as an automatic
stabilizer with the U.S. economy has been demonstrated by the
strength of the housing sector and its role in moving the economy
out of the 2001 recession. It is access to international capital flows
during a period of low and falling interest rates that has resulted
in additional consumer spending, which has supported the U.S.
economy.

This benefit that the GSEs and secondary markets deliver to the
American consumer is, I believe, a major, if not the major, contrib-
uting factor to today’s housing market, which has helped stabilize
and grow the U.S. economy. This, together with increased access to
home ownership for all Americans, I believe, is a testimony to the
role the GSEs have played and to the importance of ensuring that
they continue to play this role going forward.
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Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Senator FITZGERALD. Dr. Wachter, thank you very much.

What I would like to do now is take a 2-minute recess so that
you can all stretch and stand for a minute, and then we will re-
sume and go quickly into the question and answer section. We will
be right back.

[Recess.]

Senator FITZGERALD. If we could resume the hearing, I would ap-
preciate it.

I would like to, at the outset, note there is so much money in-
volved in the mortgage business, and some of you who are pro and
some of you who are con, have relations with some of the compa-
nies involved on either side of the debate. I would like to explain
any possible conflicts of interest to the media and the members of
the public before we start going with the question and answer ses-
sion.

I would start with Alex Pollock. You are President of the Federal
Home Loan Bank of Chicago. Is it correct that the Federal Home
Loan Bank of Chicago is trying to compete with Fannie and
Freddie in the conforming loan market?

Mr. PoLLOCK. That is very true, Mr. Chairman.

Senator FITZGERALD. Please pull the microphones close, and Mr.
House and Mr. Miller, you are going to have to share your micro-
phone because we only have six and there are seven witnesses.

But is that correct?

Mr. PoLLOCK. That is correct.

Senator FITZGERALD. You are competing with them. You are a
GSE yourself. You have nothing against GSEs, but you would like
to compete with them on better terms, which I gather, would be a
simple way of saying it?

Mr. PoLLOCK. It is correct. We view anything as an advantage
for the mortgage market and the country that makes the secondary
sector more competitive. Clearly, I have an interest in this, being
a competitor in the market, as you say, Mr. Chairman.

Senator FITZGERALD. And there have been calls, is it not correct,
to get you out of the mortgage business or the mortgage secur-
itization business that you are in?

Mr. PoLLoCK. I don’t want to give a speech on securitization. We
are not in securitization per se. But certainly, a few ill-advised peo-
ple have thought we shouldn’t create this competition, yes, sir.

Senator FITZGERALD. OK. Dr. Wachter, have you been paid for
any of your research by any party to this debate?

Ms. WACHTER. I have not been paid for my research. However,
the paper that I have just mentioned has been supported by the
Wharton Real Estate Center and has also received a small amount
of funding support from Freddie Mac.

Senator FITZGERALD. OK. Mr. Harvey, I notice on The Enterprise
Foundation website you received a $1 million contribution from the
Fannie Mae Foundation last year, is that——

Mr. HARVEY. Let me just say, we solicit funds, loans, grants, cap-
ital, from all financial institutions and we have significant—as I
said, we have received grants from Freddie Mac, from Fannie Mae,
loans and other capital and from all financial institutions

Senator FITZGERALD. And from a lot of banks?
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Mr. HARVEY. From banks, as well.

Senator FITZGERALD. That maybe are part of the funding of FM
Policy Focus, possibly. I am not sure.

Mr. HARVEY. That is right. [Laughter.]

Senator FITZGERALD. We will get to that in a minute.

Mr. Wallison, your research at AEI, is it funded by anybody?

Mr. WALLISON. No, it is not directly funded by anybody, but AEI
does get contributions from organizations that are in the financial
services industry and some of them, although I do not know, may
be part of any of the organizations that are opposing Fannie and
Freddie.

Senator FITZGERALD. OK. Mr. Miller, your study that you talked
about in your opening statement, that was, am I correct, financed
by Freddie Mac?

Mr. MILLER. Yes. It was a study commissioned by Freddie Mac.

Senator FITZGERALD. OK. And you were paid to do that study of
the benefits?

Mr. MILLER. Yes, but I call them as I see them.

b (Siegator FrrzcGeraLD. OK. Mr. Ely, have you been paid by any-
ody?

Mr. ELy. First of all, the American Bankers Association is a cli-
ent of mine with regard to the Farm Credit System. I have done
three reports for the ABA on the Farm Credit System.

Senator FITZGERALD. To the Farm Credit System?

Mr. ELY. Yes, which, of course, is another one of the GSEs. In
addition, with regard to Fannie and Freddie, I have received mod-
est grants from AEI for several of the papers that I have done for
AEI and for Mr. Wallison’s program.

Senator FITZGERALD. OK. Mr. House, who funds FM Policy
Focus, of which you are the Executive Director, and does “FM”
stand for Fannie Mae or Freddie Mac?

Mr. Housk. It stands for both. [Laughter.]

Senator FITZGERALD. It stands for both, OK. Who funds that?

Mr. HOUSE. That is funded, as I said, by people in the financial
services industry. It is very interesting, because the GSEs have
characterized our group as a group of competitors, and frankly, we
are their customers. That is one of the reasons we are here today,
because if they characterize us as competitors, then we have a real
problem. That is why effective regulation is needed.

Senator FITZGERALD. OK.

Mr. ELY. Mr. Chairman, if I can just add one point.

Senator FITZGERALD. Yes?

Mr. ELY. Many people have suggested over the years that I have
done consulting work for FM Policy Focus. As I am sure Mr. House
will confirm, there has been absolutely no relationship between my-
self and FM Policy Focus.

Senator FITZGERALD. OK. I just wanted to get that out on the
table so that everybody knows where everybody else stands.

Professor Wachter, I have a question for you. You are a professor
of real estate finance at Wharton?

Ms. WACHTER. I am a professor of real estate and finance at the
Wharton School.

Senator FITZGERALD. And finance, OK. Right now, the housing
industry in America has been very strong with declining interest
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rates. The values of homes have been appreciating very rapidly as
rates have declined. If we got into a situation where rates started
to rise, would it not be the case that the value of homes themselves
could plummet? In other words, a home worth $300,000 that is
today with low interest rates of 4.5 percent, let us say, and if mort-
gage interest rates go back up to 7.5, 8, or 9 percent, that $300,000
home, all things being equal, may no longer be worth $300,000.
Would you agree or disagree with that statement?

Ms. WACHTER. I would respectfully disagree with that statement.
If mortgage interest rates increase, of course, there will be other
factors that cause this increase. A most likely reason that they will
increase is increased strength in the overall economy, and if that
occurs, I do not believe that housing prices will plummet.

It is, I think, quite likely in that situation that housing prices
will no longer appreciate at the rate that they have been appre-
ciating, and in fact, they may appreciate less than the inflation
rate. There has been no period in the recent history of the United
States that we have documented where housing prices have de-
clined in nominal terms.

Senator FITZGERALD. Not during the 1930’s, during the Great De-
pression?

Ms. WACHTER. In the database that I have seen post-World War
II, where we have good data, there has not been a recession where
housing prices have decreased.

Senator FITZGERALD. Would anyone else like to comment on
that? Mr. Wallison or Mr. Ely? What do you think would happen
to the value of homes if interest rates go up sharply? What I am
getting at is, right now, the loans that are securitized by Fannie
and Freddie have strict underwriting requirements. They have to
have a 20 percent downpayment. If they don’t have a 20 percent
downpayment, the borrower has to have mortgage insurance. Could
not that downpayment or equity, the owner’s equity in the home,
disappear in a scenario where there is a substantial general rise
in mortgage interest rates?

Mr. Evy. If T could add some thoughts to that, the question
comes as to what is driving the increase in nominal interest rates.
Is it a higher inflation factor, or higher inflation premium in the
nominal interest rate, in which case the value of real assets are
going to be increasing in nominal terms? On the other hand, if the
real interest rate increases, then you will not see a plummeting, I
wouldn’t expect to see that, but as Dr. Wachter said, a slowing in
the rate of appreciation.

There is one other thing that we want to keep in mind, too, as
we look forward that may be somewhat of an overhang on the
housing market going forward—the ratio of mortgage debt to the
estimated market value of owner-occupied housing has been in-
creasing significantly. We do not yet know what the implications
are going to be, particularly from a macroeconomic standpoint, if
the housing price appreciation slows down. As has been commented
on by the panel, one of the drivers in the economy in recent years
has been the fact that people have been cashing out some of their
home equity through refinances. If interest rates go up, if the refi-
nance activity slows down, if housing starts to get squeezed a little



21

bit, then we may see some macroeconomic effects that will certainly
not be positive for housing.

Mr. WALLISON. May I add something, Mr. Chairman?

Senator FITZGERALD. Yes.

Mr. WALLISON. I think Dr. Wachter’s analysis is probably correct,
and that is to say interest rates would not likely go up unless the
economy were recovering and, therefore, housing prices might sta-
bilize or not decline. On the other hand, we did have, in the 1970’s,
a period known as stagflation, when we had very high inflation and
we had very little economic growth—indeed some decline in
growth—and high unemployment, much higher than today. As a
result, it is actually high unemployment which is the greater dan-
ger to Fannie and Freddie, and to the mortgage market in general,
because that is when people can no longer afford to service their
mortgages, when they are no longer employed.

So there are all kinds of scenarios that might occur in our econ-
omy which could result in many more defaults than we have seen
in the 1990’s and the early 2000’s, and that is why financial insti-
tutions are required to maintain high levels of capital—financial
institutions, I might add, other than Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac.

Senator FITZGERALD. Mr. Pollock, I want to go back to you to de-
scribe exactly what you are doing at the Federal Home Loan Bank
of Chicago. You say you aren’t securitizing mortgage debt per se,
and I know in your opening statement, or in your written opening
statement, you describe that you absorb the interest rate risk and
allow the financial institution to keep the credit risk. How does
that work? What exactly do you do?

Mr. PoLLocK. Mr. Chairman, what we do, we call “Mortgage
Partnership Finance.” We chose the name seriously because we cre-
ate a partnership with our member institution, which is a commer-
cial bank or a savings bank or a savings and loan, and each one
of those partners takes one of Fannie Mae’s or Freddie Mac’s main
businesses. As I said in my testimony, Fannie and Freddie have
two businesses. The first is a credit guarantee business, the one
that Peter and Bert want them to have to stick to. That happens
to be one I think is better done by private financial institutions, be-
cause if you are the lender actually making the loan yourself, you
ought to be fundamentally advantaged in knowing that credit and
being able to manage it and bear the credit risk.

On the other hand, the other business is the mortgage funding
business, and if you are dealing with 30-year fixed-rate, freely
prepayable mortgages, you must have a long-term funding base, in
my opinion, which is only available in the bond market and in the
international hedging markets. In order to access that base effi-
ciently with the current structures in the United States, you have
to be a GSE to compete in the funding of long-term fixed rate mort-
gages. It is not advisable for private financial institutions to own
30-year cash flows and finance them on their deposit bases. That
is a pretty clear lesson of our financial history.

So with Mortgage Partnership Finance, we take these two pieces,
we put our member, which is a bank or a savings bank or a savings
and loan, into the credit guarantee business, dealing only with
loans they have made themselves in which they are fundamentally
advantaged. Instead of divesting the credit of their own customer
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and paying a guarantee fee to Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac, they
credit enhance the loan to us and we pay them what is in ef-
fect

Senator FITZGERALD. For guaranteeing it?

Mr. PoLLOCK. For guaranteeing it.

Senator FITZGERALD. You pay——

Mr. PoLLOCK. We put them into a business they ought to be, and
in fact, are, fundamentally advantaged in. We then provide the
funding and the interest rate risk management, and if you put the
two pieces together, you have the entire financing.

The competitive outcome is that in the credit guarantee business,
we now have about 550 lending institutions approved to participate
in MPF. So there are 500 new competitors——

Senator FITZGERALD. You are growing very rapidly now, aren’t
you?

Mr. PoLLOCK. We are, yes, sir.

Senator FITZGERALD. How many billion in assets are you up to?

Mr. PoLLoCK. The Mortgage Partnership Finance Program is ap-
proximately $70 billion, a little—

Senator FITZGERALD. Seventy-billion? So the figures I said, $35
billion, those are a year or two old?

Mr. PoLLoCK. They were true when they were printed, Mr.
Chairman. [Laughter.]

Senator FITZGERALD. OK, and growing very rapidly.

Mr. POLLOCK. Yes.

Senator FITZGERALD. Now, in talking to bankers in the Midwest,
I am told that small community banks will have Fannie Mae,
Freddie Mac, and the Home Loan Bank of Chicago all coming in
to get their business. But I have also heard that for the conforming
mortgages, there are private banks that come in and try to sell
some services for those conforming mortgages to small banks, such
as someone mentioned, ABN and ROE operating in the Midwest.
What would those commercial banks do? It indicates to me that
there is a degree of competition out there for Fannie, Freddie, and
the Federal Home Loan Bank that isn’t generally known to the
public.

Mr. PoLLOCK. It is very true for the smaller banks that they
could deal with a GSE, and, of course, get a better deal if they have
three bidders for their business compared to two. There are also
large bank aggregators, as they are called in the mortgage busi-
ness, who will buy loans from smaller correspondent banks. This
is called the correspondent channel.

Senator FITZGERALD. OK.

Mr. PoLLOCK. But those loans, in turn, are generally turned into
Farllrlnie Mae securities or Freddie Mac securities or also financed
with us.

Senator FITZGERALD. So it is hard to see how that would be more
profitable, to sell it to the correspondent bank which then resells
{:)o Fl‘{a})nnie or Freddie. How could that make sense for the small

ank?

Mr. PoLLOCK. It is a question of whether you are a retailing or
wholesaling part of the business, but I think that is a fair question.

Senator FITZGERALD. Now, Mr. Pollock, you said that the guar-
antee fees charged by Fannie and Freddie were 19 basis points and
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that they are too high. Do Fannie and Freddie both charge 19 basis
points for guarantee fees?

Mr. PoLLOCK. Mr. Chairman, guarantee fees are negotiated indi-
vidually. The 19 basis points is the average for 2002 and Fannie
and Freddie are quite similar in that level, approximately——

Senator FITZGERALD. Where was that average 10 years ago or so?

Mr. PoLLOCK. In the 20s.

Senator FITZGERALD. So it has

Mr. PoLLOCK. It started off being 25——

Senator FITZGERALD. It has been coming down.

Mr. POLLOCK. Yes.

Senator FITZGERALD. OK.

Mr. PoLLoCK. The 19, relative to losses, is still very high. A typ-
ical, good small bank lender will average losses on their mortgage
portfolio of perhaps two basis points or less per year.

Senator FITZGERALD. In this kind of a market environment,
though?

Mr. PoLLOCK. Even in this market.

Senator FITZGERALD. But in a bad recession, say, like we had in
the early 1980’s

Mr. PoLLOCK. It is cyclical, but I am speaking of the averages,
Mr. Chairman.

Senator FITZGERALD. OK.

Mr. PoLLOCK. The long-term average, if I may just complete the
thought, for Fannie and Freddie is about four or five basis points
in their portfolio of annual losses per year. So you can think of that
as the loss versus the guarantee fee being the insurance premium
against that loss.

Senator FITZGERALD. Well, that brings up an interesting point,
though, because Mr. Wallison recommended that Fannie and
Freddie not be allowed to hold mortgage-based securities on their
own balance sheet, and you suggested that there is a great deal of
risk to having them do so. But as Mr. Pollock pointed out, when
they are guaranteeing the mortgages of others, their losses are
very small. My own experience as a bank lawyer, prior to being in
the Senate, was that home mortgages are the safest loans you can
make. People will allow you to repossess their car, they will put
their business in bankruptcy, but they will work wonders to come
up with the money to stay in their home.

Mr. WALLISON. May I respond to that, Mr. Chairman?

Senator FITZGERALD. Yes.

Mr. WALLISON. There are two kinds of risk, basically. There is
credit risk, which is what Alex is talking about, and then there is
interest rate risk. When they issue mortgage-backed securities and
guarantee them, they are taking only the credit risk.

Senator FITZGERALD. Right.

Mr. WALLISON. That is the three or four basis points maximum
that Alex was talking about. Interest rate risk is the risk that they
are taking when they buy back their mortgage-backed securities
and when they hold portfolios of mortgages. That is where their
major risk comes from.

Senator FITZGERALD. Well, let me tell you what they tell me, and
I did talk to an executive VP from Fannie. I wish he could have
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been here today to testify, but in fairness to him, I did not give
adequate notification of this hearing, either.

But they claim that they are really fully hedged now, that they
learned the lesson from the early 1980’s in which we had the case
of rising interest rates. They say that now in this era of declining
rates, about 70 percent of their debt is callable, and, in fact, every
day they are calling debt issued at higher interest rates and replac-
ing it with low-yielding debt. And in a situation in which rates
were to rise rapidly, they would simply keep their low-cost debt in
place and not call it and that they have derivatives that hedge sub-
stantially all of their interest rate risk.

Does anybody care to comment on that? Why would that not be
possible?

Mr. ELy. Well, first of all, let me provide a couple points of infor-
mation here, not that the risk-based capital requirements are
magic, but it is important to keep in mind that the minimum cap-
ital requirement on a strict leverage basis for Fannie and Freddie
for credit risk is 45 basis points. For interest rate risk, it is 205
basis points. So there is in the statutes a recognition that there is
much greater risk with interest rate risk.

The other thing about interest rate risk is that you can be par-
tially hedged, fully hedged, or maybe engaged in speculation, which
also is risky. The problem that we have with Fannie and Freddie
is that we are much less certain as to where they are in the risk
perspective in terms of their hedging activities. They may assert
that they are fully hedged. As I listened to the telephone con-
ference with analysts last week that Tim Howard, the Executive
Vice President and Chief Finance Officer held when Fannie an-
nounced its second quarter results, he was not talking as if Fannie
was fully hedged. Fannie has significantly reduced its duration
gap, but it didn’t strike me as being fully hedged.

So there is still a risk there, but there is also another very im-
portant factor to keep in mind. It is the assumption of interest rate
risk by not only buying back MBS but also by holding mortgages
in portfolio that causes the two GSEs’ balance sheets to balloon, to
loom as large as they do in the economy. If Fannie and Freddie
were strictly credit guarantors, as Freddie was initially back in the
1970’s, then they would have much smaller balance sheets today
and, frankly the concern about systemic risk would be much less
than it is today.

But also coming back to a point that Peter made, and I might
add the Congressional Research Service, among others, has made,
there is no value added to the housing marketplace and to the pro-
vision of affordable housing when Fannie and Freddie buy back
their MBS. Why do they do that? Because there is more profit per
mortgage dollar, if you are assuming interest rate risk. This, there-
fore, provides them with an avenue for maintaining their high
earnings growth rate and their high ROE than is the case if they
were just credit guarantors.

Senator FITZGERALD. Mr. Miller.

Mr. MILLER. Mr. Chairman, I think we are asking several “what
if” kind of questions, sort of pulling them out of the air. This
OFHEO risk-based capital test is a comprehensive, systematic test,
a scenario of the sort where you have a lot of things going wrong,
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one in which interest rates rise, one in which interest rates fall.
This comprehensive test applied to Freddie and Fannie show that
they both pass for 10 years. They do not have a problem.

Senator FITZGERALD. And you said the S&L industry as a whole
would not pass that.

Mr. MILLER. Did not pass, and that gives me an opportunity, Mr.
Chairman, to correct an omission, not in my statement but in my
oral presentation. I saw the light on. The fact that the thrifts failed
the test should not really be viewed as evidence of a shortcoming
of the capital requirements of the thrifts, but it should be viewed,
I think, as evidence that this OFHEO risk-based capital test is a
pretty tough test. Now, you can go in and change some of the pa-
rameters or whatever and you can ask a lot of “what if” ques-
tions

Senator FITZGERALD. I would like to give Mr. Ely a chance to re-
spond. You foretold the S&L debacle in the 1980’s. In one of your
papers, you point out now that most S&Ls hold variable interest
rate mortgages only, and I think you cited Washington Mutual as
94 percent of their mortgages were floating rate mortgages on their
books and they weren’t holding long-term fixed-rate mortgages on
their books. You would think if that is the case, the S&L industry
as a whole would be pretty well hedged against rising or declining
rates.

Mr. ELy. Well, two points. First of all, I am very skeptical of this
finding that the thifts would fail the test in a rising interest rate
market. One of the problems is, what is the database that you are
working from? OFHEO has access to proprietary, non-public infor-
mation in running the risk-based capital test for Fannie and
Freddie. With regard to the thrift industry, I assume that Jim has
worked with the same data the rest of us do, which is the so-called
Thrift Financial Report or the Quarterly Call Report, which I
would not want to try and read too much into.

Let me say something else also about the risk-based capital test.
As I indicated in my testimony, it is a highly flawed test because
it is based on the assumption that we are going to have a rerun
of the interest rate environment of the late 1970’s or early 1980’s.
It is an unfortunate test because it does not reflect present day re-
alities.

But there is another fundamental problem with it. It is a snap-
shot that is taken four times a year. These two companies can look
great on December 31 or March 31, but the question is, what do
they look like on April 1 or March 30? It is dangerous to go too far
in making judgments just based on how things look on a particular
date. What is more important is what the range of values are over
a period of time. We don’t see that with the risk-based capital test.

Mr. HOUSE. Mr. Chairman, I think if you want to pursue this
further, if you look at OFHEO, with the recent revelations of
Freddie Mac, OFHEO has testified before the House and Senate
and I would think that the members have been somewhat appalled
by their response. I think if you would want to bring OFHEO here
and ask them exactly what it is they knew, when they knew it, and
also on their risk-based capital test, whether or not it is adequate,
because it seems that from their own testimony, even they are not
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sure what—it took them 9 years, and they are still not sure exactly
what it is.

That is important. I think Senator Corzine said last week, if we
were talking about a $300 million situation here or something like
that, I could understand it, but I think, if I am not mistaken, the
quote was it is appalling that we are talking about a $3 billion mis-
calculation.

So my suggestion is, rather, we can argue all day back and forth
here about whether it is good, bad, or whatever, but you may want
to pursue that and really get into that because it may be that the
test itself is fundamentally flawed, and that is important because
today, for instance, the Central European banks, and this goes to
something we were talking earlier about, whether or not you want
worldwide, be able to have access to capital worldwide, the Central
European banks said that they are looking into the amount that
their banks should hold Fannie and Freddie on MBSs and when
you

Senator FITZGERALD. Did they say that or was that just a rumor?

Mr. HousE. That was a report today that we heard.

Senator FITZGERALD. OK.

Mr. HOUSE. That they are looking into it, nothing—but the point
is, is that having a good, sound regulatory structure is important.
So anybody that says that you shouldn’t have a good regulatory
structure because it will erode the markets, not having one is even
worse, and I think with everything going on, nobody—Bert said it
earlier. Nobody is sure what is going on, and I think it is very im-
portant that Congress really get in and understand exactly what is
going on and what needs to be set up to make sure it doesn’t hap-
pen again.

Mr. MILLER. Could I just say, I don’t think the record will show
that anyone here has argued against having a sound regulator for
Freddie and Fannie. It is an empirical question, I guess, whether
the risk-based capital test is sufficiently severe. But certainly:

Senator FITZGERALD. Is that test—

Mr. MILLER [continuing]. A test of a major industry, the thrift in-
dustry, that fails is to suggest it is quite significantly stringent.

Senator FITZGERALD. OFHEO says that Fannie and Freddie did
well on their risk-based capital stress test. Did they release a study
to the public or anything or do we just take their word for it, that
they are fine?

Mr. ELy. We take their word for it, Mr. Chairman. Most of the
data that goes into that test is proprietary to Fannie and Freddie.
OFHEO sees it, but the world in general cannot. So we really have
to take their word for it.

The other thing to keep in mind about the risk-based test, and
this is a very unfortunate circumstance, is that it is written into
statutory language in quite some detail, and, of course, as you
know, it takes a little while to get laws changed around here. I am
very concerned about its relevancy at this point in time. In other
words, OFHEO is probably doing a pretty good job of trying to
make this test work, but it is, unfortunately, a flawed test.

Senator FITZGERALD. They are doing the risk test that is set
forth in a statute, whether or not it is necessarily the——

Mr. EvLy. That is correct.
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Senator FITZGERALD [continuing]. The test that should be ap-
plied. It is doing that test.

Mr. MILLER. Could I just say, Bert has had enough experience
in Washington to know that if either one of these GSEs actually
failed the test but OFHEO leadership went out and told the press
it passed the test, surely, someone in the press would find out and
the Nation would find out, so I don’t think——

Senator FITZGERALD. But what do you say about the test being
set in a statute on exactly what the parameters of the test should
be? Certainly, it could be that the lobbyists for those entities have
influenced what the test is, then. If it is in a statute, the regulator
isn’t empowered to come up with its own test.

Mr. MILLER. Well, you know, I think the regulator did come up
with a pretty stringent test. At both Freddie and Fannie, some peo-
ple there very much opposed its being implemented so soon, want-
ed to find out more about it, questioned it in some ways. But it is,
in fact, in place today. But it is an empirical question of how strin-
gent it is. You might want to have more flexibility, I would suggest,
than having each element in statute because something may come
up of a sort you think, well, maybe this is a part that ought to be
added, or maybe this part of the test really isn’t relevant at this
time or something like that, or less relevant. So you might want
to define

Senator FITZGERALD. OFHEO does have people who came from
the Controller of the Currency at it, is that not correct? My under-
standing is one of the on-site examiners at Fannie Mae actually
used to be in charge of the detail at Citibank, so from what I am
hearing, at least anecdotally, and it hasn’t been confirmed to me,
is that they do have some very good people over there. Does any-
body wish to challenge that? Or, with respect to the effectiveness
of the regulator, does anybody think that the regulation at the
OFHEO—that the OFHEO personnel are not up to the task?

Mr. WALLISON. Can I make a general point on that?

Senator FITZGERALD. Yes.

Mr. WALLISON. I think we put a tremendous amount of stock in
regulation, but the events of the last 6 weeks should show us that
we are not fully protected by regulation no matter how extensive
it is. Ultimately, the major decisions that affect the health of a
company are made at the very top, and the regulators very seldom
have access to that. We saw just in the case of Freddie Mae that
OFHEO did not have access to the accounting problems that were
roiling the top of the company.

Senator FITZGERALD. But are not the GAAP accounting problems
that they had, a somewhat different issue? It may be that OFHEO
is not necessarily relying on GAAP numbers. GAAP numbers are
what you need to disseminate to the public for the securities re-
ports. Freddie is seeking to voluntarily comply. I know from my
own experience that bank regulators have a different set of ac-
counting numbers that they like to see that may not have anything
to do with GAAP, that are more stringent than GAAP.

Mr. WALLISON. We don’t understand everything about what hap-
pened at Freddie Mac, nor do we actually know anything other
than what the newspapers have reported. But it does appear that
they were doing things with their derivatives that caused a prob-
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lem with the reporting of income for certain periods. And OFHEO
does look at their derivatives That is one of the functions that they
are supposed to perform. How those derivatives are classified, what
they are and so forth are things that OFHEO should have come
across in the course of their investigation that would have given
them a hint about how effectively these companies are operating.

May I say a couple of other things, Mr. Chairman, while I am
talking? One is that when the tests were done on Fannie and
Freddie, all kinds of tests have been run by OFHEOQO, including the
stress test that Jim Miller was talking about. Fannie always came
out very close to the line. Freddie came out way ahead most of the
time. In fact, people would have said 2 months ago, if we are going
to have any kind of accounting problem, we are going to have it at
Fannie, because Freddie was always very well-managed, it seemed,
from an accounting point of view. We would never have any dif-
ficulty there.

Well, it turns out, ironically, that it is Freddie with the account-
ing problems. Fannie, which was always very close to the line, tak-
ing a lot of risks, has not been challenged as yet. I think now that
investigations have begun, Fannie will get a good going over and
I think we will find, based on some of the stuff you see coming out
of the private sector today, that they are having their own difficul-
ties.

But in any event, you can’t rely too much on a regulator to pro-
tect you, especially in a case where these two companies are the
only two companies involved in this major part of our economy. If
there is a major error by one of those companies, and the regulator
does not recognize it, as I suggested in my prepared statement, we
could have serious systemic problems in our economy.

Also, finally, on the question of whether they are profitable after
the hedging that they have to do to address their interest rate risk,
I think, Mr. Chairman, if I heard you correctly in your opening
statement, you made the fundamental and true point that if a com-
pany is fully hedged, it is not going to be profitable. There is some
risk that has to be taken in order to make a profit.

Senator FITZGERALD. I see a lot of witnesses want to address that
issue. Dr. Wachter, can you get 100 percent hedged and still make
a profit?

Ms. WACHTER. It does depend on the business that you are in.
You can make a profit in other elements of your business. You
could take additional interest rate risk and make profit on the in-
terest rate risk. But as a general statement——

Senator FITZGERALD. But to hedge themselves, they have to do
a series of things that add to their costs.

Ms. WACHTER. Absolutely.

Senator FITZGERALD. To hedge themselves on their liability side
with respect to the debt they have issued, they have to make it
callable. That requires them to pay higher interest rates. Investors
who are going to hold callable debt want a premium and so forth.
To buy all sorts of options and derivatives to cover everything in
their portfolio, it gets very expensive. But you believe it is possible
to

Ms. WACHTER. Mr. Chairman, in an equilibrium setting, I abso-
lutely agree with you. It would not be possible to make profit on
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hedging operations alone in equilibrium. But this is not necessarily
an equilibrium market. That is, there is innovation going on. There
are economies of scale. And separately, you can make money on
other aspects of your business.

I also do want to address, if I may, Mr. Chairman, the very fact
that, of course, regulation is very important here. I think it is a
great advantage that these are regulated institutions. These are
private institutions. And for all of the concern that has been ex-
pressed around this table—I am not saying that there shouldn’t be
concern—I think we also should look at the market response to the
events of the questions on Freddie Mac’s accounting and the mar-
ket response was not very significant.

Senator FITZGERALD. Well, does not Freddie have a problem of
having overstated their earnings as opposed to having understated
icheir earnings, which is the opposite of Enron’s problems? Mr. Mil-
er.

Mr. MILLER. Mr. Chairman, could I first agree with Dr. Wachter.
You can earn profits when you are fully hedged.

Senator FITZGERALD. Let me go back and correct myself. Freddie
has a problem of having understated their earnings——

Mr. MiLLER. Right. Right.

Senator FITZGERALD [continuing]. Whereas Enron overstated
their earnings. Understating your earnings would be much less
alarming, I would think, to investors than overstating.

Mr. MILLER. And one explanation of the phenomena that Dr.
Wachter was just pointing to at the end is that there is a difference
between, on the one hand, the accounting treatment of derivatives,
over which there is some dispute, some suspicion, or some concern,
and I think the jury is still out. We just ought not jump to conclu-
sions until we have the evidence. That’s on the one hand, and on
the other hand is safety and soundness.

I think, at least the reports as I have read them, and the reac-
tion to the question of the accounting of derivatives, is that the
market interprets the two quite separately and believes in the fun-
damental safety and soundness of these two institutions.

Senator FITZGERALD. Mr. House, I want to get back to capital re-
quirements. You suggested that Fannie and Freddie be required to
have bank-like capital. Fannie and Freddie right now have to have
2.5 percent capital for the mortgages on their books and 0.45 basis
points for the guarantees that they make. Banks are required to
have 4 percent risk-based capital for mortgages that they keep on
their books. My understanding is there is a new Basel round of
international risk-based capital guidelines that will lower the cap-
ital requirements for banks holding mortgages. Is it down to——

Mr. ELy. The so-called Basel II capital standards could bring
them down, some suggest to a range of 1.4 to 2 percent.

Senator FITZGERALD. That would be lower than Fannie and
Freddie.

Mr. EvLy. Well, that is before taking into account maturity
mismatching. I was just the other night having a hard time getting
to sleep and so I was reading through some of the Basel II discus-
sion. [Laughter.]

There is an awful lot of judgment that is extended to the regu-
lators in terms of how maturity mismatching is to be worked in
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there. So we want to be a little careful about quantifying the extent
that the capital will be reduced. But in general, particularly for the
larger banks that opt to go into Basel II, it appears that the capital
requirement will drop somewhat.

There is a very important point here to understand, and that is
that any kind of capital regulation is arbitrary because if you take
no risk, if you are perfectly hedged, then you don’t need much cap-
ital, if any at all, because you don’t need a capital cushion to ab-
sorb loss. What we have with Fannie and Freddie is they have cap-
ital levels that, in effect, they can arbitrage. At 2.05 percent for in-
terest rate risk, they have to take a certain amount of risk in order
to be able to earn a return on that 2.05 percent. If their ratio is
pushed up to, let us say, 4 percent, they are either going to have
to charge higher interest rates, earn a greater spread, or take more
risk.

A fundamental problem we have with capital standards, both as
they apply to the GSEs as well as to the banks, is that they don’t
necessarily reflect the risk that the particular institution is taking.
Instead, they become a target to arbitrage, and frankly, banks do
that just as much as GSEs do. The difference is the lack of a level
playing field. Presently, Fannie and Freddie don’t have quite as
high a capital hurdle to clear as the banks and, therefore, they
have more room to arbitrage on credit risk, but more importantly
on interest rate risk.

Senator FITZGERALD. Mr. House.

Mr. HOUSE. No matter where the Basel Accords come out, and
that is—to say that is in flux is probably an understatement, and
I can’t believe—Bert, I will send you a book, a novel, if you stayed
up reading that—— [Laughter.]

But I think the key thing—what Bert just said is very important.
What we are really about is a level playing field. So, we think that
they are large financial institutions, just like any other financial
institutions, no matter how you cut it. So when it comes to SEC
registration, when it comes to capital requirements, when it comes
to other things, they should be treated just like any other financial
institution.

Senator FITZGERALD. OK. So FM Policy Focus mainly wants, you
have said, effective regulation, sufficient capital, and no exemp-
tions from security acts. You don’t have a problem with their over-
all mission, is that correct?

Mr. HOUSE. No, we don’t. We have said that. As long as they are
in the secondary market. I mean, the liquidity in the secondary
market was why they were founded.

Senator FITZGERALD. It occurs to me that if Mr. Wallison’s ap-
proach of privatization were ever adopted, Fannie and Freddie, in
return for being privatized, would probably want to have restric-
tions on their operation lifted, too, so that they could compete in
the jumbo mortgage market with many of your members. Would
your group be opposed to that privatization and unleashing these
giants in the areas where they have not heretofore tried?

Mr. HOUSE. From day one, we have said that we are opposed to
privatization. That has been

Senator FITZGERALD. So you are opposed to that.

Mr. HOUSE. In fact, I feel very——
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Senator FITZGERALD. Is there self-interest involved in that?

Mr. HouskE. No. I feel very comfortable. I have got privatization
on my right. I have got business as usual on my left. I am sitting
right here. [Laughter.]

So we are fine.

Mr. ELY. Mr. Chairman, if I could add to that, if there was a gen-
uine privatization, it means basically peeling away or denying
them all of the various special benefits they have now, including
the implicit government guarantee. In that case, they would just be
plain old business corporations. And then the question is, how well
would they be able to compete, lacking any kind of meaningful
origination capability, which comes back to this basic question: Is
the secondary market really as efficient as we think it is, or does
it look efficient only because of the GSE advantages that Fannie
and Freddie have?

Senator FITZGERALD. Mr. Wallison.

Mr. WALLISON. The advantages that Fannie and Freddie provide,
it appears from all the studies, is about 25 basis points. It also ap-
pears from the CBO study that that 25 basis points comes from the
support they get from the Federal Government. So we don’t find
that Fannie and Freddie are adding very much to the value of the
secondary mortgage market.

Senator FITZGERALD. They have to be adding a lot to the mort-
gage market, though, because of the statutory provision that says
banks and S&Ls can hold an unlimited amount of their debt, and
that prefers mortgage debt capital in this country to other debt
capital, perhaps for more productive uses. Would it not be the case
that we are putting an incredible, incredible emphasis in our coun-
try on mortgage financing and it must, at the end of the day, be
sucking debt capital out of other perhaps more productive uses?
Does anybody care to comment on that?

Mr. ELy. This is another area where we don’t have a level play-
ing field in terms of the allocation of capital within the economy.
And, of course, it also happens through the tax code, too, with the
favorable tax breaks that owner-occupied housing gets. That is why
many would suggest that the middle class and the upper-middle
class are over-housed in this country compared to other countries.

But there are two different issues. One is the competitive level
playing field, which I think Mike House is addressing. And then
the other more significant public policy question is, to what extent,
if at all, do we want to tilt capital flows in one direction or an-
other? There is clearly, for a variety of reasons, including the hous-
ing GSEs, a tilt towards shifting capital flows into housing and
particularly owner-occupied housing.

Senator FITZGERALD. Dr. Wachter, is that a good idea, to tilt cap-
ital flows into housing as opposed to anything else? What about
small business?

Ms. WACHTER. The issue of how interest rates overall are im-
pacted by this is very complicated and it has to do with whether
our growing deficit is increasing interest rates. So it is that lit-
erature that, in fact, needs to be—this needs to be.

In other words, Fannie and Freddie are accessing capital, not
just in the United States, but global capital. So do they, in fact, in-
crease overall interest rates? Do they, in fact, increase the share
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from a limited basket of funds? Do they increase the share from
that limited basket of funds to housing at the expense of others,
or is the effect to simply increase on the margin funds coming to
the United States without any impact on other funding in the
United States? This is an open question, and it may very well be
that there is an impact drawing capital from small business. It
may very well be, and I am not saying it isn’t. I am saying it is
an empirical question, to what degree that there is that impact.

Second, there may very well be, and I do believe it is the case
that Fannie and Freddie increase the overall efficiency of this mar-
ket. That is, interest rates are lower—mortgage rates, that is, are
lower than they otherwise would be. Mortgage costs are lower than
they otherwise would be because of the technical efficiencies that
they bring to the market. If that is the case, then this is not due
to their drawing funds from another source.

Senator FITZGERALD. You support the concept of the housing
GSEs. Would you support the creation of GSEs in other areas that
would promote equally as worthy sectors of our economy, such as
small business? In other words, if housing GSEs are a good thing,
since we all favor home ownership in this country, aren’t small
businesses a good thing and don’t we want to encourage people to
own businesses? Why not then create GSEs to securitize loans to
small businesses? Do you think that would be a good idea?

Ms. WACHTER. No, I do not. See, I think that the fundamental—
a fundamental factor in our democracy, and I believe it was Peter
Wallison who started his comments with that, is the Jeffersonian
concept of ownership, and I believe that it is the ability of ordinary
American families to have substantial ownership in America. This
means as America prospers, as America expands, as our produc-
tivity expands, and as a result of that, housing costs go up, that
we will not have a Nation of “haves” and “have nots.” And I don’t
think that there is anything more important than economic democ-
racy along with political democracy.

Senator FITZGERALD. Owning your own home. But what about
economic democracy, everybody owns their own business?

Ms. WACHTER. Well, I do believe that owning your own home and
having access to capital at low rates is what enables people then
to go out and start their own small business, what enables people
to go out and invest in their children’s education, and what has en-
abled people to protect themselves in their old age.

Senator FITZGERALD. Well, what about—do you favor Govern-
ment-Sponsored Enterprises to further securitization of student
loans? We used to have that with the student loan marketing GSE,
but it has now been privatized.

Ms. WACHTER. Yes.

Senator FITZGERALD. Do you simply think housing is the most
important and all other areas of the economy should not have any
kind of special push, just housing?

Ms. WACHTER. Well, I actually think that home ownership and
housing, because it is a basic need, but home ownership absolutely
should. I don’t really have a position on these others except for the
fact that I have in my studies seen what happens to economies
where home ownership is not equally accessed and the political dif-
ficulties that so arise.
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And the other side of it is I believe we, in some sense, have the
best of both possible worlds, which is that we have lower cost cap-
ital delivered in this very important sector. I think it is the ability,
in part, to lower the costs of capital for housing through the diver-
sification, etc., that comes through the secondary markets that
wouldn’t necessarily be able to be delivered to small businesses
through secondary markets.

Senator FITZGERALD. All right. A question for all of the panelists.
The issue of competition has come up several times, first and fore-
most from Mr. Pollock, who is competing to some extent now with
Fannie and Freddie. If our country decides that GSEs for housing
are a good thing, then why just have two of them? Why not have
four or six of them? Certainly, Mr. Pollock, you don’t mind being
one. I would be interested in your thoughts on that. I suppose those
who are against GSEs wouldn’t want any more GSEs. Those of you
who are for them, Mr. Miller, Mr. Harvey, Dr. Wachter, would you
be for more GSEs or just limit it to Fannie and Freddie? Mr. Har-
vey.

Mr. HARVEY. I would just say, we would be for whatever competi-
tion increases either the efficiency of capital for lower-income
Americans one way or another, and if you think there is a net ben-
gist out of the competition, we would be all for it, between the

Es.

I just have to point out, we also have a very unfair, or a tilted
system, however you want to put it, as far as mortgage interest de-
duction goes in this country. It is far more favorable to the wealthi-
er Americans than to lower-income Americans in this country. So
there are a set of policies that are in place and you have to look
at the totality of them.

One of the reasons I am for the housing GSEs is that it is a
means of getting favorable capital and there is a public policy ob-
jective that is front and center and it makes Fannie and Freddie
accessible and the Federal Home Loan Bank System far more ac-
cessible than Wall Street is to those of us who are trying to reach
down into lower-income communities and to make sure that there
is equity in the housing in this country.

Mr. ELY. Mr. Chairman, if I could throw in two points there. As
you might have inferred from my remarks, I am not a fan of
Fannie and Freddie and I support the notion of their privatization.
But if we are going to look at the question of whether or not there
should be more than two housing finance GSEs like Fannie and
Freddie, their returns on capital indicate that there is clearly a
lack of competition. As someone pointed out, we are seeing compa-
nies that consistently are earning returns on equity capital in the
mid-20 percent range. That is clearly excessive compared to the
type of competition and returns we see over time in other indus-
tries.

So the fact that their ROEs are so high is an indication that
what we have is effectively a duopoly in which there is an implicit
understanding between the two companies to compete but not too
aggressively or not so aggressively as to reduce their return on eq-
uity.

Coming back to the question of the role that Fannie and Freddie
play in terms of helping to level the playing field in favor of lower-
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income people who pay lower tax rates, if we take a look at the cur-
rent conforming loan limit of $322,700 in order to meet that limit,
you probably have to be able to buy a house worth at least
$400,000, if not more. Those are not homes being bought by lower-
middle-income, or lower-income people.

Much of the Fannie-Freddie subsidy goes to the middle class and
the upper-middle class and beyond. A very important public policy
question should be, to what extent should the middle class and
upper-middle class be subsidized in this way, given the fact that
they are already being subsidized tremendously because of not only
the mortgage interest deduction and the deduction of real estate
taxes, but also because of the now very liberal capital gains treat-
ment with regard to owner-occupied housing?

Mr. POLLOCK. Mr. Chairman, could I take a try at addressing the
question directly?

Senator FITZGERALD. Yes, Mr. Pollock?

Mr. PoLLoCK. I think Bert is right, that if we got to a truly com-
petitive GSE sector, we would know it because the returns on eq-
uity would be at the market competitive cost of capital, which in
this country now is around 13 or 14 percent, as opposed to some-
place in the 20s.

In terms of more GSEs, you could think of the Federal Home
Loan Banks as one GSE, or you could perhaps more accurately
think of them as 12, or think of us as 12, which would give you
14.

It seems to me that the burden of proof for creating a GSE must
always fall on those who would wish to create a GSE. We have a
long history, not always in the form of GSEs, but of governmental
credit programs. You mentioned, Mr. Chairman, student loans. We
have Farm Credit. We have the Pension Benefit Guaranty Corpora-
tion. We had the Federal Savings and Loan Insurance Corporation.
A very large number of them had rather unhappy experiences, or
continue to. So to those who would create such programs, as I say,
I think that the burden of proof is on them.

My point is that if you already have GSEs and you are asking
what can you do best now and you believe the GSEs will continue
to exist, it is our view that the best thing you can do is to ensure
at least that it is a competitive sector so that the benefits given to
the GSEs, which turn into economic advantages, become consumer
advantages as opposed to economic rents, to use the technical term,
in the GSE.

But that is a “second-best” argument.

Senator FITZGERALD. Well, we have been talking here a lot about
risk and what is the risk on their balance sheets. If they had more
competition, would there not be much more risk of a financial—

Mr. WALLISON. Actually, Mr. Chairman, if I can respond to
that

Senator FITZGERALD. OK.

Mr. WALLISON If we had to have GSEs doing what Fannie and
Freddie are doing, it would be better to have more of them than
fewer of them for the reasons I said in my testimony, and that is
that the two that we have, if one of them fails, could produce a dis-
aster in our economy, whereas a management misjudgment at one
of six or eight would not have that effect.
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Senator FITZGERALD. The margins of Fannie and Freddie, then,
would get thinner and thinner:

Mr. WALLISON. Yes, of course, and they should, and that is what
benefits consumers. In fact, the ROEs that they are showing, as
Bert suggested, reflect either one of two things. Either they are
taking the risks that I said they were taking—they are not ade-
quately hedging—or there is some sort of parallelism going on in
their pricing.

Senator FITZGERALD. Well, banks don’t ordinarily make that kind
of return, but they have to have a lot more E, and so their R on
the E is lower because there is much more E. Because Fannie and
Freddie have such low levels of required capital

Mr. WALLISON. That is given to them as a benefit.

Senator FITZGERALD. Yes.

Mr. WALLISON. Let me just complete a couple of thoughts here.
So competition would be better than nothing, but why would we
create more GSEs when we can eliminate the risk, as I suggested,
simply by not allowing them to buy their own mortgage-backed se-
curities which have already been sold to the market? We have de-
veloped—they have developed, or others have developed and they
then picked up on—a very good technology in offering mortgage-
backed securities. Investors will buy these instruments and take
the interest rate on them. Why are we now allowing them to go out
into the market, borrow money on the Federal Government’s credit,
and then go out and buy mortgage-backed securities to take addi-
tional risk away from investors?

Senator FITZGERALD. Mr. Miller, do you want to address that?

Mr. MILLER. I am not sure in which order to take these things.
One reason——

Senator FITZGERALD. The one I would like you to address is
Fannie and Freddie holding mortgage-backed securities on their
balance sheets.

Mr. MiLLER. That is the one I was going to start with.

Senator FITZGERALD. OK. [Laughter.]

Mr. MILLER. They have a comparative advantage in having those
assets on their balance sheets because they know them better than
anyone else.

Senator FITZGERALD. They don’t know them better than the per-
son or the bank or the S&L that made the loan. . . .

Mr. MILLER. No, but when they consolidate and do the MBS,
they know what the MBS is.

Second, I want to get to the competition point, but let me return
to the—you asked the question, should you establish new GSEs for
other industries or other areas of economic activity, and I would
distinguish two things there. One, is that an area that is appro-
priate for promotion? I don’t think there is any question but that
the Congress of the United States and administrations from one to
another have viewed housing as being a priority, and the establish-
ment of the housing GSEs, and continuation of the housing GSEs
are a reflection of that priority. That is something for you to de-
bate.

The second part, though, is the question of liquidity. If you were
to establish that in such-and-such an industry there was a signifi-
cant liquidity problem for which there were institutional barriers
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or some such, it might make sense to establish something that
would increase liquidity there. The liquidity problems in the hous-
ing industry sources are very well known—regional problems,
banking, finance that were not solved or are not completely solved
even today.

But on the question of competition, I as an economist will tell
you, yes, maybe rents are being earned, but the rents that are flow-
ing are to increased skill at management, innovation, other things,
not rents that are flowing to the firm because it limits competition.

My impression is, these two GSEs, first, they are very competi-
tive with each other. Second, they are run by very smart people
who are constantly innovating, coming out with new things, and
that is the reason that the firms are doing well in terms of ROE.
You find other firms in the economy that do very well, and, of
course, in some industries, rates of return are much, much higher
than for the GSEs.

Now, my own personal view is if you gave an opportunity for
someone to enter under the same circumstances, that would be
fine. But I would just caution you that if you established a GSE
sort of organization, it would take a long time, if ever, for them to
be competitive with Freddie and Fannie, in part because of their
scale economy. So if you set something up, you might be buying a
commitment to engage in a lot of Federal promotion and direct sub-
sidy of such an enterprise over time.

Mr. HOUSE. But Mr. Chairman

Senator FITZGERALD. We are going to wrap up in a few minutes.
I will let everybody who wants have a final say here. Mr. House.

Mr. HousE. To go back, you asked our group how we would feel
about competition. We would support it if you had proper regula-
tion and a level playing field. Something that Mr. Miller just said
really emphasizes that point. He said nobody understands the
MBSs better than Fannie and Freddie, and this is something that
Mr. Wallison talked about on MBS. So when the GSEs purchase
their own MBS, it is called “cherry picking” because they do under-
stand their MBS better than anybody else. This is exactly why we
think they should have to register their MBSs under the SEC, so
everybody knows, so everybody has the same information.

The next thing is, the GSEs were originally established to lead
the market in providing for home ownership. And as I said earlier
in my remarks, 24 studies say they are not leading the market. We
think it is very important, and I think Mr. Harvey, I would hope,
would agree that in order to do that—banks have to buy CRA
loans—and I think the GSEs, which are exempt from CPA stand-
ards, should be required to invest in community reinvestment
loans.

And the second thing is, in applying affordable housing stand-
ards, it is now done on a national average. We all know that you
can play all kinds of games with national averages. So you say,
gosh, I am going to meet my affordable housing standards. You can
just play with those averages. Take those averages and take it
down to MSA basis, which is the Metropolitan Statistical Area, so
it is done by areas. So if you really want to increase affordable
homeownership, those are the kinds of things you can do, instead
of taking the GSEs’ word for it. We think that is very important.
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Senator FITZGERALD. Mr. Ely.

Mr. EvLy. Just a couple of points I wanted to pick up on, respond-
ing to Jim. First of all, with regard to having more competition
among the GSEs, you made a point about increased risk to these
institutions. That is right, there would be increased risk and it is
increased risk for the taxpayer because many of us believe that if
a GSE gets into trouble, it will be rescued in some fashion by the
government. Congress has done that twice in the last 16 years,
first with the Farm Credit System in 1987 and then in 1997 with
the FICO bonds, which gets back to a key difference between
Fannie and Freddie, on the one hand, and the banking industry on
the other.

Fannie and Freddie are a “heads we win, tails you lose” propo-
sition because to the extent they are able to capitalize on their im-
plicit Federal guarantee, then their shareholders are winners. If,
on the other hand, one of them fails, then it is the taxpayers who
are the loser. Deposit insurance, post-FDICIA, and post-FIRREA,
doesn’t work that way anymore. It is an industry-financed pro-
gram, if you will, that is run by the government. So as we think
about GSE risks, we have to realize that the GSEs are getting a
freOe ride off of the taxpayer, which is showing up in their high
ROE.

Just one other thing about the liquidity problem. The banking in-
dustry and the thrift industry have changed enormously from the
time Fannie and Freddie were set up. Back then, and you will re-
member this very well, we had branching restrictions and rel-
atively small banking companies. Today, we have large players out
there as mortgage originators and as aggregators who are oper-
ating on literally a nationwide basis—Washington Mutual, Wells
Fargo, J.P. Morgan Chase, Citi, and so forth.

And so the private sector, through the consolidation process and
the lifting of branching restrictions, has been able to develop an
ability to provide liquidity to the mortgage market. That vitiates
one of the original reasons for creating both Fannie and Freddie.

Senator FITZGERALD. Mr. Wallison, we are getting to the end of
the hearing. I do want to ask you if you favor privatization of the
Federal Home Loan Banks, too.

Mr. WALLISON. By all means. [Laughter.]

They survive, in my mind, only as competition to Fannie and
Freddie. [Laughter.]

Alex and I have talked about this at length.

Senator FITZGERALD. OK, and you are still friends. [Laughter.]

Mr. WALLISON. If we could not do anything about Fannie and
Freddie, then it makes a lot of sense to have some competitive or-
ganizations.

Let me mention a couple of things on competition. First of all,
in my prepared statement, I noted that Fannie and Freddie com-
pete against Treasury securities and they thus raise the cost of
Treasury securities. The Treasury pays more interest because for-
eign central banks and others accessing the foreign capital markets
are looking at Fannie and Freddie as U.S. Government securities,
to some extent. So they are buying Fannie Mae and Freddie securi-
ties instead of buying Treasuries. The Treasury has to pay some-
what higher interest. No one has done a study—it is probably im-
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possible to do a study of how much it is—but it is not insignificant.
That is one of the costs that they cause the U.S. taxpayer.

It is certainly true that people have their wealth in housing in
this country, but that is because of our national policy that causes
a lot of investment to go into housing, Fannie and Freddie and the
Home Loan Banks being part of that. If we didn’t have that direc-
tion of funds into housing, people would have better jobs. People
would have more income from the businesses that would have been
established here and people would have more stock market invest-
ments than they have investments in their homes.

So that is the way—our economy is structured that way because
of government policy. It is not because of any particular reason
that we should organize our economy that way. We ought to realize
what the trade-offs are when we push money into housing.

I heard an argument, I thought, that rents, economic rents, cause
or help innovation. I was always under the impression that the
more competition there is, the more innovation there will be, and
that is certainly the lesson of our free market. So I can’t imagine
that we would want to encourage people to make profits, rent-type
profits, in order to encourage innovation when, in fact, what it does
encourage is waste and inefficiency in the economy.

And finally, the important thing that we should focus on here,
what Congress should focus on, it seems to me, is eliminating the
risk to the taxpayer and the risks to the economy. I happen to
think that privatization does that more effectively than anything
else. There is no good reason to have these organizations anymore.
But if that is too big a bite for Congress to take, I do recommend
that we look at simply the question of forbidding them to buy their
mortgage-backed securities and accumulate portfolios of mortgages.

Since Fannie and Freddie were established, the technology in-
volved in selling mortgage-backed securities, the distribution sys-
tem, has been developed. It now works wonderfully without any
government support in the jumbo market. It could work for the
conforming and conventional market, too, if we simply eliminated
the government support there, and we would then by that Act
eliminate the risk. Thank you.

Senator FITZGERALD. Any final

Mr. MILLER. Could I just make a correction?

Senator FITZGERALD. Yes.

Mr. MILLER. My reference to rents was the rent that is the re-
turn for innovative activity. It is not the way that was character-
ized by Mr. Wallison.

Senator FITZGERALD. Mr. Pollock.

Mr. PoLLocK. Mr. Chairman, I think you have conducted a great
and a very lively discussion, but I did note there was one question
you very pointedly asked and it didn’t get answered, so I would like
to try to answer it.

You discussed the presentation by Fannie Mae about being
hedged and the different ways you could hedge a mortgage book
with debt and hedges and you asked, is that reasonable? In my
opinion, that is very reasonable as long as we don’t talk about per-
fect hedging. I have been in the banking business one way and an-
other about 34 years now and I have never met anybody who was
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perfectly hedged or even claimed to be perfectly hedged and I
would greatly distrust anybody who did.

But if the question is, can you prudently hedge a book of mort-
gages with debt and with hedges, the answer is, you absolutely can
if you are a GSE under current American circumstances.

I think as a general——

Senator FITZGERALD. Do you think private companies could ab-
sorb all those long-term fixed rates in America and hedge them-
selves?

Mr. PoLLOCK. Not if they have to compete with GSEs, Mr. Chair-
man.

Senator FITZGERALD. If they didn’t have to, you think they could?

Mr. PoLLOCK. I think the market will always work that out.

Senator FITZGERALD. OK.

Mr. PoLLocK. Embedded in every hedge is somebody’s cost of op-
erations and cost of capital for providing the risk bearing or the
risk distribution that the hedge represents. The market would
work that out.

I do think it is very clear that every GSE, Home Loan Banks and
Fannie Mae in particular, was set up with an important truth in
mind: That is, if you are going to have long-term fixed-rate mort-
gages, you have to link them to the bond market in some way. You
can’t finance them with deposits, which are short-term by nature.
Whatever system we would end up with, if we want to have fixed-
rate mortgages, which I think the American people should want
and do want, then we have to design a system that has a highly
efficient bond market link. GSEs are one way to do that. Obviously,
you could imagine others. And thank you very much, Mr. Chair-
man.

Senator FITZGERALD. Thank you.

I know you had some comments down here. These will be the
last two, Mr. Harvey, then Dr. Wachter.

Mr. HARVEY. Great. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. I think one of the
points that we have missed here is the huge productivity gains that
have come over the last decade from Fannie and Freddie and from
the Home Loan Bank System. But if I was to take, and this is a
negative comparison, where the FHA is and Ginnie Mae has been
over that period of time versus what has happened in Fannie and
Freddie, there has been a huge benefit that has come out of the
GSE system. They have been able to access technology, they have
been able to have huge through-puts with the same amount of peo-
ple. They have been able to have dedicated people and resources
on their public mission goals, and every time the goals have gone
up, they have been able to meet them or exceed them along the
way.

So as an advocate for low-income people and housing, what is
there to fix here, because it has been hugely productive. It has
been a tremendously productive system.

As far as not leading the market, yes, I would love to stretch the
GSEs to do more around CRA and other loans. What I fear is if
you get a capital structure where they can’t do that or that discour-
ages them from taking the very prudent risk that they ought to
take, then you are defeating some of the purpose as to why you
have a GSE in the first place.
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As far as not leading the market, I think you have to look—and
in minority home ownership, you have got to look at the sub-prime
market, which is a large part of the lending right now that goes
to minorities in this country. It has grown exponentially over this
period of time. Now, there is a sub-prime market that makes sense
and there is a predatory market. They are different, but they are
sometimes linked together, and this will probably horrify everybody
on the stage, but I think the GSEs getting into that sub-prime
market will make it more accountable, cleaner, better, with more
efficient capital as long as you have accountability and oversight on
it, and I applaud——

Senator FITZGERALD. But doesn’t that put more risk on the GSE’s
balance sheets?

Mr. HARVEY. As long as they do the business the way the busi-
ness ought to be done, and not in a predatory way, but in a way
to get capital to those people that don’t have perfect credit, and
that can be done—I applaud every time Citibank takes over Associ-
ates and Associates has to clean up the way that they have been
doing their business, and it was a huge fight, as you know, or
Chase takes over, because they have a reputation they have to de-
fend and it allows advocates and others to say, look, this hasn’t
been done the right way. There are parts of this business that
make no sense at all for low-income home owners.

So I think the GSEs have worked remarkably. Of course, we be-
lieve in public-private partnerships to get to parts of the market
that you can’t get to otherwise.

Senator FITZGERALD. Thank you. Dr. Wachter.

Ms. WACHTER. Thank you. I believe that it is very much the abil-
ity to earn profits in the short run before technology is widely im-
plemented that encourages innovation, and that is, indeed, part of
the reason we have had so much innovation in this sector.

The investors will lose, obviously, if these institutions take on too
much risk. This, too, is a safeguard. So it is, in fact, the genius of
the private institution with public purposes that I think has accom-
plished so much and there is more to accomplish yet.

Senator FITZGERALD. All of you, thank you very much. This has
really been a great panel. These are some of the best minds in the
country on this issue. It was a delight to have all of you here.

Without objection, the hearing record will remain open for any
additional statements or questions from Senator through 5 p.m. to-
mMorrow.

With no further business to come before the Committee, this
hearing is adjourned. Thank you.

[Whereupon, at 4:20 p.m., the Subcommittee was adjourned.]
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Good afternoon Chairman Fitzgerald, Senator Akaka, and members of the subcommittee. Iam
Alex Pollock, President and Chief Executive Officer of the Chicago Federal Home Loan Bank. 1
appreciate this opportunity to present our views on the costs and benefits of the three housing
government sponsored enterprises (GSEs) and how their role in the American mortgage finance
sector can be improved.

Allow me first to note that the views I am presenting represent only those of the Chicago Federal
Home Loan Bank. As everyone who spends any time with the Home Loan Banks quickly learns,
they are twelve different corporations, each with its own board of directors, its own management,
and its own views on issues.

The Chicago FHLB provides mortgage financing products to and is entirely owned by our 882
member financial institutions in Illinois and Wisconsin. The twelve FHLBs are owned by more
than 8,000 commercial banks, thrifts, credit unions and insurance companies across the country.
The Chicago view on today's topic can be summarized very simply:
The best way for Congress to ensure that GSE charter advantages are passed
through to homebuying consumers is to encourage greater competition in the

GSE sector.

Our position rests on the belief that the market forces of competition and innovation are the best
disciplines for all enterprises, including GSEs. We also recognize that, due to the special
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privileges conferred in GSE charters, only a GSE has the ability to compete with another GSE in
the business of funding long-term mortgages.

Over the last 70 years, Congress has created three housing GSEs on different occasions in
response to stressful economic events. It is probably not a system that would be designed on
purpose from scratch. But all three GSEs have the same essential purpose: to promote housing
finance by efficiently linking long-term residential mortgages with the bond markets. While the
current structure has certainly advanced the goal of making economical mortgage financing
available to most Americans, there is of course room for improvement.

The most evident problem with the current structure is the overwhelming role in the secondary
mortgage market of two GSEs, Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac. Notwithstanding the current
accounting issues at Freddie Mac, both are extremely capable and impressive companies.
However, their enormous presence in the secondary markets is an issue. Last year, for example,
available figures suggest they together funded more than 80% of the estimated total of all
conforming mortgages made in the country. If you consider a different measure, the total
outstanding of all single-family, conventional, conforming mortgages (meaning mortgages for
one-to-four family homes of less than $322,700 and excluding government-insured mortgages)
Fannie and Freddie appear to own or guarantee about 67% of the total. These estimates are
formed by analyzing data from various sources, including the Federal Reserve reports and Fannie
and Freddie's own disclosures.

This remarkable market presence, combined with rapid growth, has generated a series of debates
about GSEs in which all of the distinguished panelists here today have played a role.

We see three possible outcomes to this public policy debate:

1) The first is the continued expansion and dominating role of Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac in
the secondary mortgage market;

2) An alternative outcome would be the complete privatization of the GSEs by removing all
their ties to the Federal government;

3) The third is creating a more competitive and economically efficient GSE sector.

In our view, more competition is needed in the secondary mortgage market. It appears to us that
this is true of both of the GSE lines of business: credit guaranty and mortgage funding. For
example, in 2002, the average guaranty fee charged by Fannie and Freddie was about 19 basis
points, or 19 one-hundredths of a percentage point, per year of the outstanding balance of the
loans. However, the actual credit losses experienced by the companies averaged less than 1 basis
point. Mortgage lenders with high credit quality generally pay a guaranty fee (or insurance
premium) which is very high relative to actual losses.

In a market which lacks alternatives, mortgage lenders, particularly smaller, community financial
institutions, have had little choice but to pay the costly fees and pass them along to their
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homebuying customers. At the same time, Fannie and Freddie's growing market share has
resulted in the concentration of credit risk in the GSEs. Some observers have called for the
removal of all government ties to the GSEs to create a private market solution and insulate the
government, and ultimately the American taxpayers, from the GSEs. Although very strong
theoretical arguments can and have been made for this position, for example, by my friend Peter
Wallison, most people do not believe there is any real chance of privatization occurring in the
foreseeable future.

We conclude that, as a practical matter, the only way to improve the secondary mortgage market
to benefit community lenders and American homebuyers is through greater competition.
Realistically, competition in the mortgage funding business can only come from the third housing
GSE, the Federal Home Loan Banks, because to compete with a GSE, you must have the
advantages of a GSE.

That is why the Chicago FHLB began in 1997 the Mortgage Partnership Finance® (MPF®)
Program to give our member lenders a competitive alternative to selling their mortgages in the
secondary market. Unlike the other GSEs, the MPF Program uses a risk-sharing structure to
optimally allocate the risks inherent in long-term, fixed-rate mortgage between the lender and the
FHLB. Local community lenders, which know their customers better than any GSE can, sell the
loans to their Home Loan Bank but continue to be responsible for the principal credit risk in
MPF transactions. MPF lenders receive monthly fees to manage the credit risk of their
mortgages instead of paying guaranty fees to a GSE. They retain the credit responsibility for
their customers, rather than divesting it to a GSE. The Home Loan Banks provide the funding
for the loans and manage the interest rate risk -- functions for which they are best suited.

While the MPF risk-sharing structure puts the FHLBs into competition with the other GSEs in
the business of funding mortgages, the FHLB members are placed in competition with Fannie
and Freddie in the credit risk business. Since well over 500 member lenders are approved to
participate in MPF, the Program has created over 500 new competitors to Fannie and Freddie in
this business. This development has important implications for American taxpayers because the
mortgage credit risk that otherwise would be concentrated in two GSEs is instead dispersed
among hundreds of private mortgage lenders.

The MPF Program gives FHLB members a new alternative for financing their customers'
homebuying needs and carries out the FHLBs' housing finance mission. Every dollar of MPF
funding directly helps a consumer finance a home.

We believe MPF's risk-sharing approach represents a significant step forward in the evolution of
mortgage finance. The traditional lending model, in which thrift institutions simply kept the
mortgages they made in their own portfolio and thereby kept all the risks associated with the
loans, lasted until the interest rate shocks of the 1970s and 1980s exposed the dangers of that
approach. From the 1980s until the present, the secondary market model, in which all risks are
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passed to the GSEs, has been dominant. The creation of MPF and its rapid market acceptance
has shown the advantages of allocating risks among parties best suited to manage them.

Since beginning in 1997, the MPF Program has been enthusiastically embraced by mortgage
lenders. Today, it is a rapidly growing program that has funded over $100 billion of mortgages
in all 50 states and the District of Columbia, helping more than 730,000 families. As mentioned,
over 500 FHLB member institutions are approved to participate in the program through nine
FHLBs. The other three FHLBs offer a similar program, so today all twelve FHLBs are in the
business of funding mortgages as competitors to the other GSEs.

In summary, Mr. Chairman, we strongly believe encouraging competition and innovation among
the GSEs is the best way Congress can ensure that GSE benefits are passed through the mortgage
finance system to American homebuyers.

Because it is so prominent as a current topic, I would like to add some final observations on the
subject of SEC registration by GSEs. We recognize and understand the Administration’s policy
position on this subject, and have been discussing the specific issues presented by the unusual
structure of the FHLBs with all the relevant parties, including the very knowledgeable staff of the
SEC.

The FHLBs have always, by statute or regulation, been jointly and severally liable for each
other’s debt. Under SEC registration, it appears that this situation could give rise to the need for
each FHLB to create an additional on balance sheet lability reflecting the “fair value” of this
joint and several liability for the combined debt of all the other FHLBs.

Additionally, FHLB stock would be characterized, under current regulations, as being
"mandatorily redeemable." As a result, although FHLB stock in my opinion is undoubtedly
equity capital, there is a substantial risk under evolving FASB rules that it would not qualify for
accounting purposes as equity capital. These circumstances create obvious difficulties for
management in the exercise of our fiduciary responsibility unless it can be made entirely clear
that FHLB stock, as defined by statute and regulation, will be appropriately treated for
accounting purposes.

Of course, these discussions include many other complex technical details, which we continue to
work on.

Mr. Chairman, this concludes my written remarks. Thank you again for allowing me the
opportunity to present these views. [ would be happy to answer any questions you or other
members of the subcommittee may have.

"Morigage Partnership Finance"” and "MPF" are registered trademarks of the Chicago Federal Home Loan Bank.
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Mr. Chairman and members of the Committee:

1t is a privilege for me to testify this afternoon on the subject of Fannie Mae and
Freddie Mac, and I'd like to congratulate and thank you, Mr. Chairman, for taking on an
important task that deserves much more attention from Congress than it has received.

Also, the title of today’s hearing, focusing on the costs and benefits of Fannie
Mage and Freddie Mag, puts the issue in the right way. Tt is because the costs of and risks
created by Fannie and Freddie overwhelmingly outweigh any benefits they provide that |
believe they should be fundamentally changed.

The case against Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac is very simple: they create
enormous risks for the government, for the taxpayers, and for the economy as a whole,
yet provide no significant benefit to homebuyers. Accordingly, Congress should take
steps to cut their links to the federal government. Like the S&L crisis many years ago,
procrastinating will only put off the day of reckoning, and the problem will be worse and
more costly when Congress is finally compelled to act. Fannie and Freddie have been
doubling in size every five years, and now have combined liabilities of almost $3.5
trillion. This is not a problem that can be safely or responsibly put off.

Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac were created for a single purpose—to provide
liquidity for the housing finance system by creating a market for the mortgages made by
banks and other mortgage originators. They did this very well. There is now a vibrant and
efficient secondary market for residential mortgages. The technology has been developed,
investors have been educated, and a distribution system has been established. The
structure will now operate without government assistance of any kind. In fact, in the so-
called “jumbo” market—mortgages larger than Fannie and Freddie are permitted to
buy-—it operates entirely without any government backing. So Fannie and Freddie are no
longer necessary for their original purpose. They should be thanked and sent home.

In fact, Fannie and Freddie know all of this. So they have been diligent in creating
a rationale for themselves that does not depend on their providing liquidity to the housing
market. They have been advertising instead that they “open the doors to home
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ownership” by reducing the cost of mortgages, or that they are in “the American dream
business” because they enable people to buy homes who might otherwise not be able to
do so, or—implicitly—that they help minorities to become homeowners.

However, they do not really do these things. Let me take them one at a time.

Helping people afford homes. The basis for this claim is the correct observation
that interest rates on mortgages purchased by Fannie and Freddie are somewhat lower
than rates on so-called “jumbo” loans—which are sold in an entirely private secondary
market. There have been many studies of the degree to which Fannie and Freddie provide
lower interest rates to buyers who can qualify for conventional conforming loans. Table
1, attached, is a compilation of such studies that was presented at an AEI conference in
October 2002. It shows that the effect of Fannie and Freddie’s activities is to reduce
interest rates on home mortgages by a very small amount—somewhere in the range of 25
basis points, or ¥ of 1 percent. If I can put this in perspective, every time the Fed lowers
interest rates by one-quarter point, it has the same effect, and the Fed has done this 12
times in the last two years. Similarly, every time the Fed raises interest rates % point it
has the opposite effect. If that ¥4 point were as important as Fannie and Freddie suggest in
their advertising, thousands and thousands of American families would be frozen out of
home ownership every time the Fed raises interest rates by % point.

Moreover, this benefit comes almost entirely from the implicit support Fannie and
Freddie receive from the government, not because of anything particularly special that
Fannie and Freddie bring to the market. The Congressional Budget Office has estimated
that in 2000 Fannie and Freddie received implicit government support with a value of
about $10.6 billion, of which about two-thirds was actually made available to the
mortgage market through lower rates. The balance, presumably, increased the share
values of Fannie and Freddie by increasing their bottom line profitability, and went to
management compensation.

This small benefit, however, is not a very good argument for continuing the
implicit government subsidy. First of all, it’s a very inefficient way of subsidizing the
housing market. About one-third of the benefit the government has conferred on Fannie
and Freddie goes to their shareholders and managements, rather than to create lower
interest rates. This is surely an extreme form of corporate welfare, in which two
managements and their investors are enriched in order to confer limited benefits on
homebuyers. If Congress wants to subsidize housing, it should be able to find a more
efficient way to do it.

But second, and much more important, it isn’t even clear that the subsidy~—
limited as it is—goes to homebuyers. It’s entirely possible that it simply causes home
prices to rise. In other words, it is a subsidy to home sellers and developers. I don’t know
of any studies that show this~—or of any studies that show the opposite—but it is common
sense that to the extent that the monthly payments required of homebuyers are reduced, it
provides an opportunity for home sellers to raise their prices.
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Putting people in homes. Fannie and Freddie argue that the small reduction in
interest rates that they pass along to the mortgage markets out of their implicit
government subsidy contributes to the growth of home ownership in the United States by
helping people buy homes. However, a study by the Census Bureau, also presented at an
AEI conference in October, showed that the monthly cost of owning a home is not the
obstacle that prevents renters from buying homes. The obstacle is the down payment.
Renters do not generally have the financial resources necessary to buy their first home.
Accordingly, the claim that Fannie and Freddie put people in homes by reducing interest
rates is not true. No amount of interest rate reduction will make it possible for some
renters to become homeowners, because the problem for them is not the carrying cost of
owning a home—it is the fact that they cannot accumulate the necessary down payment.

This reality led my colleague at AEI, Professor Charles Calomiris, to propose that
Fannie and Freddie be completely privatized and the implicit subsidy they now receive
used to provide down payment assistance to families who would otherwise be unable to
purchase a home. Professor Calomiris estimated that this use of the Fannie and Freddie
subsidy would permit more than 600,000 families, now renting, to buy homes.

Helping minority families, Through their advertising, which prominently
displays photos of minority families in or in front of what are presumably their homes,
Fannie and Freddie suggest that they provide special assistance to minority families
hoping to become homeowners. And if they did this disproportionately—that is, helped
minorities or low income borrowers more than they helped middle class borrowers—that
would be a powerful argument for preserving their current status.

But they do not do this. Instead, according to a study by Jonathan Brown of
Essential Information, a Nader-related group, Fannie and Freddie buy proportionately
fewer conventional conforming loans that banks make in minority areas than they buy in
middle class white areas. Other studies have shown that the automated underwriting
systems that Fannie and Freddie use to select the mortgages they will buy approve fewer
minority homebuyers than similar automated underwriting systems used by mortgage
insurers. There is at least one lawsuit against Freddie Mac by a minority homebuyer,
arguing that he was unable to get a conventional conforming mortgage because of the
exclusionary nature of Freddie’s automated underwriting system.

The sad fact is that Fannie and Freddie—two government sponsored enterprises
that have a government housing-related mission—do less for minority housing than
ordinary commercial banks. Studies have repeatedly shown that banks and other loan
originators make more loans to minority borrowers than Fannie and Freddie will buy.
That in itself should be a scandal, together with the fact that both companies seek through
their soft-focus advertising to create the impression that they are actually using their
government benefits for the disadvantaged in our society,

So the US housing finance system gets very little benefit from the continued
existence of Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac as government sponsored enterprises. The
reduction in interest rates that they can point to as a result of their activities is really the
result of their implicit government support, which is small in any case, and is swamped
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by macro changes in interest rates as a result of economic conditions. In any event, it isn’t
even clear that the lower rates operate as a benefit to homebuyers rather than home
sellers. This small reduction in interest rates does not put people in homes or improve
home ownership rates in the United States because most renters lack the down payment
necessary to buy a home, not because they could not afford the monthly carrying cost of
homeownership. And finally, despite the implications of their advertising, Fannie and
Freddie seem to discriminate against minority homebuyers rather than assist them.

The costs of Fannie and Freddie

So the benefits of continuing Fannie and Freddie as GSEs are meager to non-
existent. What then are the costs?

I have already cited the CBO estimate that Fannie and Freddie receive an implicit
subsidy from the US government—in effect an extension of US government credit—with
an annual value of at least $10.6 billion. That, however, is not the extent of their cost to
the taxpayers. Because their securities directly compete with Treasury securities—in fact
they have begun to issue securities on a regular schedule, just like the Treasury, in order
to be a more effective substitute—they cause Treasury interest rates to rise slightly,
probably by a few basis points. On a total Treasury debt of several trillion dollars, those
few basis points amount to hundreds of millions of dollars annually.

But these two costs do not begin to describe the costs to the government, the
taxpayers and the economy of allowing Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac to continue to
grow, Because Fannie and Freddie are implicitly backed by the US government, financial
problems at either of them could require a government bailout. This is what Congress has
had to do with other GSEs—most recently the farm credit system in the mid-1980s—and
there is no reason to suppose that Congress would not step in if Fannie or Freddie, or
both, were in financial trouble.

Until June of this year, when Freddie Mac dismissed its top three officers and
announced that it would have to do a considerably bigger financial cleanup than we
initially thought necessary, it was possible to say that both Fannie and Freddie were in
strong financial condition and that there was no prospect of a bailout. Since then,
however, there has been much more scrutiny of the financial statements of both
companies, and at least some observers have pointed out that while Freddie might have
been more profitable than it reported during the three years ending in 2002, Fannie Mae
might actually have lost money, or made no profits, last year. That is not what Fannie
reported, which was of course another huge annual increase in profitability. The problem
is, because of the malleable nature of Generally Accepted Accounting Principles
(GAAP), we don’t really know how these complicated companies are doing. We would
get a better picture of Fannie and Freddie's actual condition with better cash flow
reporting, but that is not currently required by GAAP or the SEC.
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In any event, however they are doing today, changes in interest rates and the
economy generally could have a significant adverse effect on their financial health in the
future, and the taxpayers are ultimately responsible for assuring that they meet their
obligations. It is important to remember in this connection that, at the end of 2002, Fannic
and Freddie had aggregate outstanding debt of $1.5 trillion, and aggregate outstanding
guarantee obligations of $1.8 trillion—almost $3.5 trillion in liabilities. Even a small part
of this obligation—if it has to be made up by the taxpayers—will make the S&L bailout
look like a dimestore operation.

But even that does not end the risks we all face with these two companies.
Because they are integral to the health of the housing market, the failure of either of them
could have a systemic effect—meaning an adverse effect on the economy as a whole. It’s
relatively easy to see how this might happen. Fannie and Freddie, together, purchase
almost all the conventional conforming mortgages that come on the market each year.
They currently hold or guarantee 75 or 80 percent of all conventional conforming
mortgages and almost half of a// residential mortgages in the United States. If either
Fannie or Freddie were to lose the confidence of the capital markets, and were unable to
purchase their share of new mortgages as these came on line, the entire residential
finance system would be seriously disrupted—at least temporarily. Interest rates would
rise and residential mortgages would be harder to get. This would rapidly affect the rest
of the economy. Home sales would decline, construction would fall, sales of furnishings
and appliances would suffer.

This effect would be bad enough as it ripples through the economy. Much worse
would be the effect on the financial system as a whole. Large numbers of banks and other
financial institutions are major investors in the securities of Fannie and Freddie. They are
encouraged to buy and hold Fannie and Freddie securities by a statutory exemption for
these securities from regular restrictions on loans to one borrower. Declines in the value
of Fannie and Freddie securities will reduce, and in some cases impair, the capital of all
these financial institutions. Reduced or impaired capital will reduce the amount of credit
they can provide, even outside the mortgage markets.

Altogether, then, the effects of a failure or severe financial crisis at either Fannie
or Freddie could be systemic in character, not limited to the home mortgage markets. And
since there are only two of these companies, it is accurate to say that the continued health
of our economy depends on decisions by only two corporate managements. If one of
them makes a grave mistake, the entire economy could suffer. And the recent events at
Freddie Mac show that management judgments are far from infallible. We don’t know
the extent of the problems at Freddie, but we do know that the top management made
serious errors of judgment. These, fortunately, do not appear to threaten systemic effects,
but errors of judgment come in many shapes and sizes, and one day the error may be of a
kind that cannot be repaired by accountants working around the clock.

What to do

So what is to be done? We have a situation in which two corpanies create
enormous risks for the taxpayers and the economy, but offer little in the way of benefits
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to anyone. Congress has it within its power to change this calculus in a number of ways.
My preferred answer would be to privatize Fannie and Freddie and at the same time
break them up into five or six smaller entities. In nature, diversity protects a species; in
finance, diversity can protect an economy.

However, I am aware that this solution is not for the moment on anyone’s radar
screen. So I have a more modest proposal: Congress should prohibit Fannie and Freddie
from buying back or accumulating any substantial portfolio of mortgages or mortgage
backed securities (MBS).

Today, these companies do business in two very different ways: (i) they create
pools of mortgages which are used to collateralize MBS that they guarantee and sell to
investors, and (1i) they buy whole mortgages and repurchase the MBS they have already
sold to investors.

These are two very different ways of performing their functions, and have very
different consequences. When Fannie and Freddie create pools of mortgages and sell
MBS backed by these pools, they are guaranteeing that investors will receive a stream of
revenue derived from the interest and principal paid into the pools by homeowners
paying off their mortgages. In this case, Fannie and Freddie are taking only credit risk—
the risk that homeowners will not meet their mortgage obligations. This is not a very
significant risk, especially today, when losses on mortgage pools have been running at 1
or 2 basis points.

However, buying and holding mortgages or MBS is an entirely different story. In
that case, Fannie and Freddie must take interest rate risk in addition to credit risk. Interest
rate risk—that rates will rise or fall-—is a far greater risk than credit risk, and requires
Fannie and Freddie to buy derivatives of various kinds to protect themselves against the
vicissitudes of the credit markets. To put this in perspective, it was interest rate risk that
caused the failure of the S&Ls. They were holding mortgages that were paying, say, 5
percent, but in order to finance these loans they had to pay 10 or 12 percent for their
funds. With a negative spread like that, they weren’t solvent for very long. Fannie and
Freddie are in the same position, but their risks run two ways. The same thing happens to
them if interest rates suddenly go up—they are holding mortgages that may yield less
than the new rate they have to pay for their funds. But they also run risks if interest rates
go down, since a portion of their portfolio is funded with longer term debt. If interest
rates decline, homeowners refinance, and Fannie and Freddie end up holding, say, 4
percent mortgages, that they’ve funded with 5 percent liabilities. Another losing
proposition.

Why, you might ask would Fannie and Freddie take such risks? Why would they
buy back from investors the MBS on which the investors are already taking the interest
rate risk? The answer is that, even after buying all that hedging protection through
derivatives, it is still profitable for them to buy and hold their own MBS. In fact, it has
been estimated that Fannie and Freddie own, in the aggregate, 34 percent of all MBS
currently issued. With their government backing, they can borrow money at rates low



51

enough so that they can do a rather simple arbitrage, profiting from the spread between
their cost of funds and what the MBS are yielding.

Now one might think that somehow buying back their MBS will have the effect of
lowering interest rates for mortgages, but this is not the case. Economists point out that
borrowing funds to buy back other credit instruments is simply a wash. It doesn’t have
any effect on mortgage rates, which are a product of all the funds available in the capital
markets.

Accordingly, what we have here is the classic case of privatizing the profits and
socializing the risk. Fannie and Freddie profit from arbitraging their government backing,
but the people really taking the risk are the taxpayers.

Accordingly, if Congress does not currently have the stomach for privatizing
Fannie and Freddie, it can at least reduce the risk they pose to taxpayers and to the
economy generally by prohibiting them from buying back the MBS they issue and from
holding a large portfolio of mortgages. Instead, their activities should be limited to
forming pools of mortgages and selling MBS that they guarantee. The risks on this—
which is simply credit risk—are far less than the interest rate risk they have been taking,
and it would have no effect on mortgage interest rates.

This is at least a temporary solution to the problems posed by Fannie Mae and
Freddie Mac. It significantly reduces the risk that these two enterprises currently create
for taxpayers and the economy, but it would not have any effect on interest rates on
conventional conforming mortgages.

That concludes my testimony, Mr. Chairman.
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by Bert Ely

I -- Introduction

Mr. Chairman, Ranking Member Akaka, and members of the Subcommittee, my
name is Bert Ely and I am here to testify today with regard to America's government-
sponsored enterprises, or GSEs. I am a financial institutions and monetary policy consultant
in Alexandria, Virginia, with a long-standing interest in GSE issues. I am testifying on my
own behalf today as I am not being paid for this appearance before the subcommittee.

While my testimony will focus on Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac, at times my
testimony will touch on three other GSEs -- the Federal Home Loan Bank System,
comprised of twelve Federal Home Loan Banks (FHLBs), the Farm Credit System (FCS),
comprised of 105 Farm Credit banks and associations, and Farmer Mac. I will not discuss
Sallie Mae, the sixth GSE, since it is well on its way towards being fully privatized. In the
interest of full disclosure, I consult on a regular basis to the American Bankers Association
with regard to FCS matters.

During my testimony this afternoon I will first briefly summarize the major
problems Fannie and Freddie pose today and then discuss what we do not know today about
the two companies. After discussing underlying problems caused by Fannie's and Freddie's
GSE status, I will analyze proposed tweaks to the GSEs. Many of these tweaks have merit,
but they are insufficient to solve the GSE problem. I will conclude my testimony by
discussing longer term solutions to the GSE problem, including my proposal for completing
privatizing Fannie, Freddie, and the other GSEs. Once the GSEs have been privatized, then
there will be no need for government oversight of GSEs, the topic of this afternoon’s
hearing.

During the course of my testimony, I will refer often to a paper I will present this
fall which will explain in great detail my proposal for fully privatizing Fannie and Freddie.
Time constraints and the preliminary state of that paper preclude a detailed discussion of my
privatization proposal this afternoon.

11 -- The Fannie/Freddie Problem Today

There has been ample discussion in recent months of the Fannie/Freddie problems
that exist today, so I will merely summarize them in my testimony. We must keep in mind,
though, that Fannie's and Freddie's problems, and problems with GSEs generally, will
continue to grow.
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A -- Relatively rapid growth, leading to increased market share and marketplace
tensions

The Fannie/Freddie problems today, and the broader GSE problem, stem from the
GSEs' relatively rapid growth. This growth has been facilitated by the numerous
congressionally granted privileges all GSEs enjoy. Growth in turn has been driven by
management desires to enhance the personal wealth of GSE executives as well as the wealth
of stockholders in the three stockholder-owned GSEs -- Fannie, Freddie, and Farmer Mac.
The two cooperatively owned GSEs -- the FHLBs and the FCS -- have seen rapid growth in
the compensation of their chief executive officers and others in senior management.

Higher executive compensation and rising GSE stock prices stem from the fact that
the GSEs have been gaining market share in their respective markets. Far from being docile
creatures and passive lenders of last resort in their markets, they have become aggressive
competitors capitalizing on their preferential GSE status. In order to continue their rapid
growth, the GSEs have repeatedly stretched their congressional charters, or missions, to find
new areas of business to dominate. Not only have Fannie and Freddie pushed the envelope
in the home mortgage lending field, but the FHLBs increasing compete with Fannie and
Freddie through the MPF (mortgage partnership finance) program, the FCS increasingly
finances non-farm activities and rural estates, and Farmer Mac has grown by providing
credit enhancements to FCS associations.

Had the GSEs stuck to their knitting and not tried to dominate the markets they
serve, we probably would not be here today discussing their problems and their fates. But,
as could be predicted of human beings playing on a field tilted in their favor, that has not
been the case. Hence today's hearing.

B -~ Increased systemic risk as Fannie and Freddie continue to grow

In addition to being unfair competitors, the GSEs pose increased systemic risk to the
U.S. financial system, and therefore to taxpayers, by virtue of their GSE status. Not only are
Fannie and Freddie in particular too big to fail, but should either company get into serious
financial trouble, Congress will surely ride to their rescue. The financial markets clearly
believe that Congress will rescue any troubled GSE, and more importantly its debt holders,
and for good reason -- Congress has done it twice before. Consequently, GSE debt carries
yields that liec between the Treasury yield curve and yields on highly rated corporate debt.
As the rating agencies readily admit, they award AAA ratings on GSE debt simply because
that debt has been issued by a GSE.

The first GSE rescue occurred in 1987, with congressional enactment of a $4 billion
line of credit for the FCS, which had been crippled by the collapse of farmland values in the
early and mid-1980s, following FCS inflation of a farmland bubble in the 1970s.!
Interestingly, the FCS bailout protected the equity contributions of its farmer owner-
borrowers in addition to FCS debt. It therefore is an open question if Congress would
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protect stockholders or subordinated debt holders in the three stockholder-owned GSEs if
one of them needed a congressional rescue.

The second GSE rescue occurred nine years later when Congress broadened the
assessment base for deposit insurance premiums levied to pay $800 million annually of
interest on bonds issued by the Financing Corporation, or FICO. FICO was a special
purpose corporation Congress created, in the Competitive Equality Banking Act of 1987, to
finance the early stages of the cleanup of the S&L debacle. FICO issued $8.17 billion of
bonds between 1987 and 1989, with interest on them to be paid from a special deposit
insurance assessment on S&L deposits. By 1996, shrinking deposits in a contracting S&L
industry fueled concerns that FICO would default on its interest payments, which were not
explicitly guaranteed by the federal government. Congress eliminated that default threat, in
the 1997 omnibus appropriations bill, by broadening the FICO assessment base to include
deposits in commercial and savings banks insured by the FDIC's Bank Insurance Fund.

The potential for a third GSE rescue has been heightened in recent weeks by the
troubling revelation of serious accounting problems at Freddie Mac. Should those problems
worsen, and extend to Freddie's risk-management practices, then a congressional rescue of
Freddie, and its Siamese twin, Fannie Mae, will become increasingly likely. The systemic
risk posed by these two companies was explored in "Nationalizing Mortgage Risk: The
Growth of Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac," a monograph my fellow witness, Peter Wallison,
and I wrote three years ago,2 This potential for a third GSE rescue, and steps which can be
taken to prevent it, should bring the GSE problem to the forefront of congressional concerns.

IH1 -- We Don't Fully Know What We Don't Know Today

Particularly troubling is that we don't fully know what we don't know today about
America's two biggest GSEs -- Fannie and Freddie. Freddie's recently disclosed accounting
problems should greatly heighten congressional concerns about what Congress, and the
public, do not know about these two companies.

A -- Freddie Mac's serious accounting problems

Freddie has been undergoing a slow strip-tease since January 22 of this year, when it
announced that it was being forced by its new outside auditors, PriceWaterhouseCoopers
(PwC), to restate its financial statements for 2000 and 2001 prior to issuing audited financial
statements for 2002.°> The news from Freddie has gotten only worse since then, culminating
in the June 6 termination of three top officers, including Freddie's long-time chief executive
officer (CEQ), Leland Brendsal, and its long-time chief operating officer, David Glenn. A
forthcoming investigative report by a law firm retained by the Audit Committee of Freddie
Mac's Board of Directors may reveal even greater accounting problems at Freddie Mac.

Since June 9, Freddie has disclosed the breadth of the reaudit now underway, which
encompasses "several hundred thousand securities records” reaching back into the 1990s*
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and the July 11 news report that Freddie will not complete its registration under the
Securities and Exchange Act of 1934 (1934 Act) until mid-2004, two years after Freddie
volunteered to register with the Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC) under that act.’
1 am puzzled, and troubled, that it will take Freddie nine months, or more, to complete its
registration with the SEC after it issues restated financial statements through 2002, which it
has claimed it will do by September 30 of this year. Perhaps Freddie's management is
setting us up for a further delay in the issuance of its restated financial statements. Congress
should demand that the new management at Freddie publish a detailed timetable for getting
Freddie registered under the 1934 Act.

This witness's accounting and financial experience, gained over almost four
decades, has been that the initial bad news about a company's financial problems is rarely the
last bad news. Instead, the strip-tease usually continues, as probers dig deeper and deeper
into the bowels of the troubled company's accounting. I am absolutely shocked, and
appalled, by the depth and scope of Freddie's accounting problems, as they have been
revealed to date, most recently in testimony last Thursday to the Senate Banking Committee
by Armando Falcon,’ the outgoing director of the Office of Federal Housing Enterprise
Oversight (OFHEO). OFHEQ is an independent agency within the Department of Housing
and Urban Development (HUD).

So far, Freddie's problems have been characterized as just accounting problems
driven solely by a desire to smooth eamings from one quarter to the next so as to maximize
Freddie's stock price, and therefore the compensation of its executives. However, despite
assertions by Director Falcon and Freddie officials, we should not be surprised if the
ongoing investigation of Freddie's finances reveals serious problems in Freddie's risk
management practices. Far from being the more conservatively managed of the Siamese
twins, as was widely believed, it appears that Freddie was possibly the more recklessly
managed company.

Concern that Freddie's problems might extend to its risk-management practices was
expressed quite strongly at last Thursday's Banking Committee hearing by Senator Jon
Corzine. As a former co-CEO of Goldman Sachs & Co., one of the largest and most
sophisticated investment banking firms in the world, Senator Corzine is perhaps better
placed than any other member of the United States Congress to express that concern. Mr.
Chairman, as an experienced banking lawyer, you, too, may share Senator Corzine's
concerns. Mr. Chairman and members of the Committee, prepare yourself for more bad
news, and perhaps much worse news, to spew from Freddie Mac.

At this time, it is difficult to believe that Fannie's accounting and risk-management
practices are flawless, or anywhere near flawless. Can we believe that of two fast-growing
companies which are so alike in many ways, one badly bungled its accounting while the
other has not? Hopefully OFHEO's just-announced review of Fannie's accounting practices
will give us some comfort in this regard.

B - Inadequate financial disclosures by both companies
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One reason we don't know what we don't know about Fannie as well as Freddie
stems from their inadequate financial disclosures. Despite their pretty annual reports,
financial statements issued in compliance with Generally Accepted Accounting Principles
(GAAP), table-ladened information statements, and now SEC filings in the case of Fannie,
there is much we do not know about the financial risks they have assumed, particularly the
risks associated with the interest-rate derivatives contracts they have entered. I will not
dwell on these material disclosure shortcomings in this testimony as I catalogued them in a
paper [ wrote last year, "Fannie Mae's and Freddie Mac's Financial Disclosures: How Do
They Stack Up." That paper, which I wrote for an American Enterprise Institute (AEI)
conference, is appended to this testimony.7

While Fannie boosts, and once upon a time Freddie boosted, about their compliance
with GAAP, the breadth of their financial and operational disclosures, and their voluntary
registration with the SEC (but only under the 1934 Act), it is not enough for these two
companies to match the financial and operational disclosures of genuine private-sector firms.

Instead, as GSEs which pose enormous systemic and taxpayer risks, Fannie and Freddie
should provide much more detailed and timely disclosures about their activities and financial
condition. In particular, Fannie should commit, as Freddie has done, to issue quarterly "fair
value" financial statements, as prescribed under Financial Accounting Standards (FAS) No.
107. Presently, FAS 107 disclosures have to be provided only annually, in a footnote to
audited financial statements. It was unfortunate that Tim Howard, Fannie's chief financial
officer, would not commit Fannie to quarterly FAS 107 disclosure statements during a July
15, 2003, conference call with stock analysts and investors.

C -- Insufficient disclosure comparability between Fannie and Freddie

Apart from inadequate financial and operational disclosures, there is a troubling
lack of comparability in the disclosures of the two companies. These two companies are
unlike any other financial firm in the world, yet their business strategies have converged
greatly in recent years until today, Freddie in many ways is Fannie times four-fifths. While
their top-level financial statements are sufficiently similar that they can be compared,
without too much work, their detailed disclosures, in financial statement footnotes and their
Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations,
are not, particularly with regard to their derivatives. Fannie will disclose information about
"A" but not "B" while Freddie will do the reverse. My 2002 AEI paper on Fannie's and
Freddie's financial disclosures discusses this lack of comparability on pages 7 to 10.

In addition to providing comparability on a much more detailed level, Fannie and
Freddie should provide extensive, comparable disclosures about meeting their obligations as
GSEs, notably their obligation to finance affordable housing. My 2002 AEI paper discusses
these unique disclosure obligations on pages 10 and 11.

D -- A flawed risk-based capital stress test for Fannie and Freddie



58

Director Falcon and others have tried to soothe congressional and public concerns
about Freddie's financial condition by stating that the financial restatement process now
underway will not, or in any event should not, alter the results of its quarterly risk-based
capital stress test. Fannie and Freddie are subjected to this test under a provision of the 1992
legislation which created OFHEO. Senator Corzine expressed great skepticism about this
assertion at last Thursday's hearing, causing Director Falcon to back off somewhat,
promising the rerun Freddie's past stress tests utilizing Freddie's restated financial
information.

What has not been challenged is the efficacy of the stress test itself. While OFHEO
has been diligent in implementing the test, which is prescribed in excessive detail in the
authorizing statute (12 U.S.C. §4611-14), the test is both outdated and too rigid, given its
statutory definition. Congress designed this test with the S&L fiasco fresh in mind, and
specifically the $123 billion taxpayer bailout of the late and little-lamented Federal Savings
and Loan Insurance Corporation (F SLIC)S. In particular, the test envisions as a key stress on
Fannie and Freddie a sudden and prolonged 600 basis point (6%) shift in interest rates over a
specified period of time and lesser shifts in interest rates over longer time periods. This
focus on massive interest-rate swings reflects the interest-rate history of the late 1970s and
early 1980s, when most of the maturity-mismatched S&L industry, as well as Fannie,
dropped into insolvency, on a market-value basis, as high interest rates devastated the
market value of their fixed-rate mortgages.

The stress test, to date, has been applied on a static basis. That is, the test assumes
that the GSE will not purchase any new mortgages during the 10-year "stress period," other
than those it already has committed to purchase (12 U.S.C. §4611(a)(3)(A)). In effect, the
GSE will be assumed to be operating in a wind-down or "run-off" mode. That is a highly
unrealistic assumption which ignores the impact on the housing marketplace if Fannie or
Freddie suddenly stopped purchasing mortgages or committing to do so. Assuming the GSE
would continue purchasing mortgages would have the effect of increasing its capital
requirement under the stress test because its total assets and outstanding guarantees would
increase due to the additional mortgage purchases. The OFHEQ Director may, after
conducting the appropriate studies, run the stress test based on the assumption that the GSE
will continue to purchase mortgages (12 U.S.C. §4611(a)(3)(B)), "additional new business."

However, that testing procedure has not yet been implemented.

The United States, and the industrialized world, operate in a very different interest-
rate environment today. In particular, the financial markets have become extremely
effective in crippling the ability of the Federal Reserve and other central banks in distorting
interest rates to serve political ends. Sadly, Japan remains an exception to this healthy trend.
Hence, the stresses upon Fannie and Freddie that Congress anticipated in 1992 are highly
unlikely to strike today or in the future. The financial events that trigger a future crisis will
have quite different roots, possibly in the financial derivatives Fannie and Freddie use to
hedge the substantial on-balance-sheet interest-rate risk they deliberately take to enhance
their profitability. The old saw, that generals always are fighting the last war, certainly
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applies to the Fannie/Freddie risk-based capital stress test Congress enacted eleven years
ago. Neither Congress nor anyone else should take comfort in that test today or in the
future.

IV -- The Underlying Problems Caused by GSE Status

Rather than dwell further on what we don't know about what we don't know about
Fannie and Freddie, I want to summarize many undetlying problems caused by the special
status, privileges, and benefits Congress has granted to the GSEs, and particularly to Fannie
and Freddie. T will explore these underlying problems in much greater depth in my
forthcoming paper on how to privatize Fannie and Freddie.

A - Yield curve arbitraging by virtue of being a GSE

All five GSEs finance their balance sheets in much the same manner that S&Ls did
before the interest-rate crisis of the early 1980s rendered most S&Ls, and Fannie,
temporarily insolvent (on a market-value basis), and in some cases, permanently insolvent.
That is, they borrow short and lend long, or to use a more technical term, they engage in
maturity mismatching. They then partially, but only partially, hedge the on-balance-sheet
risk which derives from maturity mismatching by entering into interest-rate derivatives
contracts, such as interest-rate swaps, swaptions (options on swaps contacts), interest-rate
caps, and basis swaps. Maturity mismatching is an especially profitable activity during
times, like recent years, when the interest rate yield curve is quite steep (short-term interest
rates are substantially lower than long-term rates) and when mortgage prepayments are
running at a high rate.”

While Fannie and Freddie do not publish an interest-rate "gap analysis" comparable
to the gap analysis provided by the FCS and private-sector banks and thrifts, the average
maturity of their short-term liabilities (due or repriceable within one year) can be estimated
from their balance sheets and statement of cash flows. During 2002, Fannie's short-term
debt accounted for 45% of its senior, unsecured debt. That short-term debt rolled over
approximately 4.5 times in 2002, suggesting an average maturity of 81 calendar days.
Freddie operated further down the yield curve in 2001 (2002 numbers are not yet available
due to the restatement process now underway). While short-term debt accounted for 44% of
Freddie's senior debt in 2001, it rolled that debt approximately 9.3 times during 2001, for an
average maturity of 39 calendar days. Fannie and Freddie pale, though, in comparison to
Farmer Mac, which in 2002 funded 67% of its balance sheet with short-term debt with an
average maturity of just 16 calendar days.

In my opinion, a private-sector mortgage investor could not safely operate today
with such a high degree of maturity mismatching. In fact, America's banks and thrifts
engage in much less maturity mismatching, and with higher capital levels, than do Fannie,
Freddie, and the other GSEs. 1 attribute the greater degree of maturity mismatching, and the
greater risk associated with that mismatching, to the GSE status of the five entities.
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B - America suffers from an inefficient housing finance system

A statement made repeatedly, by members of Congress, other public officials,
Fannie and Freddie, academics, and just about anyone else familiar with housing finance is
that America has a highly efficient housing finance system. My forthcoming paper on
privatizing Fannie and Freddie will challenge this widely held, almost religious belief.

In fact, America has an inefficient housing finance system, and an especially
inefficient mortgage refinancing process, stemming from its reliance upon the secondary
mortgage marketplace and the creation of mortgage-backed securities (MBS) to spread both
interest-rate risk and in some cases credit risk across the U.S. economy. Creating mortgages,
including refinance mortgages for sale and securitization in the secondary mortgage market,
is a very expensive process. In effect, substantial real resources are expended to move small
assets (mortgages) from mortgage originators to sources of debt capital. My forthcoming
paper will argue that it would be more efficient to move large blocks of long-term, fixed-rate
debt capital to mortgage originators who retain the ownership of the long-term, fixed-rate
mortgages they originate. This is especially true for refinance mortgages; the refinancing
process is simply a loan repricing, with perhaps a few thousands dollars tacked onto the loan
amount. A straight-forward loan repricing should not cost $1,500, or more, yet today it does
because the repriced loan must be saleable in the secondary mortgage market.

In my opinion, Fannie and Freddie have played a key role in fostering the secondary
mortgage market albatross that has saddled America with an inefficient housing finance
system. They do this in two ways -- first by arbitraging their GSE status, as discussed above,
and second, by arbitraging bank capital requirements through the lower capital requirements
under which they operate. Interestingly, the pending Basel II revision of bank capital
requirements, at least as they will apply to America's ten to twenty largest banks, will
significantly reduce Fannie's and Freddie's capital arbitraging opportunities. However, Basel
11, if it ever kicks in, will not take effect for at least five years, and perhaps much longer.

In other words, banks and thrifts, as major mortgage originators and potential
holders of long-term mortgages, operate at a competitive disadvantage to Fannie, Freddie,
and non-bank investors because, one, they do not enjoy the GSE funding and maturity
mismatching opportunities and, two, they have to hold more capital against their residential
mortgage assets. Consequently, tens of billions of dollars are being spent annually to
arbitrage artificial and unnecessary capital standards and the GSE concept. That is a terrible
and indefensible waste of scarce economic resources.

C -- GSEs distort capital flows within the U.S. economy

GSEs lower the cost of debt capital for those who can borrow from a GSE or whose
debt is secured by a GSE loan guarantee. This lower cost tilts capital flows towards those
sectors of the economy favored under the GSE authorizing legislation, notably housing and
to a much lesser extent, financially stronger segments of agriculture and rural America.
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Given that there is a finite amount of savings during any time period, this tilt toward GSE-
favored borrowing drains debt capital away from other sectors of the economy, notably the
productive sector; i.e., non-farm businesses. Little wonder then, that middle-class and
upper-middle-class Americans live in larger and larger homes amidst a growing urban
sprawl. These outcomes were not intended when the GSEs were created. Therefore, the
desirability of these outcomes should be subject for the first time to a political debate.

D -- GSEs tilt financial intermediation away from genuine private-sector firms

Less obvious than their distortion of capital flows is the steady shift underway in the
United States towards GSE financing and away from genuine private-sector financial
intermediation. Of course, officers and directors of the GSEs' private-sector competitors are
keenly aware of this shift, but they are few in number. Because GSEs are political creatures,
it is extremely difficult to correct this shift, as FM Policy Focus (formerly FM Watch) and
its allies have learned, to their great dismay.

Japan and Germany, with the world's second- and third-largest economies,
respectively, have financial intermediation systems even more heavily dominated by GSEs,
although they are not called that in those countries. Japan, of course, has its Postal Savings
System as well as several quasi-governmental financing entities, while Germany has several
thousand state and municipally controlled public savings banks and co-operative banks that
dominate German banking. It is not surprising that these two countries have deeply troubled
economies, and especially Japan, financed by even more deeply troubled banking systems
dominated by GSEs which have successfully resisted meaningful reform. China is an even
more extreme example, with a banking system dominated bg/ four large, state-owned banks
burdened with hundreds of billions of dollars of bad loans.'

While America's GSE problem has not reached Japanese or German proportions, the
trend is clearly in that direction. This trend must be reversed before it worsens. My
forthcoming paper on how to privatize Fannie and Freddie will explain how that reversal can
be executed.

E -- GSEs create marketplace rigidities that impair housing finance efficiency

Because of their statutory construct, Fannie and Freddie, as well as the other three
GSEs, represent relatively rigid features of the American financial landscape. They are not
subject to the market forces that ebb and flow through the economy, triggering the birth,
decline, disappearance, and rebirth of genuine private-sector entities. Hence, even as they
gobble up market share, capitalizing on their GSE status, the GSEs are largely exempt from
market forces constantly reshaping the financial institution landscape. Hence, market forces
cannot reshape the American financial system as freely as they should. Instead, market
forces have to work around the presence of the GSEs, as if the GSEs were boulders plopped
in the middle of a fast-flowing stream, distorting the currents coursing along. Marketplace
rigidities are costly, particularly because of the work-around factor. Whatever good a GSE
might initially provide, that good soon disappears as the marketplace adjusts to new realities.
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F -- Fannie and Freddie are inefficient in delivering a housing finance subsidy

Reports issued by the Congressional Budget Office (CBO) in 1996 and 2001
quantified the extreme inefficiency of Fannie and Freddie in delivering a housing finance
subsidy. Approximately 37% of the subsidy was consumed by Fannie and Freddie in 2000,
in terms of higher profits for their stockholders and higher compensation for their
executives''. The retained portion of the subsidy largely explains the substantial above-
market rates of return Fannie and Freddie consistently earn on their equity capital.

G -- Some portion of the housing finance subsidy may flow to home sellers

The CBO deliberately avoided the question of who within the homeownership
community receives the subsidy nof retained by Fannie and Freddie. That is, how much of
this subsidy flows to home purchasers, the intended recipient of the subsidy, versus sellers of
existing homes and builders of new homes? To the extent the Fannie/Freddie subsidy is
capitalized in housing prices, the subsidy flows to the sellers of homes, not purchasers. It is
extremely difficult to estimate the division of this subsidy between buyer and seller, but
housing prices do not have to rise very much to fully capitalize the subsidy, thereby shifting
all of it to sellers.

The widely accept estimate of the Fannie/Freddie subsidy is 1/4% to 3/8%. Thatis,
“conventional/conforming" mortgages purchased by Fannie and Freddie carry interest rates
that are lower by 1/4% to 3/8%. Given present interest rates for the typical 30-year, fixed-
rate mortgage, housing prices would have to rise just 2% to fully capitalize a 1/4% interest-
rate subsidy; a 3% rise would fully capitalize a 3/8% subsidy. The question of who actually
gets the Fannie/Freddie housing finance subsidy warrants a much closer examination.

H -- Only a small pertion of the Fannie/Freddie subsidy flows to individuals on the
cusp of home ownership

Fannie and Freddie widely advertise that they promote home ownership and have
played a significant role, if not the dominate role, in raising the home-ownership percentage,
a political goal that possibly ranks even higher than mom and apple pie. That is a highly
dubious assertion as much of the Fannie/Freddie subsidy flows to middle-class homebuyers
who have ample means to purchase a home without a financing subsidy (in part because they
have sufficient funds for a down payment).

A substantial portion of the subsidy flows to existing home owners who are buying
a larger, newer and/or better located home and to home owners who are refinancing the
mortgage on the home they presently own, and plan to keep. Of course, these home owners
already enjoy substantial tax benefits through tax deductions for interest paid on a home
mortgage and real estate taxes paid plus the exemption of the capital gain upon the sale of a
primary residence from the capital gains tax. This is another topic that warrants further
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investigation -- how much do Fannie and Freddie really help to raise the home ownership
percentage?

V -- Proposed Tweaks to the GSE Problem
Have Merit, But Are Insufficient

Numerous proposals have been put forth in recent years to rectify problems and
risks Fannie and Freddie pose. I will comment briefly on these proposals, all of which
represent tweaks on the operation and regulation of Fannie and Freddie rather than a major
alteration in their corporate status,

A -- Full SEC registration by Fannie and Freddie

Reps. Christopher Shays and Edward Markey have introduced H.R. 2022 to bring
Fannie and Freddie under the full scope of all SEC laws and regulations, and specifically the
Securities Act of 1933, governing the registration of securities offered for sale to the public,
and the Trust Indenture Act of 1939. This is a simple and easily executed reform, as
evidenced by the fact that H.R. 2022 is merely a seven-page bill. Among other objections,
Fannie and Freddie oppose paying SEC registration fees. However, a provision added to
this year's version of Shays-Markey would hold their SEC assessments to a reasonable
amount. Despite Fannie's and Freddie's vigorous protests, this is a straight-forward and
obvious reform, particularly in light of Freddie's extremely serious accounting problems.
Interestingly, Congress did not exempt Farmer Mac from SEC registration.

B -- Restructuring GSE regulation

Several proposals have surfaced that would restructure GSE regulation, or at least
for Fannie and Freddie. Rep. Richard Baker recently introduced H.R. 2575, which would
merge OFHEQ into the Office of Thrift Supervision, which would be renamed the Office of
Housing Finance Supervision, within the Treasury Department. Fannie's and Freddie's
mission regulation would continue with HUD. While this restructuring would place
OFHEO within a much larger financial agency, it makes little sense to combine GSE
regulation with the regulation of a set of private sector institutions, thrifts (savings and loans
and savings banks), operating increasingly as if they were commercial banks.

Rep. Ed Royce will soon introduce a bill that would merge OFHEO with the Federal
Housing Finance Board in a new office within Treasury. This is a sensible approach that
should be enhanced by also merging the Farm Credit Administration (FCA) into this new
agency. The FCA regulates the FCS and Farmer Mac. The new agency would then regulate
the five active and continuing GSEs, a concept Federal Reserve Chairman Alan Greenspan
endorsed last Wednesday.12
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Moving boxes around the government organization chart will not address the myriad
of problems associated with the GSEs, and Fannie and Freddie in particular. Much more
basic reforms are needed, as I will discuss in the last portion of my testimony today.

Further, the political battling surrounding exactly how to restructure GSE regulation could
drag on for several years. Therefore, it would be better to skip redrawing organization
charts and move directly to fundamental reform, as I will discuss shortly.

C - Increase OFHEOQO's budget and powers

On many occasions, most recently in his Senate Banking Committee testimony last
Thursday, Director Falcon has pleaded for a bigger budget and stronger enforcement
powers, as if that is all that is needed to solve the Fannie/Freddie problem. That seems to be
the lament of failed regulators -- I need more money and more enforcement power.
Interestingly, several members of the Senate Banking Committee expressed great skepticism
about the payoff of giving OFHEO a bigger annual budget. Exempting OFHEO from the
appropriations process does not address the question of how to determine the amount
OFHEO can levy on Fannie and Freddie to cover its expenses. It is unlikely that Fannie and
Freddie will accept the notion that OFHEO should have a blank check on their bank
accounts.

D -~ Eliminating state income tax exemptions

One of the many privileges Fannie and Freddie enjoy, along with the FHLBs and the
FCS, is an exemption from state income and franchise taxes. Profits the FCS earns from
loans secured by real estate also are exempt from federal income taxes; this is a particularly
indefensible exe:mption.13 Rep. Pete Stark recently proposed repealing this exemption for
Fannie and Freddie. 1t would be highly meritorious to repeal this tax exemption for all
GSEs, but that will be extremely difficult to accomplish in the present political environment.

E -- Repealing the so-called Treasury line of credit

Repealing the so-called Treasury line of credit that the stockholder-owned GSEs
have at the Treasury would be symbolic for Fannie and Freddie; it would have a similar
effect on the FHLBs but a more substantive effect on Farmer Mac. The Secretary of the
Treasury has statutory authorization, at his discretion, to purchase up to $2.25 billion each of
Fannie's and Freddie's debt, at a market rate of interest. This authority is granted,
respectively, under 12 U.S.C. §1719(c) and 12 U.S.C. §1455(c). The maximum amount of
the notes Treasury is authorized to purchase equaled .25% of Fannie's outstanding debt on
June 30, 2003, and .35% of Freddie's outstanding debt at December 31, 2002 (more recent
debt data is not available). Clearly, the funding Treasury could provide to either Fannie or
Freddie is minuscule relative to their outstanding debt and liquidity needs.

The Secretary of the Treasury is authorized, at his discretion, to purchase up to $4
billion of FHLB obligations. At March 31, 2003, that amount equaled .58% of outstanding
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FHLB notes and bonds. Farmer Mac can sell its notes to Treasury, up to a maximum of $1.5
billion, under a somewhat stronger line-of-credit arrangement. That amount equaled 39% of
Farmer Mac's outstanding debt on March 31, 2003, the latest date for which data is
available.

F -- Higher capital requirements for Fannie and Freddie

Numerous observers have suggested that Fannie and Freddie should operate with
higher capital levels; some even suggest applying the same capital requirements to Fannie
and Freddie as now apply to banks and thrifts. For leverage ratio purposes, which is higher
than the capital which has been required under the risk-based stress test I previously have
discussed, Fannie and Freddie have to hold equity capital equal to .45% of their credit risk
exposure and 2.05% of their interest-rate risk.

Higher capital levels have a surface appeal, but they might not have the intended
effect, for two reasons. First, because of their arbitrary nature, simple leverage ratio capital
requirements usually bear no relationship to the risks assumed. The risk-based stress test is
intended to cure this problem, but as I discussed previously, that has not necessarily
happened. Therefore, leverage capital ratios usually are too high or too low, depending on
the risks assumed. In effect, leverage capital ratios become something for management to
arbitrage against, in part by securitizing assets which the marketplace believes do not require
as much equity capital backing as required under a minimum leverage capital ratio.

Second, the present .45% leverage ratio for credit risk may in fact be adequate,
provided Fannie and Freddie do not assume excessive credit risk, as one can reasonably infer
from a 2001 Federal Reserve paper.14 Since a financial institution can assume little interest-
rate risk, if it so desires, I can easily envision situations where a 2.05% leverage capital ratio
is more than adequate to absorb that risk. As I noted previously, the proposed Basel 11
capital requirements effectively move bank capital ratios for residential mortgages towards
the present Fannie/Freddie leverage ratio capital requirements.

G -- Ending mission creep

Ending mission creep has been FM Policy Focus's principal policy objective, but
that is difficult to achieve in practice because of the difficulty of defining what is or is not a
new financial product. Even if armed with powerful pre-approval tools, there is always the
danger that the mission regulator will become "captured” by those it regulates.

H -- What happens if either Fannie or Freddie gets into really serious trouble

The greatest public policy challenge facing Congress at this time is what to do
should one of the housing GSEs begins to experience serious financial problems, for those
problems could spill over to the other GSEs. This spillover potential is greatest between
Fannie and Freddie. Freddie's recent accounting problems and management shake-up
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highlight this problem. The stronger enforcement and receivership powers Director Falcon
has requested for OFHEO would be grossly inadequate should either Fannie or Freddie
begin to experience liquidity problems or the financial marketplace loses confidence in the
GSE. OFHEOQ discussed this possibility (Scenario #3) with some candor in a report it issued
in February 2003."

VI -- Longer Term Solutions to the GSE problem

The GSE tweaking I have just discussed does not provide a long-term solution to the
GSE problem, a problem which is growing by the day. I have concluded that a complete
privatization of each GSE is the only true solution to the GSE problem. Sallie Mae is well
on its way to completing its privatization initiative. In 1999, I prepared a repoﬂ‘6 explaining
in some detail how the FCS could be privatized. The paper I am writing on how to privatize
Fannie and Freddie also will address the much easier privatization of the FHLBs. Farmer
Mac, which has total assets of just $4 billion, would not be a challenge to privatize. Before
discussing complete privatization, I need to address several issues.

A -- GSEs are anachronisms

If they did not exist today, would Congress create the GSEs? I doubt it, for the
political impediments which impaired the development of the banking marketplace during
most of the last century, sparking the creation of the GSEs, having largely disappeared. In
effect, one set of bad public policies, banking restrictions, fostered another set of bad public
policies, the creation of the GSEs. Branching restrictions, which have largely disappeared
over the last decade, were the main impediment in the 20th century to the development of a
modern U.S. banking system. Those restrictions have largely disappeared, making it much
easier to privatize the GSEs, and particularly Fannie and Freddie. The lifting of lending
restrictions, particularly on real estate lending, have further negated the need for GSEs.

B -- Containing/restraining the growth of Fannie and Freddie

As I have already noted, FM Policy Focus has taken the position that containing and
restraining Fannie's and Freddie's growth will cure the Fannie/Freddie problem. I strongly
disagree because FM Policy Focus's desire to curb Fannie and Freddie clashes violently with
their desire to grow faster than the residential mortgage market so as to maintain their past
rate of earnings growth, hopefully producing a steadily rising stock price. Fannie chief
financial officer Tim Howard made this point abundantly clear in a July 15 news release in
stating that "we will seek to accomplish this [core earnings per share] growth through
increases in the market shares of our two businesses, increases in our business margins, and
active management of our capital account.'” Given their enormous political clout, I believe
Fannie and Freddie will succeed in repelling FM Policy Focus's containment initiatives.

C -- Bar Fannie and Freddie from holding mortgages and MBS in portfolio
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The source of most of Fannie's and Freddie's earnings growth in recent years has
come from rapid growth in their mortgage portfolios. This growth has largely occurred
because Fannie and Freddie now buy back a substantial amount of the MBS they
manufacture. As of December 31, 2002, Fannie had purchased one-third of the MBS it had
issued as of that date. In so doing, they assume interest-rate risk, which represents the
primary risk facing the two companies today, as well as the systemic risk facing the U.S.
financial system. The complex derivatives contracts they enter into almost entirely hedge
interest-rate risk; relatively little credit risk is hedged through derivatives.

As many have noted, including the Congressional Research Service (CRS),18
Fannie's and Freddie's MBS buy-back programs do not advance affordable housing goals or
mortgage market liquidity one whit. The MBS buybacks serve just one purpose -- to boost
earnings growth. Therefore, barring Fannie and Freddie from owning mortgages or MBS,
beyond that which is needed to facilitate ongoing securitization activities, would help
mightily to reduce, if not eliminate the systemic risk these two companies pose. In effect,
this action would turn both GSEs into institutions strikingly similar to the Freddie Mac of
the 1970s. Limiting Fannie and Freddie to just the credit guarantee business might
encourage them to seek privatization, just as two legislative enactments in 1993 encouraged
Sallie Mae to take the privatization plunge.

D -- The merits of completely privatizing Fannie and Freddie

My forthcoming paper will discuss in great detail the merits of privatizing Fannie
and Freddie. Briefly, though, these benefits are as follows:

®Eliminate GSE risk to taxpayers.

®(Create a much more efficient housing finance system.

®Build a level competitive playing field among all housing finance firms.

®Create 2 more flexible and adaptive housing finance industry.

®Target delivery of the housing finance subsidy to just those home buyers on the
cusp of homeownership.

E -- The Ely privatization proposal for Fannie and Freddie

My forthcoming paper will lay out my Fannie/Freddie privatization proposal in great
detail. Specifically, it will explain how market forces can restructure the housing finance
marketplace so that the efficiencies of moving large blocks of debt capital to private-sector
mortgage originators can be fully captured. In particular, market forces, not arbitrary capital
regulations, would determine the amount of capital that institutional mortgage owners would
hold. The paper also will propose a housing finance tax credit, modeled on the Earned
Income Tax Credit, that will go only to those home buyers on the cusp of homeownership
and to existing homeowners experiencing temporary income declines. Finally, it will
address all-important transition issues as well as the privatization of the FHLBs.
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VII -- Conclusion

Mr. Chairman and members of the committee, I have appreciated the opportunity to
testify today on this extremely important issue. The time is fast approaching when Congress
must undertake fundamental reform of the GSEs by setting in motion the complete
privatization of these anachronistic entities. I look forward to your questions.
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Introduction

As Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac have grown into two of the United States' largest
financial institutions, as well as the country's two largest government-sponsored enterprises
(GSEs), there is increasing concern that investors, public officials, and the general public do
not know enough about the two GSEs' finances and scope of activities. These concerns
focus on the taxpayer risks they pose, the extent to which their activities exceed their
legislatively authorized mission, and the degree to which they are serving their public
mission.

This paper is divided into five sections. The first section explains why financial and
operational disclosures are important for any publicly held firm, and especially so in the case
of Fannie and Freddie. Good disclosure provides the financial transparency on which the
market discipline of companies is based. The second section of the paper considers what
constitutes adequate disclosure for a corporate owner of home mortgages.

The third section contrasts Fannie's and Freddie's financial disclosures with other
firms heavily involved in financing home mortgages. While far from exhaustive, this
contrast highlights significant differences in the disclosures by these two groups of
companies, which reflects in part material differences in the risks they have assumed.

The fourth section examines the comparability, or lack thereof, of Fannie's and
Freddie's financial disclosures. As Fannie and Freddie have grown more alike in financial
structure and operating style, presumably their financial and operational disclosures would
converge. In many ways, though, it is not easy to compare Fannie's financial disclosures
with Freddie's, and vice versa, which raises serious public policy questions.

The final section of the paper addresses disclosure issues that go beyond investor
concerns to legitimate concerns arising from their GSE status. These concerns include the
unique taxpayer risks posed by any GSE, the competitive threat Fannie and Freddie pose to
private-sector firms by virtue of their GSE privileges, and the adequacy of the manner in
which they are meeting their affordable housing goals.

Why Financial and Operational Disclosures Are Important
Financial and operational disclosures are like sunshine -- they provide a powerful
antiseptic that enhances corporate honesty and efficiency. The transparency arising from

these disclosures creates the environment for market discipline, which will function only as
well as the quality, quantity, and scope of a company's disclosures.

As Enron, and many, many other situations, have taught, the managements and
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board of directors of publicly held corporations cannot be trusted to perform as they should
or promise they will. Oversight must come from outside the corporation, in the form of
market discipline. Only by arming a corporation's publics with sufficient and timely
information can they properly oversee and discipline its management and directors should
they fail to perform adequately. Had there been sufficient disclosure of Enron's activities
and Habilities, it most likely would never have grown to the size it did nor blown up on such
a grand and destructive scale. The same holds true in other recent financial debacles, such
as Tyco, Adelphia Communications, and numerous telecoms and energy trading companies.

Disclosure obligations imposed on GSEs, particularly publicly held companies such
as Fannie and Freddie, must be far broader because of their unique, government-bequeathed
privileges and obligations. However much they may contend to the contrary, Fannie and
Freddie are not merely publicly held corporations accountable only to their stockholders.
Instead, Fannie and Freddie have a much broader accountability, to assure their private-
sector competitors that they are not abusing their GSE privileges to competitive advantage
and to assure Congress and the American public that they are fulfilling the affordable
housing mission that warrants their special privileges. These assurances can be achieved
only through sufficient financial and operational disclosures. Management claims that they
are doing right and doing good must be taken with the proverbial grain of salt.

Of course, sufficient disclosure is not enough. The various publics concerned about
Fannie's and Freddie's performance must analyze and act upon those disclosures. But
without sufficiently broad and detailed disclosures, there can be no basis for action.

What Constitutes Adequate Financial Disclosure
for a Corporate Owner of Home Mortgages

Financial disclosure serves several related purposes. First, a firm's financial
statements present its financial condition (balance sheet) and operating results (income
statement). The balance sheet reports, as of a certain date, the firm's assets and liabilities.
The difference between the two measures is net worth -- positive if assets exceed liabilities
and negative if the reverse is true. The endless battling over the accounting principles to
follow in measuring assets and liabilities does not negate the balance sheet's importance.

A firm's income statement reports financial results for a specified period of time (a
month, quarter, or year), specifically its sales or revenues and its expenses. The difference is
a profit, if revenues exceed expenses, or a loss, if the reverse is true. A profit also represents
the amount of capital the firm created during the period while a loss represents the amount
of capital destroyed. Statements of cash flows and stockholders' equity provide further
insights into the firm's finances as do footnotes to the financial statements.

Second, supplemental financial disclosures, such as those presented in a
management discussion and analysis of a firm's financial condition and results of operations,
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provide valuable insights into the financial risks a firm has undertaken that are not readily
evident from its financial statements. For example, while a firm's equity capital leverage
ratio (net worth divided by assets) can be calculated from a balance sheet, the amount of
interest rate risk it has assumed cannot be. Interest rate risk relates to differences between
the maturity of a firm's assets and its liabilities.

Likewise, credit risk cannot be assessed from balance sheet data. While two firms
may each report owning $1 billion of single-family home mortgages, the amount of credit
loss each portfolio will experience in the coming year could vary greatly, depending on a
wide variety of factors regarding both borrowers and the homes they have mortgaged.
These disclosures take the form of tables, charts, and explanatory text which can be linked
or reconciled with a firm's financial statements.

Companies that originate and/or own home mortgages face two fundamental
financial risks -- interest rate risk and credit risk -- that must be disclosed in sufficient detail
so that investors and other interested parties can assess the threat these risks pose to the
company's future earnings and financial solvency. These companies face a variety of
subordinate financial risks that also must be disclosed with sufficient detail, including
prepayment risk, basis risk, yield curve risk, lag risk, repricing risk, lifetime cap risk,
counterparty risk, market capacity risk, liquidity risk, and operational risk. A detailed
discussion of these subordinate risks lies beyond the scope of this paper.

Comparing Fannie and Freddie to Other Home Mortgage Owners

Fannie's and Freddie's financial disclosures cannot readily be compared to the
financial disclosures of their private-sector competitors because they have adopted a
business model reflecting their GSE status. That is, Fannie and Freddie have capitalized on
their GSE status by adopting a business model which differs significantly from the business
model their private-sector competitors can profitably follow.

In particular, GSE status gives Fannie and Freddie a decided competitive advantage
in assuming the interest rate risk of holding long-term, fixed rate mortgages on their balance
sheets. On a leverage ratio basis, Fannie and Freddie only have to maintain a 2.5% leverage
capital ratio for their on-balance-sheet assets while a bank or thrift has to maintain at least a
5% leverage capital ratio against its on-balance-sheet assets in order to be considered a well-
capitalized institution.

To avoid regulatory hassles, larger banks operate with leverage ratios well above the
5% minimum. At December 31, 2001, the 100 largest banks in the United States had an
unweighted median Tier 1 capital leverage ratio of 7.21%, almost three times as much as
Fannie's and Freddie's minimum capital ratio for their on-balance-sheet risks. The two
GSEs operate much closer to their minimum capital ratios than do banks and thrifts. On
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December 31, 2001, the amount of Fannie's core capital exceeded its minimum core capital
requirement by just 4.1%; Freddie exceeded its requirement by 4.4%. Apparently, Fannie
and Freddie feel more comfortable operating with a much thinner capital cushion over
regulatory minimums than do banks and thrifts. Perhaps Fannie and Freddie are less fearful
of their safety-and-soundness regulator, the Office of Federal Housing Enterprise Oversight
(OFHEO).

Fannie and Freddie also have a significant capital advantage (.45% versus a
minimum of 1.2%) in assuming the credit risk associated with guaranteeing securitized
mortgages, again because of their GSE status. On December 31, 2001, the nation's 100
largest banks had an unweighted median Tier 1 risk-based capital ratio of 9.23%. Beginning
in 2002, banking regulators have assigned a 20% risk weight to asset-backed and mortgage-
back securitizations rated AAA or AA.' Therefore, the unweighted median Tier | risk-
based capital requirement for guaranteeing high-quality asset securitizations among the 100
largest banks is 1.85% (9.23% x .2), which is four times the minimum capital ratio for
Fannie's and Freddie's off-balance-sheet risks.

Because of Fannie's and Freddie's extremely favorable capital treatment, their
private-sector competitors cannot earn a sufficiently high return on equity capital by owning
significant quantities of long-term, fixed-rate mortgages. They either have to sell those
mortgages to Fannie and Freddie or otherwise sell or securitize any such mortgages that they
originate. In effect, the GSEs' private-sector competitors originate long-term, fixed-rate
"conforming" mortgages and then pass the "hot potato” of the interest rate risk on these
mortgages to Fannie and Freddie. Banks and thrifts sell to Wall Street for subsequent
securitization "nonconforming"” long-term, fixed-rate mortgages, such as jumbo mortgages,
that they originate so as to shed their interest-rate risk on these mortgages.

Banks and thrifts retain two principal mortgage assets for themselves -- adjustable
rate mortgages (ARMs) and mortgage servicing rights (MSRs). MSRs are created when a
mortgage originator sells a mortgage but retains the right to service it. The asset value of an
MSR equals the estimated present value of future profits arising from the right to service the
mortgage.

ARMs largely hedge themselves in that they periodically reprice in line with interest
rate fluctuations. However, because ARMs do not reprice themselves precisely when
interest rates change or at the same magnitude of change, ARMs do carry a moderate
amount of interest-rate risk, specifically lag risk, basis risk, and repricing risk. MSRs are
subject to substantially the same interest-rate risks as the long-term, fixed-rate mortgages
being serviced, but the value of MSRs represents a modest dollar amount relative to the
amount of long-term, fixed-rate mortgages outstanding.

Comparing Fannie and Freddie with large private-sector mortgage originators
illustrates the difference in business models. At the end of 2601, ARMs accounted for just
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3% of Fannie's mortgage portfolio and 6% of Freddie's mortgage portfolio. Four private-
sector firms, representative of America's largest mortgage originators, invest much more
heavily in ARMs and other loans that reprice frequently, in line with changes in interest
rates.

Golden West, which owns World Savings, probably represents the purest ARM
lender among large thrifts. At December 31, 2001, its ARMS and variable-rate mortgage-
backed securities (MBS) accounted for 94% of its total loans and MBS; assets repricing
within a year accounted for 95% of its total interest-bearing assets. At Washington Mutual
(Wamu), the nation’s largest thrift, 73% of its loans repriced within one year as did 43% of
its securities. While only 44% of Charter One's interest-bearing assets repriced within one
year, as of December 31, 2001, its tangible equity capital financed almost all of its assets
maturing or repricing more than 10 years into the future. Countrywide Credit Industries, the
largest independent mortgage originator by far, sells almost of its mortgage production.
Most of the mortgages and MBS it owns at any point in time eventually will be sold.

The data on the three thrifts in the preceding paragraph comes from an extremely
useful disclosure that Fannie, Freddie, and Countrywide do not provide -- a table showing
the time frame within which the amount of the thrift's various categories of assets, liabilities,
and hedges are projected to mature or reprice. For example, Charter One broke out its
assets, liabilities, and hedging impact, as of the end of 2001, into six maturity/repricing
buckets -- 0-6 months, 7-12 months, 1-3 years, 3-5 years, 5-10 years, and over 10 years. For
cach time frame, the net amount of assets, liabilities, and hedges maturing or repricing in
that period is shown. This "repricing gap,” as Golden West calls it, is expressed in dollar
terms as well as a percentage of total assets for each time period and on a cumulative basis,
from the nearest time period to the furthest time period. This "gap analysis," as it is often
called, provides important insights into a financial institution's interest-rate risk. While
possibly not particularly relevant for Countrywide, it would be highly relevant for Fannie
and Freddie. Interestingly, another GSE, the Farm Credit System, does provide a gap
analysis, based on five repricing intervals, in the annual information statement it publishes.”

Fannie and Freddie do not do any mortgage servicing, so they do not own any MSR.
MSR accounts for just .1% of Golden West's assets because it sells very little of its
mortgage production. Countrywide is at the other end of the scale, with MSRs accounting
for 16.4% of its assets at the end of 2001. MSRs accounted for 2.6% of Wamu's assets and
4% of Charter One's assets on December 31, 2001. Not only do these four companies have
to hedge their MSRs, but also the uncapitalized MSR portion of the mortgages they have
originated, but not sold.

Fannie and Freddie use derivatives contracts (principally interest rate swaps) to lay
off a portion of their interest-rate risk on private-sector counterparties, which principally are
large banks and other financial institutions. The substantial funding cost advantage Fannie
and Freddie have over their private-sector competitors, by virtue of being GSE issuers of
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"agency" debt, provides them with the wherewithal to buy these swaps. That is, Fannie and
Freddie swap away a portion of the interest cost savings they enjoy as GSEs in order to
reduce their interest-rate risk. At the end of 2001, Freddie had $1.052 trillion of derivatives
contracts outstanding, which equalled $1.70 per dollar of its assets. Although 30% larger in
terms of total assets, on December 31, 2001, Fannie had half as much in derivatives
contracts outstanding, $533 billion, or $.67 per dollar of its assets.

The three thrifts mentioned above are much less dependent upon interest-rate swaps
and other types of derivatives to hedge their interest-rate risk because they own substantial
amounts of ARMs. At the end of 2001, Golden West had $723 million in swaps
outstanding, or 1.2 cents per dollar of assets. Wamu had $25.84 billion of outstanding
derivatives contracts, or 10.7 cents per asset dollar. Charter One fell in the middle, with
$1.68 billion of swaps outstanding, or 4.4 cents per dollar of assets. Countrywide was the
exception -- it had $32.8 billion of swaps and related derivatives outstanding on December
31, 2001, or $.88 per asset dollar. However, 80% of these derivatives hedged its MSR asset.

The impact of Financial Accounting Standard (FAS) No. 133 on the reported net
worth of Fannie and Freddie, when compared to the same four private-sector companies,
reinforces the dramatic differences between the business models and risk characteristics of
the two groups of companies. FAS 133, which first became effective in 2001, requires that
"all derivatives be recognized as either assets or liabilities on the balance sheet at their fair
value." Further, fair value gains or losses on derivatives qualifying as "cash flow hedges"
are reported, net of tax effects, as an adjustment to stockholders' equity rather then being
reflected in the firm's income statement.

Cash flow hedges hedge a company's "exposure to variability in the cash flows of a
recognized asset or liability, or of a forecasted transaction."® At the end of 2001, the initial
adoption of FAS 133 plus losses on cash flow hedges during 2001 reduced Fannie's
stockholder equity by 28.9%; Freddie's reduction was 29.9%. The three thrifts reported a
zero or insignificant impact of FAS 133 on stockholders' equity. Countrywide did not break
out the impact of FAS 133 from other components of its "other comprehensive loss" in
2001, which had the effect of reducing its stockholders’ equity by 2.9%. Although FAS 133
does not require any reporting of the offsetting balance sheet effect of cash flow hedges, the
net effect of Fannie's and Freddie's cash flow hedging on its net worth most likely is quite
substantial compared with its private-sector competitors. It would be useful if Fannie and
Freddie would disclose an estimate of that net effect.

Given how the mortgage marketplace has structured itself in the presence of Fannie
and Freddie, arguably they have become riskier institutions than banks and thrifts, for three
reasons. First, they operate with materially lower capital cushions. Second, their long-term,
fixed-rate assets largely are not self-hedging, as are ARMs. Third, they do not match-fund
their assets and liabilities because that is much less profitable than using derivatives to only
partially hedge their maturity mismatching.
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Due to the difference between the two business models, Fannie's and Freddie's
financial disclosures should not fully parallel the disclosure requirements of their private-
sector competitors. Disclosure comparability is further reduced by, one, the flexibility and
latitude that generally accept accounting principles and the concept of "materiality” give
corporate managements in constructing their financial disclosures and, two, the latitude
corporate managements have in establishing the format for presenting specific disclosures.
Consequently, as the next section of the paper discusses, greater attention must be focused
on improving the comparability of the financial disclosures of Fannie and Freddie with each
other.

Comparing Fannie and Freddie to Each Other

As discussed above, Fannie and Freddie are unique institutions because of their
GSE status. Although they started out with dramatically different business models -- Fannie
initially did not securitize mortgages while Freddie was largely a securitizer -- their business
models today are nearly identical. That is, each company has gravitated towards a business
model that seeks to maximize the benefits and profits of the nearly identical GSE charters
that they possess. Consequently, differences between the two companies pale in comparison
with their differences from private-sector financial firms.

Investors can gain a much better understanding of the risks each company poses by
being able to easily compare their financial and operational data. That cannot be done today
in any depth because specific data disclosures often are not directly comparable. Some
examples and citations below will illustrate this shortcoming.

If the Shays-Markey bill (H.R. 4071) is enacted, presumably the Securities and
Exchange Commission {(SEC) would pursue greater comparability in Fannie's and Freddie's
disclosures. In the meantime, there is no reason why OFHEO, Fannie's and Freddie's
regulator, could not mandate greater comparability between the two companies when it
concludes its "comprehensive review of the financial disclosure policies and practices of
Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac."” But instead of merely measuring "the disclosure practices
of [Fannie and Freddie] against those of other publicly traded companies to ensure [Fannie's
and Freddie's] practices are at least comparable, if not better, where axppropria\te,"6 OFHEO
should establish additional disclosure requirements that fully reveal, in a comparative
manner, Fannie's and Freddie's unique risks.

At the heart of the differences between Fannie's and Freddie’s disclosures is a
difference in interest-rate risk management philosophies. A recent Goldman-Sachs
memorandum characterized this difference as follows:

Freddie Mac's strategy is to pay today to insure long-term eamings growth
regardless of the interest rate environment; Fannie Mae is less willing to
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sacrifice current period earnings, instead trusting its ability to hedge some
future risks on an as needed basis.”

In effect, Fannie is willing to take greater long-term interest-rate risk than Freddie in order
to maintain its cherished earnings growth objective of doubling its earnings every five years.
This may be why, one, the notational amount of Fannie's pay-fixed interest rate swaps were
5.5 times the amount of its receive-fixed swaps at the end of 2001 while the comparable
ratio for Freddie was just 1.3 and, two, why Fannie generally has eamed a higher return on
its equity capital than Freddie has.

The Goldman-Sachs report provides this valuable insight regarding differences in
the interest-rate risk management philosophies of the two companies:

How does one understand the differences in interest rate risk management -
- and the significance of the differences -- between the two companies?
This task is made doubly difficult because the two companies talk about
and disclose their interest rate risk management philosophies differently and

[Emphasis supplied] For example, Fannie Mae discloses its duration gap.
Freddie Mac disclosures its risk in terms of [portfolio market value
sensitivity], which captures both duration and convexity risk. A reading of
the company's disclosures indicates that it stresses the portfolio differently
than does Fannie Mae to arrive at this value.

Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac are in the same business and the interest rate
risks they face are the same. They must be concerned with duration,
convexity and volatility risk and the impacts from changes in the yield
curve on prepayment behavior. So di i i

in. [empbhasis in the original]8

Fannie's and Freddie's disclosures regarding their counterparty risks provide an
excellent example of their disclosure shortcomings. Counterparties are large financial firms
(primarily banks) to whom Fannie and Freddie have shifted a substantial amount of their
interest-rate risk through various types of derivatives transactions. Counterparty risk nets
down to the credit risk or exposure that each GSE has with its individual counterparties.
That is, if the counterparty could not pay the amounts it was obligated to pay when called
upon, how much would it cost the GSE to replace the derivative contracts under which the
GSE was owed money. Fannie summarizes the credit risk associated with its derivative
activities in a table on page 66 of its 2001 annual report; Freddie provides similar, but not
identical, disclosures in Table 15 on page 40 of its 2001 annual report.

The credit rating of counterparties is critical to judging the credit risk they pose.
Freddie's table lists the number of counterparties it has and the notational amount of the
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derivative contracts outstanding by specific credit ratings (AAA, AA+, AA, AA-, A+, etc.).
Fannie's table is highly summarized -- it presents its counterparty data by broader credit
rating categories (AAA, AA, A, etc.) and does not provide the number of counterparties or
the notational amount of the derivative contracts with its counterparties. However, Fannie
provides a maturity distribution of the credit risk under its derivative contracts as well as the
netting effect of different contracts with the same counterparty while Freddie does not
provide that data. Neither company names its counterparties.

Freddie does note, though, on page 40 of its annual report (Table 15) that $391
billion of its derivatives (37% of its total derivatives) "consisted primarily of exchange-
traded derivatives." Exchange-traded derivatives do not have the counterparty risk
associated with the rest of Freddie's derivatives contracts, which are customized, over-the-
counter (OTC) contracts with named counterparties. Fannie does not provide any data
regarding the split between its exchange-traded and OTC derivatives contracts.

Fannie's and Freddie's counterparty disclosures reveal another disclosure
shortcoming -- the use of narrative text to present selected data in lieu of tables that present
a complete picture. Two examples will illustrate this point. While Freddie presented the
number of its derivatives counterparties in tabular form, Fannie presented selected
information in textual form, such as:

At December 31, 2001, eight counterparties represented approximately 78
percent of the total notational amount of outstanding derivatives
transactions, and each had a credit rating of A or better (70 percent of this
notatioxgxal amount was held by counterparties with a credit rating of AA or
better).

Interestingly, there was no discussion of the credit risk exposure these eight counterparties
posed to Fannie.

While Freddie provided more detail on its hedging in many regards than did Fannie,
its discussion of its 2001 hedging activity (page 80 of its 2001 annual report) provided a
dense narrative of its fair value hedges and cash value hedges. The author could not
reconcile the figures in that discussion with the total notational amount of Freddie's
outstanding derivatives on December 31, 2001. Fannie's 2001 annual report, on the other
hand, provided a clear tabular breakdown of its various types of derivatives between fair
value hedges and cash value hedges. Hopefully, OFHEO and eventually the SEC will
provide more specific guidance to Fannie and Freddie on the tabular presentation of their
financial disclosures.

Another aspect of Fannie's and Freddie's counterparty risk disclosures illustrates a
broader problem with their financial disclosures -- they merely presented snapshot data as of
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December 31, 2001. The use of snapshot data creates an incentive for Fannie and Freddie to
engage in "window dressing;" that is, to engineer financial transactions so that they present
exceptionally favorable numbers on the snapshot date. On numerous occasions in 2002,
Fannie and Freddie have bragged about how little credit exposure they had to their
counterparties at the end of the year, but how representative are those numbers of their credit
exposure over the course of 20017

Window dressing can be reduced to a great extent by requiring the publication of
data showing the minimum, maximum, and average amount of a particular value over a
period of time. For example, while Fannie reported that its net credit exposure to
counterparties was $110 million on December 31, 2001, its average and maximum exposure
during the year might have been much higher. The latter numbers would be much more
important to investors in assessing the earnings and solvency risk Fannie and Freddie pose.
Interestingly, at a recent financial services conference, Treasury Under Secretary Peter
Fisher recommended that all financial services firms provide range data, instead of just
snapshot numbers, in order to reduce the window-dressing problem.

Unique Disclosure Issues for Fannie and Freddie

As Fannie and Freddie readily admit, and often boast, they have been endowed with
a public mission in the housing arena, specifically to promote affordable home ownership.
Hence, the two companies have a broader accountability than do private-sector corporations.
Further, as congressional creatures, the two GSEs are implicitly backed by the federal
government, which creates a taxpa}ler risk not present in private corporations or even in
federally insured banks and thrifts.© The 1987 taxpayer bailout of the Farm Credit System
made federal backing of all GSEs quite explicit. Therefore, Fannie's and Freddie's financial
and operational disclosures must not only meet investor needs, which they presently do not,
but they also must provide the data needed to fully assess their taxpayer risk and the degree
to which they fulfill their public mission.

Arguably, expanded disclosures sufficient to inform Fannie and Freddie investors,
both debt and equity, about the risks they face should be adequate to assess the taxpayer risk
Fannie and Freddie pose. That is an issue to address once their investor disclosures are
improved and made much more comparable.

As Fannie and Freddie have grown, affordable housing advocates have repeatedly
complained that Fannie and Freddie are not doing enough to meet the affordable housing
finance goals that Congress has established for them. Various studies by neutral parties
generally support this opinion. The affordable housing advocates should be asked to offer
specific recommendations to OFHEO and the SEC for more detailed disclosures by the two
GSEs on their affordable housing activities.
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For example, Fannie and Freddie could be required to disclose income, net worth,
| credit score ranges of the borrowers whose loans they purchased or guaranteed. Also,
rage home appraisal values could be shown for loans with loan-to-values (1.TV) falling
rarious ranges. Presently, Fannie and Freddie show LTV data for loans at origination and
rently outstanding, as of the end of the year, while Fannie also provides LTV data on
ns originated during the year. However, it is not possible to relate the LTV data to
rowers' income, wealth, or home value. Does Fannie's or Freddie's purchase of a
)0,000 mortgage on a $350,000 home owned by a family with an annual income of
10,000 and a net worth of $700,000 constitute the financing of affordable housing? More
ailed disclosures about the housing and income characteristics of the borrowers whose
rtgages Fannie and Freddie are purchasing or guaranteeing would provide greater insight
» their success, or lack thereof, in fulfilling their affordable housing mission.

More detailed disclosures also could provide answers as to whether or not Fannie
| Freddie are expanding beyond their mission, and in so doing, trampling on their private-
tor competitors. A more detailed breakdown of their revenues would be helpful,
ticularly the fees they charge for loan origination services, such as fees the two GSEs
tect for use of their automated loan underwriting systems. As with the affordable
ising issue, Fannie's and Freddie's competitors should be called upon to specify the
npetition-oriented disclosures the two GSEs should begin to make.

Conclusion

While Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac profess to disclose substantial amounts of
incial and operational data, a close examination of their disclosures reveals many
rtcomings, given their special status as GSEs. Further, it is difficult, and often
»ossible, to compare specific disclosures the two companies make. While one will
slose "A" but not "B," the other will disclose "B" but not "A." Both GSEs should
slose both "A" and "B" as well as "C," "D," and perhaps even an "E." However, it is not
sonable to expect Fannie and Freddie to voluntarily expand and conform their financial
| operational disclosures. That task must fall to their regulatory masters. In the first
tance, that would be OFHEQ, with encouragement and possibly guidance from the SEC
| the Treasury Department. Upon passage of the Shays-Markey bill, the SEC would
ume the primary responsibility for expanding and improving Fannie's and Freddie's
acial and operational disclosures.

dnotes

>rior to 2002, these guarantees were subject to a 100% risk weight, which gave Fannie and Freddie an even gre
wpetitive advantage as guarantors.

*arm Credit System Annual Information Statement for 2001, table on pg. 42.
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.. Fannie Mae 2001 Annual Report, pg. 54.

4.. Financial Accounting Standard No. 133, paragraph 4.b.

5.. News Release, Office of Federal Housing Enterprise Oversight, April 8, 2002.
6.. Ibid.

7.. Mortgage Finance & Specialty Finance: Interest Rate Risk Management Survey, Goldman Sachs,
May 7, 2002, pg. 38.

8.. Inid,, pg. 47.
9.. Fannie Mae 2001 Annual Report, pg. 66.

10.. Contrary to frequent assertions by Fannie and Freddie officials, taxpayers are not directly exposed to a risk of loss
federally insured banks and thrifts. Instead, in the afiermath of the S&L. debacle, Congress restructured the financing
federal deposit insurance to ensure that healthy banks and thrifts will, through deposit insurance assessments, pay
whatever expense the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation incurs in protecting insured depositors against loss. No
similar insurance or cross-guarantee mechanism exists for the GSEs. Hence, taxpayers are directly at risk should a GS
become insolvent or nearly so, as the 1987 bailout of the Farm Credit System so clearly demonstrated.
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Testimony of W. Michael House
Executive Director
FM Policy Focus
Before the
Senate Governmental Affairs Committee
Subcommittee on Financial Management, the Budget and International Security
Hearing
Oversight on Government Sponsored Enterprises:
The Risks and Benefits to Consumers
Mouday, July 21, 2003
2:00 p.m.

Chairman Fitzgerald, Sen. Akaka, and Members of the Subcommittee: my name is Mike House.
I am the Executive Director of FM Policy Focus, a coalition of seven associations of financial
services companies actively engaged in the mortgage industry. Our members include the
American Financial Services Association; the Association of Financial Guaranty Insurers; the
Consumer Bankers Association; the Consumer Mortgage Coalition; the Financial Services
Roundtable; the Mortgage Insurance Companies of America; and the National Home Equity
Mortgage Association.

Together, we are proud to be a vital part of an industry that helps millions of Americans realize
the American Dream of homeownership each year. On behaif of our members, I want to thank
you for the opportunity to participate in this important and timely hearing. 1 bring a special
greeting on behalf of our Chairman, former Congressman J.C. Waits, who regrets that he could
not be here today.

It is hard to believe, but Alan Greenspan was 12 years old, the average home cost less than
35,000 and America had just 48 states when Congress first decided to use taxpayer dollars in
1938 to subsidize an organization to support the secondary mortgage market. It was a genuine
example of vision on the part of Congress, and our members strongly support the continuing
secondary mortgage market mission of Fannie Mae and its sibling Freddie Mac.

The members of FM Policy Focus have some of the most enviable jobs in the industry: They get
to sit across the table from new homeowners and see the looks on people’s faces when they are
handed the keys to their new homes for the first time. As it should be in a nation built on free
enterprise, homeownership and affordable housing are driven overwhelmingly by the private
sector. But while we sit on the front lines, it is a strength of our system that Fannie Mae and
Freddie Mac buy the mortgages that our members originate and insure, freeing up even more
capital to put more Americans in their own homes.

For that reason, Congress continues to subsidize Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac each vear to the
tune of about $10.6 billion, according to a 2002 Congressional Budget Office analysis.

FM Policy Focus strongly supports maintaining the special relationship and the special
responsibilities of these government-sponsored enterprises (GSEs) in the nation’s mortgage
markets. When in full compliance with their charters, the GSEs do provide this vital function of
sustaining a liquid secondary mortgage market, which is the healthiest in the world.
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The problem is that for Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac to be in full compliance with their charters
and fulfill their congressionally-mandated mission, they need effective government oversight —
oversight founded on the same three principles that guide the oversight of the world’s largest
banks and make up the three pillars of the Basel Accord: namely, sound capital, effective
supervision, and market discipline from enhanced disclosure.

From where we sit today, Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac are 0-for-3.

Together, they are weakly regulated by an under-staffed, under-funded agency. They hold 20-50
percent of the capital required by bank regulators for depository institutions holding mortgages.
And they are the only two publicly traded companies in the Fortune 500 that are exempt from
routine Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC) disclosures required to ensure transparency
and standards of investor accountability.

If this combination were present at a private institution, its customers, debt-holders and
stockholders would be at great risk in the event of failure. But since Fannie Mae and Freddie
Mac are government-sponsored enterprises, which are perceived to be backed by the Federal
Treasury, it is taxpayers that would be on the hook to bail out Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac in
the event of failure. In one fell swoop, taxpayers could go from being in the dark about Fannie
Mae and Freddie Mac’s operations to being in the red trying to bail them out.

Given that Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac carry about $1.5 trillion in debt between them today, the
failure of either one of them could potentially make the savings and loan crisis of a decade ago
look minor.

All of our members are proud to be partners of Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac. But like any good
partners — just like any good friends -- we tell our partners when we think they’re wrong. FM
Policy Focus makes it a priority to alert the public to actions of Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac that
benefit the interests of their investors at the expense of homebuyers and taxpayers. We support
market competition that results in increased access to affordable housing for consumers. We
support federal policies that do not allow the GSEs to move beyond their unique charters to deat
directly with homebuyers and consumers or into markets well served by the truly private sector.
And we support Federal policies that prevent taxpayer exposure to unnecessary risks that could
require a massive bailout.

FM Policy Focus believes Congress should enact legislation this year that will bring greater
accountability and transparency to the GSEs and their operations, while reducing the risk to
taxpayers. We believe that any reform bill should:

e Strengthen GSE regulation by moving this responsibility from the Department of
Housing and Urban Development (HUD) to the Department of the Treasury;

» Make the new regulator a member of the Federal Financial Institutions Examination
Council (FFEIC);

* Provide the new regulator with powers comparable to those available to bank regulators,
including the approval of new products and activities;



85

e Require that GSEs hold bank-like capital;

o Fund the new regulator through assessments on the GSEs, comparable to those
supervisory fees which fund bank regulators;

¢ Tighten the national affordable housing standard that now applies to the GSEs by making
that standard apply within individual metropolitan statistical areas;

o Repeal Fannie Mae’s and Freddie Mac’s exemptions from the Securities Act of 1933 and
the Securities Exchange Act of 1934;

e Repeal the GSEs’ exemption from the privacy provisions which, under Gramm-Leach-
Bliley, apply to all other financial institutions;

e In the context of maintaining a liquid secondary market and adequate capital, cap the
amount of their own and each other’s mortgage-backed securities (MBS) which the GSEs
may hold in their own portfolios;

o Limit the GSEs’ non-mission portfolio assets and investments;

e Cap the amount of debt the GSEs may issue without seeking Treasury approval; and

¢ Establish a clear limit on the GSEs’ business activities to a strictly secondary market role
that prohibits encroachment into primary market activity.

We recommend these changes together because none is adequate by itself.
A Single Strong Regulator

The GSEs are complicated financial giants: they have $1.6 trillion in combined assets; $1.4
trillion in retained mortgages in portfolio; $1.5 trillion in outstanding debt; and $1.5 trillion in
notional derivatives. In addition, outstanding mortgage-backed securities guaranteed by the
GSEs, but held by third parties, total $1.7 trillion.

Every day, Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac behave in the same way as other large financial
institations: they trade, borrow, and raise capital in the world’s debt and equity markets. Unlike
other large sophisticated financial institutions, the GSEs are subject to minimal regulatory
oversight. This creates systemic risk if something goes wrong because the ordinary market
disciplines — capital and disclosure among them — are not in place to create a buffer against GSE
risk.

In the private market, bank regulators of large financial institutions have an array of weapons in
their arsenal: minimum and core capital standards about twice as high as those imposed on the
GSEs, which bank regulators can raise still further as risk warrants; a panoply of supervisory
powers to stop any activity deemed unsafe or unsound, including executive compensation
practices or relations with third parties; authority to review and approve all new activities of
significance, with most proposed first for public comment to ensure the bank regulators know all
they need before a new line of business is allowed; the ability to put an insured depository into
receivership; and a variety of disclosures required by the bank regulators that are supplemented
by SEC-mandated disclosures of parent publicly traded companies.

The GSEs’ safety and soundness regulator, the Office of Federal Housing Enterprise Oversight
(OFHEOQ) has been given supervisory and examination powers over Fannie Mae and Freddie
Mac, but these are far less potent than those authorized for federal banking regulators. Congress
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did ask OFHEOQ in 1992 to govern not only the new minimum capital standards — about half
those imposed on banks for high-quality mortgages — but also to issue new risk-based capital
standards. Congress wisely required OFHEO to produce a risk-based capital rule for the housing
GSEs to establish how much capital they needed to survive a period of difficulty. Of course,
nine years later, OFHEO finally published a rule that ran nearly 700-plus dense and detailed
pages, ultimately raising more questions than it answered. As we know from the last few runs of
the OFHEO risk-based capital rules, it found acceptable for a GSE leverage ratios of 300:1 or
even more ~ hugely higher capital ratios than those accepted by U. S. and international bank
regulators for comparable mortgage-related risk.

Recent developments at Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac have further demonstrated the woeful
inadequacy of the current regulatory structure. In recent weeks, any doubts about the inadequacy
of GSE supervision must have been put to rest. Last year, Fannie Mae went far outside its own
self-imposed interest-rate risk standards, but OFHEO did not know about this until Fannie had to
tell the financial markets, and it only took action after House Capital Markets Subcommittee
Chairman Richard Baker demanded that it do so. Freddie Mac, of course, is embroiled in a
restatement for several years of its earnings. As OFHEOQ Director Armando Falcon made clear
in testimony on July 17, 2003 before the Senate Banking Committee, the regulatory agency was
woefully behind the firm’s own lax internal auditor and even now seems unaware of many key
issues affecting the long-term stability of Freddie Mac.

The remainder of GSE regulatory responsibilities, those related to setting affordable housing
goals and making certain that Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac meet those goals and engage only in
activities within their charter that are in the public interest and safe, was left to HUD.

The GSEs have a vital role to play in expanding access to mortgage finance. More than ten years
ago, Congress directed them to lead the market in promoting affordable housing, a mission
strongly endorsed by the members of FM Policy Focus.

Yet the GSEs lag the private sector in promoting affordable housing. Don’t just take my word
for it — there are 24 separate independent studies that prove that the full power and resources of
Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac are not being applied to their affordable housing mission today. I
have attached a list of these studies to this testimony.

Our members originate and insure the loans the GSEs buy, and we hope they will do more to
promote our own affordable housing activities, especially with regard to minority homebuyers.
Many members of FM Policy Focus are subject to the Community Reinvestment Act (CRA),
which requires a special focus on low- and moderate-income home purchasers. The GSEs today
do not buy many CRA loans, and we would like to work with them to do so, thereby enhancing
their affordable housing responsibilities.

Congress did not give the GSEs’ safety and soundness regulator power over new programs — in
sharp contrast to the mandate for bank regulators ratified as recently as the Gramm-Leach-Bliley
Act of 1999. Instead, HUD is currently required to provide prior approval for new GSE
programs. However, HUD has never implemented a meaningful new program review process.
Only once did it review a new program, and then only at the direct request of a Member of
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Congress. This failure has taken on new urgency: Most of the programs that the GSEs are
proposing today are new financial products, targeted directly to consumers, and more broadly
used for general consumer lending, rather than focusing on home mortgage finance for under-
served market segments. FM Policy Focus believes the GSEs' charter, though often vague,
confines Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac to the secondary mortgage market. Yet increasingly, over
the last ten years, Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac have engaged in a series of primary mortgage
market activities. This must not be allowed to continue.

Every outreach into broader and more complex financial products holds the potential of
undermining the safety and soundness of the GSEs. HUD is unfamiliar with the types of highly
complex transactions in which the GSEs engage and does not or cannot stop a GSE from
implementing risky ventures.

For example, Fannie Mae has launched itself into something it calls PaymentPower™, an entry
into high-risk consumer lending. At other large financial institutions, such transactions — even if
approved by a bank or insurance regulator — would require considerable capital and experienced
effective risk management, and draw the attention of dozens of experienced regulators looking
into every aspect of the new program.

But at present HUD has not more than seven people responsible for oversight, not just of the
PaymentPower™ program itself, but overseeing all of Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac’s activities.
Little wonder that HUD has so far taken no action PaymentPower™, Moreover, since Fannie
Mae and Freddie Mac are exempt from state insurance and consumer laws, even these reliable
consumer-oriented regulators have no standing to question PaymentPower™ or any other GSE
products.

It is clear from these examples and many more that Congress must enact legislation to reform the
regulation of the GSEs. They are simply too big to ignore. The current regulatory scheme is
bifurcated, weak, and subject to undue influence from the GSEs. FM Policy Focus recommends
that Congress replace the existing, ineffective regulatory regime with a strong single regulator,
which has all the attributes cited by Federal Reserve Chairman Alan Greenspan in his testimony
before the Senate Banking Committee on July 16, 2003, namely: expertise, regulatory authority,
and powers strong enough to keep the GSEs safe and sound.

We think it makes the most sense to move these functions to the place where this kind of
regulatory expertise already resides: the Department of the Treasury. At FM Policy Focus, we
support a plan to move the GSEs’ regulator from HUD to an independent agency within
Treasury comparable to, but separate from, the Office of Thrift Supervision and the Office of the
Comptroller of the Currency -~ with authority over safety and soundness, mission and affordable
housing. The new regulator should also join other banking regulators as a member of the FFEIC.

We urge that these responsibilities be moved outside the appropriations process, relying instead
as banking regulators do, on the assessment of fees on Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac.

We want to reiterate that we believe such a regulator should approve new activities for the GSEs
only after determining that the new activity fulfills the GSEs’ primary missions of providing a
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liquid secondary market and promoting the availability of affordable mortgage finance. Any
new program, activity or investment should be approved only after a process comparable to that
used by the banking regulators: first, there should be a broad proposal about the activity to
ensure that the regulator receives a full range of views on it; then, any GSE wishing to use the
new power should give the regulator prior notice that provides ample information on its financial
and managerial capability to engage in the new activity. In all cases, the new activity or
investment should be allowed only if, as under current law, it is consistent with the GSE charter,
in the public interest and found to be safe and sound.

Require Bank-Like Capital

Second, we believe that the GSEs should be required to have capital similar to that imposed by
the Federal Reserve on large bank holdings of comparable mortgage risk — that is, bank-like
capital.

It’s no mystery why capital is important ~ when crises flare in the financial markets, a strong
capital base makes any institution better able to weather a storm without running the risk of
permanent injury to itself or to the taxpayer. Sufficient capital helps protect against mistakes and
unpredictable circumstances.

Consider what happened with the savings and loan industry in the 1980s. S&Ls grew
increasingly larger, entering new lines of business, while sitting atop an ever-shrinking capital
base. When things went badly, taxpayers were left on the hook to the tune of $250 billion or
more. In turn, Congress wisely instituted minimum capital standards for banks and saving
associations, and further required that only well-capitalized firms could become financial holding
companies.

But today, Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac are allowed to operate on a capital base that doesn’t
even measure up to the capital held by S&Ls in the 1980s before the crash, let alone after the
reform.

As William Poole, President of the Federal Reserve Bank of St. Louis, pointed out in remarks at
an OFHEO Symposium in March of this year, the low GSE capital base is especially dangerous
because:

Capital is especially important for the GSEs because their short-term obligations are
large. Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac have debt obligations due within one year of about
45 percent of their debt liabilities. Any problem in the capital markets affecting these
firms could become very large, very quickly. What might ‘very quickly’ mean? Because
of the scale of the short-term obligations of the GSEs, the GSEs are rolling over many
billions of dollars of obligations each week. For this reason, a market crisis could
become acute in a matter of day, or even hours.

In other words, as Thomas Schatz, President of Citizens Against Government Waste, said in
testimony before the House Capital Markets Subcommittee on June 25, 2003, “the risks posed by
Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac are more dangerous than those posed by the Federal Home Loan
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Banks because Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac are so large, so thinly capitalized, and so dominant
in their field.”

We concur with Federal Reserve Chairman Greenspan, who states in an April letter that:

...the existence, or even the perception, of government financial support for financial
institutions undermines the effectiveness of market discipline. Thus, in the case of the
housing-related GSEs — Fannie Mae, Freddie Mac, and the Federal Home Loan Banks ~
to ensure that these institutions do not pose a systemic threat regulators cannot rely
wholly on market discipline and must assess whether these institutions hold appropriate
amounts of capital relative to the risks they assume and the costs they might impose on
others, including taxpayers.

More Disclosure Should Be Required

As I mentioned earlier, with their special status, Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac are the only two
publicly traded companies in the Fortune 500 that are exempt from regulation by the SEC.

A year ago, under pressure from Congress, Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac agreed to register their
equities under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 with the SEC and adhere to the agency’s
annual and quarterly financial reporting rules. Fannie Mae followed through and registered early
this year; Freddie Mac still has not done so and recently said it did not expect to do so before the
middle of next year, nearly two years after making its original promise.

This agreement, worked out by the GSEs with the Treasury, the SEC, and OFHEO, was touted
by the GSEs as being a “voluntary” commitment, yet one which was arrived at after months of
bitter resistance to making any such commitment. Moreover, we question the GSEs’ good faith
as they simultaneously asked for and received No-Action letters from the SEC, detailing all the
provisions of the securities laws which still do not apply. Copies of those letters are also
attached to this staternent.

We have seen the folly of such “voluntary” agreements. Freddie Mac has volunteered to tell us
very little of what got it ~ and potentially the taxpayers - in trouble.

The reason Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac enjoy this special treatment is because they remain
exempt from the Securities Act of 1933, which would require Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac to
register their mortgage-backed securities and debt offerings. They continue to remain exempt
from key provisions of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, including the rules governing
tender offers and public reporting of trades by insiders. A chart comparing the application of
these laws to other publicly traded companies and to the GSEs is attached to this testimony.

At a time when the rest of corporate America is subject to stringent review of its activities, the
GSEs continue to operate as islands of their own.

We think this is a prime case where the government should lead by example: send the right
message to investors and the rest of corporate America, and require full disclosure and full SEC
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registration by the GSEs of all their securities. Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac protest that such
compliance will have adverse affects. But we agree with the findings of a joint study by the
Treasury Department, OFHEOQ, and the SEC this past February, which concluded:

The Task Force finds more persuasive the argument of other investors and market
participants who counter that any adverse affects from additional disclosure would be
short-term, and ultimately be outweighed by the benefits of greater information flowing
into, and therefore more informed analysis of, the MBS market.

This view has been supported in recent months by the Congressional Budget Office and Moody’s
Investor Service, both of which argued that disclosure would not disrupt the secondary mortgage
market. It’s time to let the sun shine in on Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac.

FM Policy Focus also supports disclosure to the GSE regulator through quarterly reports like
bank “call reports.” Such disclosure would be made even stronger if regulators demanded stand-
alone ratings from the rating agencies to truly assess GSE risk. A stand-alone rating means the
rating that would be given to Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac as if they were completely private
enterprises, with no tie to the Federal government. Current ratings incorporate unlimited access
to debt markets because of the GSEs’ special status. For investors looking to compare apples to
apples in this market, stand-alone ratings would be a valuable source of information.

Taken together, the appointment of a single strong regulator, the requirement of bank-like
capital, and the requirement of full disclosure would dramatically improve oversight of Fannie
Mae and Freddie Mac in a way that would more ably protect taxpayers from the possibility of
potential systemic risk, and would bring the GSEs more in line with the standards that apply to
every other large financial institution.

Benefits For Consumers and Taxpayers

It’s been said that homeownership is the triple crown of social policy — helping people buy their
own homes is great economic policy, with housing and housing-related activities contributing
20 percent to our GDP; it is good social policy, because homes frame families, which are the
building blocks of our society; and it is great community policy, because nothing builds stronger
neighborhoods where people care about what happens on their street and look after each other
like homeownership — whether it’s the South Bronx, South Alabama, or Southern California.
That’s why our members are so proud to play a vital role in this industry.

The changes I’ve outlined here today are a win-win for consumers and taxpayers as well. For
consumers, effective regulation and oversight of the GSEs mean lower mortgage costs — because
better regulation and more capital is good for purchasers of GSE debt and MBS who will be
willing to accept lower interest rates on GSE debt and MBS, knowing that there is more real
capital and protection behind each bond and GSE-guaranteed mortgage-backed security. Lower
interest rates demanded by bond and mortgage-backed securities purchasers mean lower capital
costs for the GSEs, which the GSEs can then pass through to borrowers.
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Improved regulation can only usher in an expanded focus on affordabie housing, because a
unified regulator is in a better position to require the GSEs to address the mission they so
proudly profess in their television commercials, rather than trying to boost earnings through
artificial accounting or other high-risk ventures.

Finally, improved regulation offers the best deal for taxpayers. Higher capital and more careful
regulation mean the taxpayer will less likely be asked to pick up the implicit federal guarantee of
the GSEs. In turn, a stronger housing finance system -- with GSEs focusing on maintaining a
liquid secondary market and not moving into other high-risk businesses currently well-served by
the private market — will advance economic development across the country.

Closing
In closing, Mr. Chairman, the members of FM Policy Focus urge Congress to take an active role
to ensure that an appropriate new regulatory structure is crafted, and that all views have a chance

to be heard. We're grateful for your leadership on this point, and for your insistence that several
points of view be included here today.
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Home | Previous Page

U.S. Securities and Exchange Commissio

Exchange Act of 1934 - Section 12(g)
No Action, Interpretive and/or Exemptive Letter:
Federal National Mortgage Association
July 12, 2002

Response of the Office of the Chief Counse!
Division of Corporation Finance

Re: Federal National Mortgage Association
Incoming letter dated July 12, 2002

Based on the facts presented in your letter, the Division of Corporation
Finance concurs in the views expressed in your letter regarding the effect of
voluntary registration under Section 12(g) of the Securities Exchange Act of
1934 on the treatment of Fannie Mae and its securities under the Securities
Act of 1933, the Exchange Act and the Trust Indenture Act of 1939.

The Division of Market Regulation has asked us to inform you that, based
on the facts presented in your letter, the Division of Market Regulation
concurs in the views expressed in your letter regarding the effect of
voluntary registration under Section 12(g) of the Exchange Act on the
treatment of Fannie Mae and its securities under the Exchange Act,

The Division of Investment Management has asked us to inform you that,
based on the facts presented in your letter, the Division of Investment
Management concurs in the views expressed in your letter regarding the
effect of voluntary registration under Section 12(g) of the Exchange Act on
the treatment of Fannie Mae and its securities under the Investment
Company Act of 1940.

The above positions are based solely on the facts presented in your letter.
Any different facts or circumstances might require another conclusion.

Sincerely,

Martin P. Dunn
Deputy Director

Incoming Letter:
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July 12, 2002

Martin Dunn, Esqg.

Deputy Director

Division of Corporation Finance
Securities and Exchange Commission
450 Fifth Street, N.W.

Washington, D.C., 20549

Dear Mr. Dunn:

As we have indicated previously, Fannie Mae is considering registering
voluntarily its common stock under Section 12(g) of the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934, While we already make available to investors a very
substantial amount of information through periodic disclosures, we are not
required to file periodic reports with the SEC because our Charter Act
provides that all securities issued or guaranteed by Fannie Mae "shall, to
the same extent as securities which are direct obligations of or obligations
guaranteed as to principal or interest by the United States, be deemed to
be exempt securities within the meaning of laws administered by the
Securities and Exchange Commission." Voluntary Exchange Act registration
will obligate Fannie Mae, pursuant to Section 12 and the rules thereunder,
to file periodic reports with the SEC. Voluntary Exchange Act registration
will also subject Fannie Mae to the provisions of the Exchange Act, and to
the SEC's enforcement jurisdiction thereunder, applicable to issuers with
securities registered under Section 12(g), except where the Exchange Act
or the rules thereunder explicitly exclude "exempted securities.”

Once the registration of our common stock becomes effective, the only
means for termination of our Section 12(g) registration will be as provided
in Section 12(g)(4) and Exchange Act Rule 12g-4. Fannie Mae also will
recommend that our Board of Directors adopt an amendment to our Bylaws
to the effect that Fannie Mae shall take no action in furtherance of
termination of Exchange Act registration without unanimous action of all
members of our Board of Directors then in office.

In connection with voluntary registration of our common stock under the
Exchange Act, we are seeking the staff's concurrence with our views that
voluntary registration will not cause any alteration of the existing treatment
of Fannie Mae with regard to whether:

s Securities issued or guaranteed by Fannie Mae are exempt securities
under the Securities Act of 1933 and may be sold without registration
under the Securities Act;

Securities issued or guaranteed by Fannie Mae are exempted
securities and government securities under the Exchange Act;

o Fannie Mae is excluded from the definitions of "government securities
broker" and "government securities dealer" under the Exchange Act;

» Debt securities issued or guaranteed by Fannie Mae are government
securities for purposes of Rule 15¢3-1(c)(2){vi)(A) under the
Exchange Act;
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Securities issued or guaranteed as to principal or interest by Fannie
Mae are government securities for purposes of the Investment
Company Act of 1940;

Fannie Mae is an agency, authority or instrumentality of the United
States for purposes of the Investment Company Act;

Since the Trust Indenture Act of 1939 does not apply to securities
issued by Fannie Mae, the Federal Reserve Banks may remain the
fiscal agent of Fannie Mae, and no independent trustee is required,
for Fannie Mae's unsecured debt securities or mortgage-backed
securities;

Sections 14(a) and 14(c) of the Exchange Act are inapplicable to
Fannie Mae.l

Section 16 of the Exchange Act is inapplicable to Fannie Mae's
officers, directors and shareholders;2 and

The provisions of Regulation 14E of the Exchange Act are inapplicable
to Fannie Mae and Fannie Mae securities,

We are also seeking the staff's concurrence with our view that, once our
registration under Section 12(g) is effective:

o Holders of 5% or more of Fannie Mae's common stock will be subject
to Sections 13(d) and 13(g) of the Exchange Act and will be required
to make any required filings on Schedule 13D or Schedule 13G; and

» Bidders for 5% or more of Fannie Mae's common stock will be subject
to Sections 14(d) and 14(f) of the Exchange Act and will be required
to make the appropriate filings thereunder,

If you have any questions on any of these issues, please do not hesitate to

contact us. All of us at Fannie Mae are looking forward to working with you
on our voluntary registration and required continuing disclosures.

Very truly yours,

Ann M. Kappler

11f we register our common stock under Section 12(g) of the Exchange Act, we
intend to prepare our proxy statement in accordance with SEC requirements and
to file our proxy statements with the SEC. Exchange Act Form 10-K permits
incarporation by reference of information from filed proxy statements into Part 111
of that form. Those proxy statements must be filed within 120 days after the end
of the reporting company’s fiscal year end. We will file a Form 8-K containing that
Part II1 information within that time frame and incorporate that information by
reference into the Form 10-K. Based on our discussions with the staff of the SEC,
we understand that we may follow this procedure.

2 If we register our common stock under Section 12(g) of the Exchange Act, we
will file with the SEC reports of our officers and directors under our Securities
Transactions Supervision Program, which follows the provisions of Exchange Act
Section 16,
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.S, Securities and Exchange Commissio

Exchange Act of 1934 ~ Section 12(g)
No Action, Interpretive and/or Exemptive Letter:
Federal Home Loan Mortgage Corporation
July 12, 2002

Response of the Office of the Chief Counsel
Division of Corporation Finance

Re: Federal Home Loan Mortgage Corporation
Incoming letter dated July 12, 2002

Based on the facts presented in your letter, the Division of Corporation
Finance concurs in the views expressed in your letter regarding the effect of
voluntary registration under Section 12(g) of the Securities Exchange Act of
1934 on the treatment of Freddie Mac and its securities under the
Securities Act of 1933, the Exchange Act and the Trust Indenture Act of
1939,

The Division of Market Regulation has asked us to inform you that, based
on the facts presented in your letter, the Division of Market Regulation
concurs in the views expressed in your letter regarding the effect of
voluntary registration under Section 12(g) of the Exchange Act on the
treatment of Freddie Mac and its securities under the Exchange Act.

The Division of Investment Management has asked us to inform you that,
based on the facts presented in your letter, the Division of Investment
Management concurs in the views expressed in your letter regarding the
effect of voluntary registration under Section 12(g) of the Exchange Act on
the treatment of Freddie Mac and its securities under the Investment
Company Act of 1940.

The above positions are based solely on the facts presented in your jetter.
Any different facts or circumstances might require another conclusion.

Sincerely,

Martin P. Dunn
Deputy Director

Incoming Letter:
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July 12, 2002
VIA FAX AND COURIER

Martin P. Dunn, Esq.

Deputy Director, Division of
Corpoeration Finance

Securities and Exchange Commission

450 Fifth Street, N.W.

Washington, D.C. 20549

Dear Mr. Dunn:

As we have indicated previously, Freddie Mac is considering registering
voluntarily its common stock under Section 12(g) of the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934 ("Exchange Act"). While we already make available
to investors a very substantial amount of information through periodic
disclosures, we are not required to file periodic reports with the SEC
because our Charter Act provides that all securities issued or guaranteed by
Freddie Mac "shall, to the same extent as securities that are direct
obligations of or obligations guaranteed as to principal or interest by the
United States, be deemed to be exempt securities within the meaning of
the laws administered by the Securities and Exchange Commission.”
Voluntary Exchange Act registration will obligate Freddie Mac, pursuant to
Section 13 and the rules thereunder, to file periodic reports with the SEC.
Voluntary Exchange Act registration will also subject Freddie Mac to the
provisions of the Exchange Act, and to the SEC's enforcement jurisdiction
thereunder, applicable to issuers with securities registered under Section 12
(g), except where the Exchange Act or the rules thereunder explicitly
exclude "exempted securities.”

Once the registration of our common stock becomes effective, the only
means for termination of our Section 12(g) registration will be as provided
in Section 12(g){4) and Exchange Act Rule 12g-4. Freddie Mac also will
recommend that our Board of Directors adopt an amendment to our Bylaws
to the effect that Freddie Mac shall take no action in furtherance of
termination of Exchange Act registration without unanimous action of all
members of our Board of Directors then in office.

In connection with voluntary registration of our common stock under the
Exchange Act, we are seeking the staff's concurrence with our views that
voluntary registration will not cause any alteration of the existing treatment
of Freddie Mac with regard to whether:

« Securities issued or guaranteed by Freddie Mac are exempt securities
under the Securities Act of 1933 ("Securities Act") and may be sold
without registration under the Securities Act;

e Securities issued or guaranteed by Freddie Mac are exempted
securities and government securities under the Exchange Act;

» Freddie Mac is excluded from the definitions of "government
securities broker”" and "government securities dealer” under the
Exchange Act;
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o Debt securities issued or guaranteed by Freddie Mac are government
securities for purposes of Rule 15¢3-1{c)(2)(vi}{A} under the
Exchange Act;

» Securities issued or guaranteed as to principal or interest by Freddie
Mac are government securities for purposes of the Investment
Company Act of 1940,

« Freddie Mac is an agency, authority or instrumentality of the United
States for purposes of the Investment Company Act;

Since the Trust Indenture Act of 1939 does not apply to securities
issued by Freddie Mac, the Federal Reserve Banks may remain the
fiscal agent of Freddie Mac, and no independent trustee is required,
for Freddie Mac's unsecured debt securities or mortgage-backed
securities;

Sections 14(a) and 14(c) of the Exchange Act are inapplicable to
Freddie Mac;?

Section 16 of the Exchange Act is inapplicable to Freddie Mac's
officers, directors and shareholders;? and

L3

« The provisions of Regulation 14E of the Exchange Act are inapplicable
to Freddie Mac and Freddie Mac securities.

We are also seeking the staff's concurrence with our view that, once our
registration under Section 12(g) is effective:

« Holders of 5% or more of Freddie Mac's common stock will be subject
to Sections 13(d) and 13(g) of the Exchange Act and will be reguired
to make any required filings on Schedule 13D or Schedule 13G;

Bidders for 5% or more of Freddie Mac's common stock will be
subject to Sections 14{d) and 14(f) of the Exchange Act and will be
required to make the appropriate filings thereunder; and

If applicable, Freddie Mac will cause its Thrift/401(k) Savings Plan to
file Annual Reports on Form 11-K with respect to the Freddie Mac
Stock Fund offered as an investment option under the Plan,

If you have any questions on any of these issues, please do not hesitate to
contact us. All of us at Freddie Mac are looking forward to working with you
on our voluntary registration and required continuing disclosures.

Very truly yours,

Stephen L. Dinces
Vice President and Deputy General Counsel

1 If we register our common stock under Section 12{(g) of the Exchange Act, we
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intend to prepare our proxy statement in accordance with SEC requirements and
to file our proxy statements with the SEC. Exchange Act Form 10-K permits
incorporation by reference of information from filed proxy statements into Part III
of that form. Those proxy statements must be filed within 120 days after the end
of the reporting company's fisca!l year end. We will file a Form 8-K containing that
Part III information within that time frame and incorporate that information by
reference into the Form 10-K. Based on our discussions with the staff aof the SEC,
we understand that we may follow this procedure.

2 If we register our common stock under Section 12(g) of the Exchange Act, we
will file with the SEC reports of our officers and directors under our Securities
Trading Policy, which follows the provisions of Exchange Act Section 16.
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SECURITIES

ACT OF 1933

! Disclosure Statute

Registration of all offers and sales of
securities, unless exemption available

Antifraud {no exemptions]

! Application to the GSEs
' Not applicable, due to available exemption

| Applicable {but only to disclosures chosen to
- be made]

- Disclosure Requirements for Registrants

Registration forms specify disclosures
to be included in offering prospectus

Abbreviated registration forms
available to seasoned issuers

Shelf registration available for rapid
offerings by seasoned issuers

- If registration exemption eliminated:

(1) Would have to conform to SEC prospectus k
| disclosure requirements

} (2) Would be eligible to use abbreviated
registration forms [thereby allowing relatively
brief prospectuses] :

(3) Would be eligible for shelf registration
and add-on registration {thereby eliminating
most timing concerns)

SEC Processing
IPOs always reviewed

Other offerings reviewed on selective
basis [less than 15% reviewed fully]

IPO review not applicable

SEC unlikely to review more than a handful
of MBS and other offerings annually

Registration fees (§6(b)) [expected to
be lower in future years]

Offering expenses [accounting, legal,
printing, etc.]

If registration exemption eliminated:

Registration fees would apply, but would be
capped for all companies by HR 2022

Additional offering expenses, due to added
costs of dealing with SEC

Liability
- Strict liability for false or misleading
filings by issuer

Administrative sanctions [C&D orders,
injunctions, fines] available for major
violations

i

i Liability currently a concern only if
. disclosures are materially false or misleading

i

Damages limited to difference between

price paid and current value [ If re

|
] Would also be liable for material failure to
| conform to affirmative disclosure

| requirements of applicable registration form

gistration exemption eliminated:

Prepared by Peter J. Romeo. Partner, Hogan & Harston LLP
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SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

General Framework
- Regulation of markets
- Trading Restrictions

- Disclosure réquirements [for public
companies and their insiders]

. Application to the GSEs
! Limited applicability [SEC and NYSE]

" Limited applicability (see below)
 Not applicable (see below)

Trading Restrictions

- Antifraud [Rule 10b-5 - no
exemptions]

- Short-swing profit disgorgement, short
sale prohibition [insiders under § 16}

Applicable

Not applicable to insiders, who are free to buy
and sell without restrictions applicable to i
other public company insiders

¢

Disclosure Requirements
- Registration [§12] [for public
companies]

- Periodic reporting [§§ 13 and 15(d)]
- Proxy [§14(a)]

- Tender offers [§§ 13 and 14(e)]

- 5% Owners [§ 13(d)]

- Officers, directors and 10% owners

[§ 16]

Not applicable, due to exemption i

Not applicable, due to exemption
| Not applicable, due to exemption
Not applicable, due to exemption
‘\ Not applicable, due to exemption

Not applicable, due to exemption

SEC Processing
- Selective review of filings [less than
15%)

If exemption eliminated, SEC likely to review
filings once every two years

Costs
- No SEC fees

- Preparation and filing expenses

Preparation expenses may increase, due to
need to conform to SEC requirements

- Liability for losses due to fraud

- Administrative sanctions available
[C&D orders, injunctions, fines]

| Liability a concern only if disclosures are
materially false or misieading

Propared by Peter 1. Romeo, Partner, Hogan & Harston LLP
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The CapAnalysis Group, LLC 202-383-7411
1299 Pennsylvania Avenue, N.W. FAX: 202-383‘-66\0
Washington, D.C. 20004-2402 www.capanalysis.com

James C. Miller i
Chairman

DIRECT: 202-383-6633
milieriim @ capanalysis.com

PREPARED STATEMENT
of
James C. Miller {li
before the
Subcommittee on Financial Management,
the Budget, and International Security
of the
Committee on Governmental Affairs
United States Senate
July 21, 2003

Mr. Chairman, Senator Akaka, and other Members of the committee: thank you
for inviting me to participate in this hearing. As you may know, | served as Director of
the Office of Management and Budget (1985-1988) and as Chairman of the Federal
Trade Commission (1981-1985) during the Reagan Administration. Currently, | am
Chairman of The CapAnalysis Group, an economic, financial, and regulatory consulting
firm affiliated with the international law firm, Howrey, Simon, Amold, and White. In
addition, | am privileged to serve as a member of the Board of Governors of the U.S.
Postal Service, and | also serve as a consultant to Freddie Mac. A copy of my
curriculum vitae is attached to this statement.

The focus of this hearing, as | understand it, is on the benefits and costs of the
housing GSEs (government-sponsored enterprises). During the past several years |
have participated in two major studies that address this issue (at least in part). The
first, coauthored with Dr. James E. Pearce, vice president of Welch Consulting in
College Station, Texas, is an appraisal of the benefits and costs of Freddie Mac and
Fannie Mae’s work in facilitating the secondary loan market and lowering housing
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costs.” The second, produced by CapAnalysis, addresses the stringency of OFHEO's
(Office of Federal Housing Enterprise Oversight's) new tisk-based capital stress test -
as a measure of how confident we might be in the safety and soundness of the two
housing GSEs (Freddie Mac and Fannie Mae) that are required to meet.” Both studies
are attached to this statement.

Benefits and Costs of Freddie Mac and Fannie Mae's Mortgage Program

In our analysis of the benefits and costs of Freddie Mac and Fannie Mae's roles
in the secondary mortgage market, Dr. Pearce and | found that they save American
consumers between $8.4 billion and $23.5 billion per year in the form of lower mortgage
costs. We also found that the funding advantage these GSEs derive from their nexus
with the federal government amounts to between $2.3 billion and $7.0 billion per year.
We computed ranges for each, to be conservative and because of different data
sources and different plausible methodologies. Notably, however, the lowest estimate
for consumer benefits exceeds the highest estimate of funding advantage.

In brief, we obtained our estimate of the benefits from Freddie Mac and Fannie
Mae's operations by comparing mortgage rates at the upper end of the conforming loan
limit ($240 thousand, in 1998), with morigage rates on mortgages exceeding this limit.
The data show clearly that where Freddie Mac and Fannie Mae are allowed to operate,
mortgage rates are at least 24 basis points lower. And although Freddie and Fannie
cannot operate in the higher-end (Yjumbo™ market, they have an indirect effect,
reducing those mortgage rates at least 5 basis points. This translates into significant
savings for consumers overall — between $8.4 billion and $23.5 billion annually. Since
there are other consumer benefits that we could not quantify — such as the
maintenance of liquidity in mortgage markets during turbulent times and the expansion
of home ownership among minority citizens — these figures should be viewed as lower-
bound estimates of the benefits associated with these two GSEs.

Although the federal government does not guarantee Freddie Mac and Fannie
Mae’'s debt, some presume these GSEs, like certain other financial institutions, are “too
big to fail,” and for this reason and because of their nexus with the federal government,
their cost of borrowing is less than it is for financial institutions generally. Dr. Pearce
and | estimated this funding advantage by comparing these GSEs’ cost of funds with
the costs incurred by others. We found that with respect to short-term debt, Freddie
Mac and Fannie Mae enjoy a funding advantage of between 10 and 20 basis points.
On long-term debt, the advantage is between 10 and 40 basis points. And for
mortgage-backed securities, the funding advantage is between 10 and 30 basis points.

" James E. Pearce and James C. Miller 1, Freddie Mac and Fannie Mag: Their Funding Advantage and
Benefits to Consumers, January 9, 2001.

*The CapAnalysis Group, OFHEQ Risk-Based Capital Stress Test Applied to 1.8, Thrift Industry, March
17, 2003.

-2-
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Given the distribution of debt at the time (September 2000), this implied an overall
funding advantage of between $2.3 billion and $7.0 billion annually.

Note that in this approach, we measure benefits and costs directly. We do not
assume, as some have (including the Congressional Budget Office), that somehow
there is a “federal subsidy” to these institutions — only some of which they pass through
to consumers. Under this second approach, anytime the estimate of benefits to
consumers exceeds the estimate of funding advantage to the enterprises, one has the
implausible task of explaining how this can be when these GSEs more than cover costs
and provide a return to stockholders each year. The fact that such a surprising result is
possible with this methodology means that it is fatally flawed.

Freddie Mac and Fannie Mae's Safety and Soundnesss

As are other major financial institutions, Freddie Mac and Fannie Mae are
subject to regulations designed to assure their safety and soundness. The basic idea is
to make sure such institutions are capitalized sufficiently to weather “hard times.”
Recently, after an extended period of development, OFHEOQO issued a new risk-based
capital stress test to apply to these two GSEs. This test goes beyond the approach
currently applied to federally-insured institutions, which is based on simple ratios of
capital to assets. The new test is designed to measure whether an institution can
sustain an extended period of stress and incorporates not only capital-to-asset ratios
but takes into account the nature of the institution’s assets and liabilities.

Because when this new risk-based capital test was announced some questions
were raised about its overall stringency, Freddie Mac sought to give it a real-worid test
by applying it to the thrift industry — as if it were one large firm. So, the question was:
would the thrift industry meet the new OFHEO risk-based capital test? In performing
this test, Freddie Mac asked The CapAnalysis Group to consult with it and to audit its
application of the OFHEO standards and its interpretation of the results.

The OFHEO risk-based capital test simulates how the institution in question
would cope over a ten-year period with a rapid and dramatic rise in interest rates, and
also how it would cope with a separate (alternative) ten-year period in which interest
rates decline rapidly and dramatically. Under both interest rate scenarios, housing
prices are assumed to fall calamitously nationwide, causing a serious deterioration in
the (credit) quality of the institutions’s mortgages. To pass the test, the institution must
remain solvent under both scenarios.

Using publicly-available data, Freddie Mac applied the OFHEO risk-based stress
test to the thrift industry, making reasonable, and conservative assumptions where the
specifics of the available data required some qualifying to fit the OFHEOQO standard. The
result was that the thrift industry failed the test. While it survived the falling- (interest)
rate scenario, it failed the test 7.5 years into the rising-rate environment. The thrift

-3
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industry’s initial capital ($76 biliion) is $32 billion short of what it would need to survive
this rising-rate part of the test.

The purpose here is to demonstrate the stringency of the new risk-based capital
test applied by OFHEOQ rather than to question the stringency of the thrift industry’s
current capital standards.

Concluding Remarks

The housing industry is enabled by an extraordinarily comprehensive mortgage
industry which, in tumn, is facilitated by the activities of the housing GSEs, primarily
Freddie Mac and Fannie Mae. The U.S housing finance market has few rivals. This is
a record about which we should be proud — and on which we can build.

Housing has been particularly important in recent years, where it has been an
exceptionally vigorous part of the U.S. economy. Freddie Mac and Fannie Mae have
enabled and encouraged this growth.

All institutions — public and private — may be improved, and the housing GSEs
are no exception. But as one who has evaluated my share of both in the past, it is clear
that Freddie Mac and Fannie Mae have performed superbly in carrying out their
Congressional mandate to promote home ownership.
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Executive Summary

The benefits that American consumers derive from the activities of Freddie Mac and Fannie
Mae and the advantages these private corporations receive from their federal charters are central
issues in the public discussion of their role in the housing finance system. At the request of
Freddie Mac, we independently analyzed a 1996 report that the Congressional Budget Office
prepared on this subject (the “1996 Study™) and then addressed the benefits to consumers and to

the corporations.

% We first find that the 1996 Study both understated the consumer benefits and overstated the
firms’ advantage in borrowing funds (the “funding advantage”). The study used faulty data

and inappropriate methodology.

.
!

% We estimate that Freddie Mac and Fannie Mae generate interest-cost savings for American
consumers ranging from at least $8.4 billion to $23.5 billion per year. In contrast, we
estimate that the value Freddie Mac and Fannie Mae indirectly receive from federal
sponsorship in the form of their funding advantage ranges from $2.3 billion to §7.0 billion
annually. Thus, even using the lowest estimate of consumer benefits and the highest estimate
of the funding advantage in our range of estimates, the value of consumer interest-cost
savings resulting from Freddie Mac and Fannie Mae’s activities significantly exceeds the

value of their funding advantage.

= Freddie Mac and Fannie Mae also provide benefits beyond those that can be quantified in
terms of savings on mortgage interest expense by homeowners. These include the
maintenance of liquidity in the mortgage market during periods of financial turbulence
and the expansion of homeownership opportunities for low-income and minority

families. No attempt to quantify these additional consumer benefits was made here.

< We also find that federal sponsorship of Freddie Mac and Fannie Mae provides a “second
best” structure for a housing finance system assurning that the “first best” system would have

no government involvement at all. This is because Freddie Mac and Fannie Mae supply
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housing finance more efficiently than could the depositories alone. Banks and thrifts receive
federal support in the form of deposit insurance, access to Federal Reserve Bank liquidity,
and Federal Home Loan Bank advances and as a result they have an average cost of funds

Tower than Freddie Mac and Fannie Mae.

In summary, the 1996 Study was deficient in many respects. A more accurate approach
shows that, under current federal sponsorship of Freddie Mac and Fannie Mae, consumers

receive benefits significantly greater than the funding advantage received by the two

corporations.
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L Introduction

Congressman Richard Baker (R-LA), Chairman of the Subcommittee on Capital Markets,
Securities and Government Sponsored Enterprises of the Committee on Banking and Financial
Services of the U.S. House of Representatives, has requested that the Congressional Budget
Office (“CBO”) update its 1996 estimates on the funding advantage and benefits to families
resulting from Freddie Mac and Fannie Mae’s activities (the “1996 Study™).! The 1996 Study
attempted to quantify the advantages that Freddie Mac and Fannie Mae derive from their
Congressional charters and the benefits Freddie Mac and Fannie Mae provide to consumers. The
Department of the Treasury, the Department of Housing and Urban Development, and the

General Accounting Office prepared similar studies.®

Freddie Mac and Fannie Mae are government-sponsored enterprises (“GSEs”) that play
an important rote in the secondary market for residential mortgages. Operating under essentially
identical federal charters, the two fims benefit from lower costs and larger scale than they would
have in the absence of federal sponsorship. Freddie Mac and Fannie Mae use these advantages
to reduce the cost of mortgage credit and provide other benefits to homeowners. The lower
yields they pay on their securities are often characterized as a “funding advantage” or even as a
“subsidy” when comparing Freddie Mac and Fannie Mae to purely private corporations that have
no nexus to the government. The 1996 Study attempted to quantify the funding advantage

resulting from federal sponsorship and the benefits conveyed to mortgage borrowers.

The 1996 Study generated substantial controversy. It was well received by those who
support a change in the charters of Freddie Mac and Fannie Mae. Others observed that the

analysis contained serious flaws that led to an understatement of the net benefits provided by the

‘Letter dated July 12, 2000 from Representative Richard H. Baker to Mr. Dan L. Crippen, Director, Congressional
Budget Office, requesting updates of estimates contained in Congressional Budget Office (1996).

2 Department of the Treasury (1996); Department of Housing and Urban Development (1996); and General
Accounting Office (1996).

(8]
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two housing enterprises. In anticipation of the forthcoming CBO report, we were asked by

Freddie Mac to review the 1996 Study and provide current anatyses.

In this report, we address these fundamental questions:

¢ Are there major errors in the 1996 Study, and, if so, what are they?

e ‘What are reasonable values for the funding advantage that Freddie Mac and Fannie Mae
receive and the benefits that Freddie Mac and Fannie Mae’s activities provide
consumers?

e Would consumners be better or worse off in the absence of federal sponsorship of Freddie

Mac and Fannie Mae?

These questions are answered in the following sections. Section Il addresses errors in the
data and methodology used in the 1996 Study. That study was deficient in many respects. We
find that it systematically overstated the funding advantage received by Freddie Mac and Fannie
Mae and understated the benefits to consumers. A repeat of these mis-measurements in the new
report would render its findings and conclusions without credible foundation. Section ITI
quantifies the funding advantage realized by Freddie Mac and Fannie Mae through their charter
relationship with the federal government. Section IV addresses the benefits provided to
consumers by the activities of Freddie Mac and Fannie Mae. We find that the benefits are much
greater than the funding advantage. Section V includes an analysis of the market for mortgage
credit and identifies certain efficiency-enhancing effects that follow from Freddie Mac and
Fannie Mae’s charters. We find that federal sponsorship of Freddie Mac and Fannie Mae
supplies housing finance more efficiently than would depositories alone. The final section

contains concluding remarks.

We find that the funding advantages and benefits must be expressed as ranges of
estimates rather than as particular values. This follows from the underlying changes in market
conditions over time and from the inability to obtain precise estimates of key relationships. Our
fundamental conclusion is unqualified, however. Under present institutional arrangements in the
mortgage lending industry, it would be a mistake to withdraw or curtail federal sponsorship of

Freddie Mac and Fannie Mae. Because of Freddie Mac and Fannie Mae, consumers enjoy
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savings on their mortgages that are substantially greater than the funding advantages that are

derived from Freddie Mac and Fannie Mae’s charters.

1L The Approach Used by CBO in 1996 Overstated the Funding Advantage and
Understated Benefits to Consumers

The CBO used a simple framework to quantity the funding advantage and the benefits to
consumers. The first step in deriving the funding advantage was estimation of spreads that
measure the differences in yields on Freddie Mac and Fannie Mae securities and similar
securities issued by fully private firms. The second step was multiplying those spreads by the
outstanding balances of Freddie Mac and Fannie Mae securities. A parallel procedure was used
to derive the benefits to consumers. A spread estimating the effect of Freddie Mac and Fannie
Mae on mortgage interest rates was applied to the outstanding arnount of conforming mortgages
held by Freddie Mac and Fannie Mae. In applying this framework in 1996, CBO overstated the

funding advantage and understated the benefit to consumers.
The 1996 CBO estimate of the funding advantage was overstated in that:

1. It treated all Freddie Mac and Fannic Mae debt as long-term debt, ignoring the lower

funding advantage on short-term debt.

2. Itincorrectly measured the funding advantage on long-term debt and mortgage-backed
secirities (“MBS™);

The 1996 CBO estimate of the consumer benefits was understated in that:

1. Itignored the benefits of Freddie Mac and Fannie Mae’s activities on conforming

mortgages not purchased by them;

2. It failed to recognize that the unadjusted spread between rates on jumbo and conforming
mortgages does not capture the full impact of Freddie Mac and Fannie Mae on mortgage

rates.
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Overstating the Funding Advantage

Freddie Mac and Fannie Mae issue four types of securities to fund their purchases of
niortgages: short-term debt (with maturities less than one year); long-term bullet debt; long-term
callable debt (which can be called or retired early); and MBS. CBO overstated the funding
advantage for Freddie Mac and Fannie Mae for each of these securities. First, the funding
advantage on long-term debt was used for short-term debt even though empirical evidence
demonstrates that short-term debt receives a lower funding advantage. Second, CBO failed to
adjust its estimates of the funding advantage on long-term debt to account for the better liquidity
of GSE debt. Third, the funding advantage on long-term callable debt was mis-measured,
resulting in a significant overstatement of the funding advantage on this debt. Fourth, CBO

overstated the funding advantage for MBS.

Overstatement of the funding advantage on short-term debt

The distinction between long-term and short-term debt is significant. The range of
estimates for the funding advantage on short-tenm debt is substantially lower than for long-term
debt. As we discuss further in the next section, the estimated finding advantage for short-term
debt ranges from 10 to 20 basis points, while the corresponding range for long-term debt is 10 to
40 basis points.3 At the same time, the share of short-term debt is large. The proportion of debt
outstanding at year-end 1993 that was due within a year was about 50% for both Freddie Mac
and Fannie Mae. At the end of third quarter 2000, the proportions were 41% for Fannie Mae and
45% for Freddie Mac.* This difference in the term of debt, and its implication for estimating the
funding advantage, were ignored by CBO in its 1996 report. The appropriate approach is to

compute separate funding advantages for short-term and long-term debt.

? Freddie Mac's and Fannie Mae’s practice of synthetically extending the maturity of debt with swaps and other
derivatives does not matter for the assessment of the short-term funding advantage. They parsticipate in the swap
market at the same prices as other large financial institutions. Thus, the funding advantage on short-term debt
whose maturity is extended is no higher than the funding advantage for short-term debt whose maturity is not
extended.

* These figures were obtained from the 1996 annual reports and third quarter, 2000 investor-analyst reports of
Freddie Mac and Fannie Mae.
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Measuring spreads on long-term debt

Analysts estimate the Freddie Mac and Fannie Mae funding advantage in debt issuance
by comparing yields on debt issued by Freddie Mac and Fannie Mae and debt issued by firms
that lack federal sponsorship but are perceived as otherwise similar to Freddie Mac and Fannie
Mae. Such comparisons are sensitive to the choice of firms judged to be similar to Freddie Mac
and Fannie Mae, to the period under consideration, and to how similar other private securities are
to Freddie Mac and Fannie Mae securities with respect to such technical characteristics as default
risk, callability, time-to-maturity, and amount issued. No such comparison is perfect. There are
always some differences between the Freddie Mac and Fannie Mae securities and the

comparators.

For its 1996 report, CBO utilized spreads from a commissioned study by Ambrose and
Warga (1996). The authors were careful to limit their comparison of Freddie Mac and Fannie
Mae securities to private securities that were similar in a pumber of important respects.
However, they did not take into account the higher liquidity of Freddie Mac and Fannie Mae
debt that results from the scale of their security issuances and the consistency of their presence in
the securities markets. Withdrawal of federal sponsorship might reduce the amount of debt they
issue, but they would still likely be among the largest private issuers in the market. Large issues
generally are more readily marketable and therefore carry lower yields. Thus, yield comparisons
that do not take issue size, volume outstanding, and other determinants of liquidity into account

will overstate the yield spreads.®

* The Ambrose and Warga study has other methodological deficiencies that were revealed by academic reviewers at
the time the study was prepared (see, for example, Cook (1996) and Shilling (1996)). The spreads reported are
averages obtained from monthly data. The sample of comparable debt issues varies widely over the ten-year period
studied, but the authors report very limited information on how the levels and dispersion in the distribution of
spreads varies over time. This may be a concern because months in which the number of possible comparisons is
small receive as much weight in arriving at the final averages as months with large numbers of possible

comparisons. Because the margin of error is higher in the months with few comparisons, those months should
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Misuse of spreads on callable debt

The 1996 CBO procedure uses a weighted average of the spreads on callable and bullet
debt to derive its estimate of the funding advantage. Because the spread on callable debt used by
CBO was extraordinarily high (more than twice the spread on bullet debt), this approach resulted
in an average spread on long-term debt that was considerably higher than would have been

obtained from spreads on butlet debt alone.

Callable debt generally has an initial period where the debt cannot be called, after which
1t may be catled, or bought back by the issuer at a stated price before maturity. It is far more
difficult to compare yields across callable bonds because yields are extremely sensitive to the
specific call features of a bond, for example, the length of the initial non-call period, the call
price, and the maturity. Further, the projected yield depends on one’s forecast of the volatility of
interest rates over the mvestor’s holding period of the bond, as velatility effects the probability

that interest rates will fall sufficiently to trigger a call.

The difficulty of comparing yields on callable debt is exacerbated by the lack of data on
callable bonds by other issuers. Freddie Mac and Farmie Mae issue significant amounts of
callable debt because it provides an effective hedge for the mortgage assets that they are funding.
Few other corporations have this need and regularly issue callable debt. In 1999, the GSEs

accounted for most of the callable debt market,

Incorporating callable spreads into the derivation of the funding advantage on long-term
debt was inappropriate. First, the callable spreads are very difficult to measure, as noted above.
Second, there is no evidence to indicate that the funding advantage on callable debt is larger than
that on non-catlable debt. Callable debt is essentially long-term debt with an “option” to turn the
debt into short-term debt. Market prices for callable debt reflect the value of the bultet debt plus
the value of the call provision. The value of the call provision is determined in the derivatives

market where Freddie Mac and Fannie Mae have no advantage over other market participants.

receive less weight in the overall average. Failure to reflect these deficiencies in its application of the Ambrose and
Warga data led CBO to treat the funding advantage as being more precisely estimated than it actually was.
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Therefore, a more appropriate approach to estimate the funding advantage on callable debt would

be to use spreads on long-term debt that can be more accurately measured.
Funding advantage on MBS

CBO included a component for MBS in its estimate of the overall funding advantage. As
with the debt component, the funding advantage on MBS was derived from an estimated spread
using yields on Freddie Mac and Fannie Mae securities relative to yields on comparable
securities issued by other firms. The difficulty with this approach is that “private-label” MBS
are very different from Freddie Mac and Fannie Mae MBS. Private-label MBS have lower
volume, less frequent issuance, less hiquidity and more complex features that investors must
analyze. In particular, private-label MBS are typically “structured” securities where the cash
flows on the underlying mortgages are divided among various investors.  Consequently,
estimates of the relevant spreads are very rough approximations. Most are based on the
impressions of market participants rather than documented statistical comparisons subject to
verification by other researchers. If these estimates were to be used, the estimates would need to

be adjusted downward for the much greater liquidity of Freddie Mac and Fannie Mae securities.

After assessing the available information, CBO concluded that the relevant MBS spread
was between 25 and 60 basis points. Although this range errs on the high side, we appreciate the
recognition, reflected in the broad range, that the spread 1s pot subject to precise estimation.
However, the CBO did not carry this cautious approach into the calculation of the funding
advantage. The agency used 40 basis points as its baseline value to estimate the MBS
component of the funding advantage, and its sensitivity analysis considered a deviation of only 5

basis points from that value.

We believe that the relevant MBS spread is significantly less than 40 basis points and
would fall between the spreads on short-term and long-term debt. In part, the basis for this
opinion is the recognition that Freddie Mac and Fannie Mae are earning modest rates of return on
their MBS business. Annual reports indicate that the two enterprises eam guarantee fees of
approximately 20 basis points, which must compensate them for bearing default risk and other

costs. Thus, Freddie Mac and Fannie Mae do not appear to be retaining much, if any, funding
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advantage through the issuance of MBS. Furthermore, MBS are backed by or “collateralized” by
the underlying mortgages. Debt, on the other hand, is uncollateralized. As a result, perception

of credit quality plays less of a role in valuing MBS than debt, because the investor has the
assurance of quality from the mortgage collateral. Therefore, the funding advantage on MBS

would be less than the funding advantage on the long-term debt.
Understating Benefits to Consumers

CBO estimated the benefits to consumers from Freddie Mac and Fannie Mae by
multiplying a long-term average of the spread between interest rates on jumbo and conforming
fixed-rate mortgages by the volume of mortgages financed by Freddie Mac and Fannie Mae ®
This procedure understates the savings to borrowers on two accounts. First, it does not
incorporate the effect on all conforming mortgage rates of the activities of Freddie Mac and
Fannie Mae, including the reduction in rates on the conforming mortgage loans they do not
purchase. Second, the jumbo-conforming spread understates the full effect that Freddie Mac

and Fannie Mae have on mortgage rates.
The jumbo-conforming spread

Nearly all observers agree that Freddie Mac and Fannie Mae reduce interest rates on all
conforming mortgage loans. The most dramatic evidence of this fact is found in comparisons of
interest rates for loans above and below the conforming loan limit.” These rate comparisons can

be found listed in newspapers around the country.

Freddie Mac and Fannie Mae are not allowed to purchase loans for amounts above the
conforming limit. The effect this limitation has on interest rates is graphed in Exhibit 1. In this
chart, the average interest rates in a range of loan size categories are shown relative to average

interest rates for the category just below the conforming loan limit (which in 1998 was

® In practice, the amount financed is measured as the (annual average) balance outstanding of mortgages in portfolio
or pooled into MBS.

7 The 2001 conforming loan limit is $275,000 for one-family properties, Higher Hmits apply in Alaska, Hawaii,
Guam and the U.S. Virgin Islands.
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$240,000).% The graph shows that morigage interest rates decline steadily with loan size until the
conforming limit is reached. Then rates take a sharp jump upward before resuming their decline.
This relationship is consistent with the proposition that net economic costs of originating and

servicing decline with loan size?

The gap between the dotted line, CD, and the solid line AB, is the direct measure of the

jumbo-conforming spread.

Exhibit 1
Relative Mortgage Rates and Loan Amount
(Fixed Rate Mortgages, California, 1998)

Relative Mortgage Rates
(Basis Points)
50

an C ol +

Conforming Lean Limit

| > S

50 100 150 290 259 300 350 400 450

Loan Amount {Thousands of Dollars)

® The exhibit plots relative mortgage interest rates for fixed-rate loans in the Monthly Interest Rate Survey (“MIRS")
after adjusting for origination week, lender type, new versus existing home, and loan-to-value intervals. The points
plotted are averages computed over intervals with width of $12,500. Exceptions are the endpoints and the average
for loans made for exactly $240,000. Readily obtainable mortgage rates found in newspapers make none of these
adjustments.

° This phenomenon underlies empirical specifications that have been used in previous research on the conforming
loan limit. See Cotterman and Pearce (1996) and Hendershott and Shilling (1989). The reasons for the inverse
relationship between loan size and net economic costs include significant fixed costs of origination, servicing and
real-estate-owned disposition that cause average costs per loan dollar to decline dramatically with loan size. These

11
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Freddie Mac and Fannie Mae reduce rates on jumbo loans as well as on conforming loans

CBO used the average jumbo-conforming spread estimated over the 1989-1993 interval
as its measure of the effect of Freddie Mac and Fannie Mae on mortgage interest rates, This
approach assumes that the line CDE in Exhibit | represents the relationship between mortgage
rates and loan size that would be observed in the absence of Freddie Mac and Fannie Mae. As
we show below, this assumption understates consumer benefits because Freddie Mac and Fannie

Mae almost certainly reduce interest rates on jumbo loans as well as on conforming loans.

Exhibit 2
Jumbo-Conforming Spreads Understate Consumer Savings

Mortgage Rate
N Depositories

p wio GSEs |7

P

Juimby preeseas

SGSEs

conformiag

D Dmta!

conforming

\\\
"D

Jumbe

Amount of Loans

A theoretical argument for this point is iHlustrated in Exhibit 2. In this graph, the
mortgage interest rate in the absence of Freddie Mac and Fannie Mae is found at the intersection
of the depository supply curve (Spepositones) and the total mortgage demand curve (Diot). When

supply from Freddie Mac and Fannie Mae is introduced, there emerge two mortgage rates, both

factors more than offset a slightly more expensive prepayment option for jumbos and some evidence that default
rates are higher for very-low-balance and for super-jumbo loans.

12
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lower than the rate that would prevail in their absence. The rate for jumbo loans is determined
by the intersection of the depository supply curve and the demand curve for jumbo loans (Pjumbe )-
The rate for conforming loans is determined by the intersection of the GSEs supply curve and the
demand curve for conforming loans (Peonforming). Thus, the presence of Freddie Mac and Fannie
Mae reduces rates on both jumbo and conforming loans, and the jumbo-conforming differential

understates the savings to mortgage borrowers.

This reasoning suggests that mortgage rates in the absence of Freddie Mac and Fannie
Mae would lie on line FGH in Exhibit 3 rather than line CDE. The jumbo-conforming spread
would understate the effect of Freddie Mac and Fannie Mae on mortgage rates by the distance

between segments CD and FG.

Exhibit 3
Freddie Mac and Fannie Mae Also Lower Jumbo Rates
{Fixed Rate Mortgages)
Relative Mottgage Rates
(Basis Points)
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Partial versus full benefits to borrowers

Thus analysis does not take into account the fact that Freddie Mac and Fannie Mae are
restricted to a market that has other federally-subsidized participants. Depositories have been,
and continue to be, substantial holders of residential mortgages. They have access to insured

deposits, which carry explicit federal guarantees, and low-cost advances from the Federal Home
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Loan Banks ("FHLBs") — institutions with federal sponsorship similar to that of Freddie Mac

and Fannie Mae.

Consequently, Freddie Mac and Fannie Mae compete with other subsidized participants.
Thus, the estimates of the spreads on securities are not strictly comparable with the estimates of
the interest rate effect. The security spreads are estimated on a gross basis, while the effect on
mortgage interest rates is nef of the effect of depositories. The amount by which depositories
reduce interest rates on jumbo loans would have to be added to the effect indicated in Exhibit 3

to obtain the total effect of Freddie Mac and Fannie Mae on conforming mortgage rates.

‘The point that depositories also receive a funding advantage relative to firms without
access to any federally supported sources of funds is illustrated in Exhibit 4.1° The chart shows
that the 11" District Cost of Funds Index (“COFI”), which reflects the cost of funds for western
savings associations, is below the yield on comparable Freddie Mac and Fannie Mae debt.
Similarly, the spreads to certificates-of-deposit (“CD”) yields show that banks have lower cost of
funds.

' The yield spreads are 6-month GSE debt less the 6-month CD yield, one-year GSE debt less the one-year CD

yield, and one-year GSE debt less the 1 1" FHLB district COFI,
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Exhibit 4
Amount by which Bank Cost of Funds are Below GSE Yields

GSE Yield Less Bank Rates
{Basis Points)

1995 1996 19907 1998 1999 2000

= " ™6 mooth GSE-6 manth CD =" "1year GSE. 1 year D { year GSE - COF1

An issue deserving further research is the extent to which the funding advantage accruing
to banks benefits consumers. Exhibit 5 demonstrates that, unlike Freddie Mac and Fannie Mag,
the depositories provide substantial support to the jumbo market.!! As well, relative to Freddie
Mac and Fannie Mae, these depositories, the largest FHLB advance holders, have a lower share
of net mortgage acquisitions {originations plus purchased loans, less loans sold) in the low- and
moderate-income market. In the Home Mortgage Disclosure Act (“HMDA™) data, 93 percent of
all jumbo loans for which income is reported are made to borrowers with incomes above 120
percent of the area median. From the data presented in Exhibit 5, one can infer that

approximately one-half of FHLB advances are being used to fund jumbo mortgage loans, loans

H gource: FHLB System 1999 Financial Report, Thrift Financial Reports, 1999, Home Mortgage Disclosure Act
data, 1999. FHLB advances for the top 10 advance holding members are from page 17 of the Federal Home Loan
Bank System 1999 Financial Report. FHLB advances for Commercial Federal Bank, Dime Savings Bank, and
Standard Federal Bank are from their respective Thrift Financial Report filings line item SC720 (Advances from
FHLB). Low-and moderate-income shares are the percent of doliars reported in HMDA going to borrowers with
incomes less than the area median income; includes all conventional refinance and home purchase loan originations
and purchases for single-family residences, net of loans soid.

N
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made disproportionately to upper-income borrowers. In contrast, despite being given access to
low-cost funding from the FHL Bs, the top FHLB advance holders extended only 20 percent of
their net conventional, single-family mortgage acquisitions (weighted by dollars) to low- and
moderate-income borrowers in 1999, according to HMDA. Freddie Mac’s 31 percent low-and
moderate-income share (dollar-weighted) is higher than every one of the top FHLB advance
holders.

Exhibit 5
Federal Home Loan Bank Advances and
Shares of Net Mortgage Acquisitions (1999)
FHLB Advances Low and Moderate Jumbo
Desember 31, 1999 income Shares Shares
tnstitution [Millions of Dollars) {Percentages) (Percentages)
Washingion Mutual Bank, FA, Stockion, CA 45,511 IR 55
California Federal Bank, San Francisva, CA 23,377 2 75
Washington Mutual Bank, Seattle, WA 1,08 19 a1
Sovereign Bank, Wyomissing, PA 19,488 8 41
Charter One Bank, $SB, Cleveland, OH 9,236 22 38
PNC Bank. NA, Pittsburgh, PA 6,651 7 48
Bank United, Houston, TX 6,593 4 68
Nerwest Bank. MN 6,106 3 37
World Savings Bank, FSB, Oaktand. CA 5,655 153 42
Astoria FSXLA, New York Oy, NY 5,365 77
Commercial Federal Bk, a FSB, Omaha, NE 4.524 27 24
Dime Savings Bank of NY, New York Oy, NY 4,463 N 58
Standard Federat Bank, Troy Ml 3,227 k23 30
Top FHLB advance holders (total) 143,265 14 52
Freddie Mac faa 31 o
Fannie Mae 0.4, % i

Benefits to consumers in addition to reductions in morigage rates

Efficiencies in underwriting and increases in low-income and minority homeownership

Freddie Mac and Fannie Mae provide benefits beyond reductions in interest rates on
mortgage loans. These benefits include increased availability of information provided to
consumers, standardization of the mortgage lending process, and more objective qualifying
criteria through the development of automated underwriting, Freddie Mac and Fannie Mae have
also increased the availability of low-down-payment mortgages. Such loans make mortgage
financing more available to low- and moderate-income families. Recent research indicates that

home ownership for these families and minority families are 2% to 3% higher as a result of the
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efforts of Freddie Mac and Fannie Mae (Quercia, McCarthy, and Wachter (2000), and Bostic and
Surette (2000)).

Improved dvnamic efficiency and liguidity

Freddie Mac and Fannie Mae also increase the dynamic efficiency of the mortgage
market, a point ignored by CBO. In periods of turbulence in the capital markets, Freddie Mac
and Fannie Mae provide a steady source of funds. These conditions occur relatively frequently.
Since 1992, the capital markets have had two episodes of abnormal shortages of liquidity—one
beginning in late 1994 following the Orange County bankruptcy and another in 1998 and 1999
when important developing countries devalued their currencies and Russia defaulted on some
bonds. Recent research indicates that the activities of Freddie Mac and Fannie Mae * ... returned
capital to the mortgage market. That action not only stabilized the price of mortgage-backed
securities, it also stabilized home loan rates during the credit crunch of 1998 (Capital
Economics (2000)).

Lower risk to taxpayers

If the roles of Freddie Mac and Fannie Mae were reduced substantially, many presume
that withdrawal of federal sponsorship would reduce taxpayer nisk in direct proportion to the
removal of risk from the books of Freddie Mac and Fannie Mae. This presumption ignores the
likely expansion of other federally-sponsored participants that support housing. Yezer (1996)
potes that such charter revocation would lead to expansion of the demand for Federal Housing
Administration (“FHA”) mortgages. The analysis of Miller and Capital Economics (2000),
discussed in Section V (and illustrated in Exhibits 2 and 12) indicates that mortgages held by
depositories would also increase. These reallocations of mortgage credit would shift additional
risk to the FHA insurance and deposit insurance programs. Additionally, families would bear
more interest rate risk because, when faced with higher rates on fixed-rate mortgages, they will
increase their use of adjustable-rate mortgages (“ARMs”). On balance, in addition to
reallocating resources to less efficient housing finance participants, charter revocation would

likely increase risks to taxpayers.
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Summary

In summary, CBO’s 1996 report was deficient in many respects. The approach used
overstated the funding advantage Freddie Mac and Fannie Mae derive from their charters,
understated some components of consumer benefits, and ignored others. In addition, the use of
point estimates for the various spreads, rather than ranges, provides the misleading impression
that the funding advantage and benefits to consumers can be quantified precisely. A repeat of
these mis-measurements in the new report would render its findings and conclusions without

credible foundation.

We turn next to our own assessment of the advantages afforded Freddie Mac and Fannie
Mae through their federal charters, followed by our assessment of the benefits derived by

consumers.

II.  Estimates of Funding Advantages to Freddie Mac and Fannie Mae

CBO overstated the subsidy involved in debt-funded mortgages. The 1996 CBO report
estimated that the funding advantage to Freddie Mac and Fannie Mae between 1991 and 1994
was 70 basis points. As we show below, this figure is far above the range of estimates available
from other sources. Recall that the CBO estimate is a weighted average of estimates for callable

and noncallable fong-term debt, and it treats all debt as long-term debt.

Several alternative measures are summarized in Exhibit 6. The LIBOR!? - Agencies
spread indicates that Freddie Mac and Fannie Mae issue short-term debt at 10 to 20 basis points
below LIBOR, which is a short-term funding cost of certain highly rated banks.'> The long-
term, noncallable spreads show how yields on Freddie Mac and Fannie Mae debt compare with
yields on debt rated AA.'* The estimates cover a range of sources and methodologies. The first

estimate, 10 to 30 basis points, is from a study by Salomon Smith Barney that compares specific

2 London Inter-Bank Offer Rate {“LIBOR").

2 In this table, we use spreads to Agencies as reported in Bloomberg. Bloomberg includes Freddie Mac, Fannie
Mae, the FHLBs and government agencies that issue debt in its “Agencies” category.
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Freddie Mac or Fannie Mae issues with specific securities issued by two of the largest non-
financial corporations and one large financial corporation. All the comparable securities were
AA-rated, with large outstanding issue volumes. The second estimate, from Bloomberg, uses a
proprietary methodology to adjust for important differences in the characteristics of the securities
being compared. The third row is taken from a study by Toevs (2000) using data on Fannie Mae
debt and market data from Lehman Brothers. The last estimate is from Ambrose and Warga

(1996), a study whose deficiencies were discussed above.

Exhibit 6
Estimates of the Debt Funding Advantage

Short-Term Spreads Basis Points
LIBOR — Agencies Spread: ! 10-20

Lone-Term Spreads

Highly liquid AA Debt-Freddie Mac & Fannie Mae? 10-30
Highly liquid AA Debt - Agencies® 37

AA Financials Debt ~Fannie Mag* 34

AA Financial Debt ~ Fannie Mae® 3246

*Bloomberg duta. { Z-month term, short term debl.
*Satomon Sith Barn
*Bloomberg data, $-yea
“Toevs (2000} for the perrod 19951999,

*Armbrose & Warga {1996) for the periads {1985-90) and {1991+1994),

Exhibit 6 does not include any entries for spreads on callable debt. These spreads are
difficult to measure accurately because callable debt securities are not issued in significant
amounts by other corporate issuers and are very heterogeneous. In particular, appropriate
comparisons of callable debt must hold constant the restrictions on the call options of the various
securities. A given callable debt 1ssue typically will have some restrictions, such as how soon
the issuer may exercise the call option. These restrictions can be important to the value the debt

issue commands in the marketplace. For example, a security that allowed the issuer to exercise

' Star.dard and Poor’s (1997a) rated Freddie Mac and Fannie Mae AA- on a stand-alone basis.



127

the option after one year will have a lower value than a security that does not allow the issuer to
exercise the option until five years have passed. Thus, given the difficulty in obtaining valid

spreads for callable debt, a preferable approach is to use spreads on noncallable debt

Exhibit 6 illustrates that alternative estimates of the relevant noncallable spread range
from 10 to 40 basis points. The estimates are obtained from a variety of sources and were
generated using several methodologies. They are all substantially below the 70 basis points used
in the 1996 CBO report. Use of a weighted average of spreads on callable and noncallable debt
accounts for some of the inflation in the CBO estimate. We understand that CBO may not
incorporate callable spreads into its analysis in the forthcoming report, and if this is true the
change will move the CBO estimate closer to the altemative estimates. But the spread will still

likely be overstated if the Ambrose- Warga methodology 1s used to estimate noncallable spreads.
CBO’s Sensitivity Analysis

As exhibited above, it is necessary to use ranges rather than single numbers to express the
extent to which Freddie Mac and Fannie Mae benefit from a funding advantage for long-tern
debt. In its 1996 report, CBO recognized that it was using spreads that were measured
imperfectly and included a brief sensitivity analysis'® to illustrate the effect of variation from
baseline assumptions for some key parameters, including the spreads on long-term debt. The
Ambrose- Warga presentation of results on yield to maturity used mean values for relatively long
mtervals. This provided almost no basis to assess the stability of the spreads over time or the
amount of dispersion in spreads at a point in time. In the absence of either of these elements, it is

difficult to have confidence in the estimates. This is particularly true given the methodological

'* An alternative would be to estimate the fair value of the call option through an option-adjusted spread calculation
before the yields are compared. See Kupiec and Kah (2000).

" Although we agree that including a sensitivity analysis is, in principle, a useful exercise, we believe that the
analysis in the 1996 CBO report understated the dependence of the CBO’s conclusions on assumptions about the
precise values of key parameters. In the case of debt funding spreads, CBO's attempt to conduct a valid sensitivity
analysis was handicapped by the limited information on dispersion in yield spreads between Freddie Mac and
Fannie Mae and other private companies provided in Ambrose and Warga’s study.
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shortcomings identified above and the disparity between the Ambrose- Warga estimate and the

available alternatives we present in Exhibit 6.

The CBO sensitivity analysis of the debt funding advantage would have benefited from
additional information on how spreads vary, both over time and across other debt issues at a
point in time. In the absence of such information, CBO considered a very small reduction in the
debt spreads, of 10 basis points, from the 70 basis points used in the primary calculations. This
reduction covered only a small fraction of what we know of the possible dispersion of spread
values and it closes little of the gap between the CBO figure and alternative estimates, Thus, the
sensitivity analysis did not accurately portray the fragility of the 1996 CBO estimates of the
funding advantage.

Estimates of the Funding Advantage

Using the information in Exhibit 6, and debt and MBS balances outstanding for Freddie
Mac and Fannie Mae, funding advantage spreads are provided in Exhibit 7. The spread on the
MBS, reflecting both its long-term nature, and its collateral value, likely falls between the values
of the spreads on short-term and long-term debt. We calculate the MBS funding advantage using
a spread of 10 to 30 basis points.!” Higher amounts would be inappropriate given the 20 basis
point guarantee fees that the corporations earn and the significant hquidity differences between
their MBS and private-label MBS.

' Freddie Mac and Fannie Mag's MBS are backed by real-property collateral as well as a corporate guaranty. Thus

a proxy for the funding advantage on MBS, net of liquidity and credit quality, could be the yield spread between
five-year, AAA -rated bullet debt and comparable Freddie Mac and Fannie Mae debt. In a report, Freddie Mac
(1996, p. 33) computed this spread to be about 23 basis points over 1992-1996.
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Exhibit 7
Estimates of the Funding Advantage
{Data as of September 30, 2000)

Balances Outstanding
{ Billions of Dolars}

Freddie  Fannie Spread Funding Advantage
Security Type Mac Mae Totals  (basis points)  (Bitlions of Dollars per Year)
Short term Debt 181 251 432 10-20 0.4-0.9
Long-Term Debt 226 356 582 10-40 0623
MBS 559 701 1.260 10-30 13-3.8
Total Funding 23-70

Advantage

Exhibit 7 summarizes our estimates of the total funding advantage teceived by Freddie
Mac and Fannie Mae through their government sponsorship. Since this calculation is based on a
range of spreads for individual components (short-term debt, long-term debt, and MBS), the
resulting aggregate must be expressed as a range as well. In each case above, we have been
careful to reflect reasonable estimates — on the high side as well as the low side. While we might
be inclined to narrow this range, out of an abundance of caution we have included the results of

reputable analyses and methodologies that bracket what we consider the more likely figures.

Muitiplying the spread range of 10 to 20 basis points for short-term debt by the short-
term debt balances outstanding of Freddie Mac and Fannie Mae gives an estimate of their annual
funding advantage for short-term debt that ranges from $0.4 billion to $0.9 billion. Similarly, the
estimates for the annual funding advantage on long-term debt and MBS are $0.6 billion to $2.3
billion and $1.3 billion to $3.8 billion respectively. Thus, our estimate of the total annual

tunding advantage for Freddie Mac and Fannie Mae ranges from $2.3 billion to $7.0 billion.
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1V.  Estimates of the Benefits to Mortgage Borrowers Provided by Freddie Mac and
Fannie Mae’s Activities

Estimates of the full benefits to mortgage borrowers must take consideration of several
factors. First, Freddie Mac and Fannie Mae operate directly only in the conforming market.
They may only purchase loans at or below the conforming loan limit. The bulk of these loans
are fixed-rate mortgages. However, Freddie Mac and Fannie Mae also affect the rates on
adjustable-rate and jumbo mortgages, effects ignored by the previous CBO analysis. Additional
evidence on the benefits of Freddie Mac and Fannie Mae activities can be inferred from
borrower behavior, such as borrowers’ utitization of adjustable- versus fixed-rate loans.
Measuring the full effect of Freddie Mac and Fannie Mae on conforming loans requires estimates

of their effect on jumbo loans and estimates of the effect of depositories on jumbo loans.

Estimates of the Jumbo-Conforming Spread
Direct estimates of the effects on conforming, fixed-rate mortgages

The 1996 CBO report used a figure of 35 basis points as its estimate of the jumbo-
conforming spread, CBO derived this figure from the commissioned study by Cotterman and
Pearce, which evaluated the spread from 1989 through 1993, The 35 basis points reflected an
average of relatively high values in the early part of the period and relatively low values toward

the end.

Since 1993 the differential has fluctuated. Exhibit 8, from Pearce (2000), charts the path
of rates on conforming, fixed-rate mortgages between 1992 and 1999. Three measures are
charted in the exhibit. Two are extensions of the 1996 Cotterman and Pearce analysis estimating
the differential for California and for 11 states with large numbers of jumbo loan originations.
These estimates adjust for risk factors and loan size. The third is an extension of the series

charted in Freddie Mac (1996).! 8 Averages for these series, over the 1992-99 period, range

' The data used for the national series for jumbo rates come from HSH Associates (1992-1998), and Banxquote
(1999}, and for conforming rates from the Primary Mortgage Market Survey (Freddie Mac). This serigs is not risk-
adjusted.
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between 24 basis pomts and 28 basis points. All three series are in the neighborhood of 30 basis

points in 1998 and 1999, when origination rates were very high.

Exhibit 8
Jumbo Rates Exceed Fixed-Rate Conforming Mortgage Loan Rates

Jumbo Rates Less Conforming Rates
(percentage points)

0.7 -

6.6

=)
“n

1992 1993 1994 1993 1996 1997 1998 1999

= ® “California — = 11 States ™" National

Indirect estimates of the jumbo-conforming spread using ARM shares

Exhibit 8 displays unadjusted and risk-adjusted direct estimates of the jumbo-conforming
differential. Additional evidence on the benefits of Freddie Mac and Fannie Mae activities can
be inferred from borrower behavior, such as borrowers” utilization of adjustable-rate versus
fixed-rate mortgages (“FRMs"). Freddie Mac and Fannie Mae activities have larger effects on
rates of FRMs than ARMSs because their funding cost advantage is larger on long-term debt than
on short-term debt.!” First-year rates on ARMs are generally below rates on FRMs, and research
by Nothaft and Wang (1992) (as well as others cited by Nothaft and Wang) has shown that the
ARM share will decrease generally as the spread between rates on ARMs and FRMs narrows.

Thus, Freddie Mac and Fannie Mae reduce the ARM share of conforming loans by narrowing the

1% ARMs are priced off short-term yields, whereas FRM:s are priced off long-term yields. For spreads see Exhibit 7.
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spread between rates on ARMs and FRMs. This effect was noted previously by Hendershott and
Shilling (1989).

The research on the determimants of ARM shares indicates that we should expect that a
30-basis-pomt narrowing of the spread between rates on FRMs and ARMs will produce a 10-

percentage point reduction in ARM share.”’

The estimates presented in the exhibit above
indicate that between 1992 and 1999 rates on conforming FRMSs averaged 24 to 28 basis points
below rates on jumbo FRMs. This difference implies that we should expect the ARM share to be

about 8 to 10 percentage points lower for conforming loans than for jumbo loans.

Pearce (2000} compares the ARM shares in the jumbo and conforming markets using the
MIRS data. The comparison was restricted to loans with 15- and 30-year terms to maturity and
loan-to-value of at least 60%. The ARM share among conforming loans for amounts between
75% and 99% of the conforming limit was compared to the ARM share among jumbo loans

between 115% and 150% of the conforming limit.

The results are shown in Exhibit 9. The jumbo-conforming difference in ARM shares is
much larger than the 8 to 10 percentage points expected from the directly-estimated conforming
loan differential. The difference in ARM shares ranges between 13 and 36 percentage points in
California and between 14 and 29 percentage points in the 11-state aggregate. The differences in
ARM share averaged 23.6 percentage points in California and 21.6 percentage points in the 11
states. Differences of this magnitude are consistent with conforming loan differentials much
larger than 30 basis points. If a differential of 30 basis points i rates on FRMs was expected to
reduce ARM share by 10 percentage points, a 20+ percentage point reduction in ARM share
among conforming loans is consistent with a reduction in interest rates on conforming FRMs of

60 basis points or more.

*% Nothaft and Wang (1992). Also, in their concluding section, Hendershott and Shilling (1989), estimate that a 30-
basis -point conforming loan differential would reduce the conforming ARM share by 10 percentage points in 1987
and 11 basis points in 1988.
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Exhibit 9
Jumbo ARM Shares Exceed Conforming ARM Shares

Jumbeo Share Less Conforming Share

(Percentage Points)

40+
1992 1993 1994 1995 1996 1997 1993 1969

B California 11 States

Incorporating effects on jumbo loan rates

So far we have presented two approaches, direct and indirect, to quantifying the
difference between rates on jumbo and conforming fixed-rate loans. The direct estimates
quantify differences in interest rates that can be observed directly. We use a range that spans two
measures for the direct estimates.”' The first is an unadjusted measure of the empirical
differences between the two sets of loan rates. The second is a risk-adjusted differential obtained
by Pearce’s update using the Cotterman and Pearce methodology. As an alternative, indirect
measure, obtained from inferring the jumbo-conforming differential through the ARM share
effect, we use the Nothaft and Wang methodology. These direct and indirect measures are
substitute methods for examining the jumbo-conforming differential, The indirect estimates take
intangible considerations into account. However, neither of these approaches identifies the full
effect of Freddie Mac and Fannie Mae on conforming, fixed-rate loans. Neither takes into

account the effect of Freddie Mac and Fannie Mae on jumbo loan rates. Furthermore, neither
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takes into account the effect that depositories would have on mortgage rates in the absence of
federal sponsorship of Freddie Mac and Fannie Mae. Thus, both are partial measures of the

effect of the two housing enterprises on mortgage rates.

Measuring the full effect of Freddie Mac and Fannie Mae on conforming loans requires
estimates of their effect on jumbo loans and estimates of the effect of depositories on jumbo
loans. Unfortunately, the data to obtain either of these estimates do not exist because we do not
observe a fully private market. In the discussion below we will estimate the dollar amount of
borrower savings by applying interest-rate effects to outstanding mortgage balances. In order to
recognize the presence of these hard-to-measure effects, we will use a conservative value of 5
basis points for each. Thus, the directly-measured effect yields a partial reduction i mortgage
rates of 29 to 33 basis points when the effect of Freddie Mac and Fannie Mae on jumbo rates is
added and a total reduction of 34 to 38 basis points when the effect of depositories on jumbo
rates is added. Similarly, the indirectly-measured spread (of 30 to 60 basis points) yields a

partial reduction of 35 to 65 basis points and a total reduction of 40 to 70 basis points.

An additional benefit that needs to be accounted for is the reduction in rates on
conforming ARMs. Evidence from the Primary Mortgage Market Survey (PMMS) indicates that
rates on conforming ARMs are about 5 basis points lower than rates on jumbo ARMs. This
suggests that the direct effect of Freddie Mac and Fannie Mae on conforming ARM rates is about
5 basis points. Assuming that depositories reduce jumbo ARM rates by about 5 basis points, the

total effect on ARM mortgages is about 10 basis points.

Estimating Dollar Savings to Borrowers

The savings to borrowers are estimated by applying the interest rate reductions to the
appropriate balances. The discussion above identified separate interest rate effects for fixed-rate
conforming loans, adjustable-rate loans, and jumbo loans. It also pointed out that the estimates

of the jumbo-conforming spread should be adjusted for the effects that Freddie Mac, Fannie

! The average difference in commitment rates on fixed-rate, conforming mortgages over the 1992-1999 period is
28 basis points. The average effect {rom application of the Cotterman and Pearce methodology over this time period
provides a range of 24 to 26 basis points.
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Mae, and the depositories have on jumbo loan rates. In the discussion below, we present two
series of benefit estimates that begin with the jumbo-conforming spread and progressively

mcorporate the various adjustments. At the end we present two alternative ranges.

The most conservative estimate applies the directly-estimated jumbo-conforming spread,
arange of 24 to 28 basis pomts, to the outstanding balances of conforming, fixed-rate mortgages,
which is currently about $3.3 trillion.?? This procedure yields a range of $7.9 billion to $9.2
billion. This estimate is a counterpart to the 1996 CBO benefit estimate, except that it includes
all conforming fixed-rate mortgages rather than just those that have been purchased by Freddie
Mac and Fannie Mae. Although this range understates the full effect of the two GSEs on
conforming mortgage interest rates, it lies completely above the $2.3 to $7.0 billion range
estimated for the funding advantage. If we add in benefits to borrowers using conforming ARMs
(5 basis points applied to $0.37 triltion) and jumbo loans (5 basis points applied to $0.65 trillion),

the range increases to $8.4 billion to $9.7 billion.

These ranges do not adjust the jumbo-conforming spread for the separate effects of
Freddie Mac and Fannie Mae and depositories on jumbo loan rates. We have assumed that these
two effects, which we cannot measure, would each be about 5 basis points. Incorporating this
assumption raises the range on the (fixed-rate) jumbo-conforming spread to 34 to 38 basis points,

and the total benefit range becomes $11.7 billion to $13.0 billion.

A parallet set of estimates can be constructed using the indirect estimate of the jumbo-
conforming spread of 30 to 60 basis points. This range implies that benefits to borrowers using
conforming, fixed-rate loans range from $9.9 billion to $19.7 billion. Adding in benefits to
conforming ARM and jumbo borrowers implies a range of $10.4 billion to $20.2 billion.
Adjusting the fixed-rate, jumbo-conforming spread for the effect of Freddie Mac and Fannie Mae

and the depositories on jumbo rates brings the total to $13.6 billion to $23.5 billion.

2 The outstanding balances cited in this paragraph are based on the following figures: conventional loans totaling
$4.30 trillion, of which 15% are jumbo and 85% are conforming. Within the conforming market, 90% are assumed
to be fixed-rate and 10% are assumed to be ARMs.
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Overall, then, we have two alternative ranges for the full benefits. Using the directly-

estimated spread, the range is $11.7 billion to $13.0 billion. Using the indirectly-estimated
jumbo-conforming spread, the range is $13.6 billion to $23.5 bitlion. Both these ranges are well

above our range for the funding advantage ($2.3 billion to $7 biltion).

Effects on Mortgage Rates
of Freddie Mac & Fannie Mae

Exhibit 10

Conforming Fixed-
Rate Market:
Alternative
Measures

Effects on Conventional Mortgage Rates, 1992 - 1999

Measurement*

1. CFRM: Direct Estimate
{Commitment Rates)

Spread
(basis points)

28

2. CFRM: Direct Estimate
{Pearce, 2000)

24-26

3. CFRM: Indirect Estimate
(Pearce, 2000)

30-60

Jumbo Market

4. JFRM: (Assumed)

Market

Conforming ARM

5. ARM: (Commitment
Rates)

Effects on Jumbo (FRM & ARM)
Rates from Subsidies to Other Financial
Institutions

TOTAL BENEFITS ($billions)

Partial Benefits Range:
{Conforming + Jumbo)
CFRM: Direct (1&2 +4)
CFRM: Indirect (3 +4)
ARM: {5)

6. {Assumed)

Full Benefits Ranges:
FRM Direct {1&2+4+6)
FRM Indirect (3 +4 +6)
Conforming ARM (5 + 6}
Jumbo (4)

Partial Direct**
Full Direct
Full Indirect

20-33
35-65

34-38
40-70
10

$8.4 - 897
$11.7-813.0
$13.6-3%23.5

* CFRM: conforming, fixed-rate market; JFRM: jumbo fixed-rate market. The fixed-rate conforming
single-family market, is $3.3 billion. The ARM market is $0.37 biflion and the jumbo market is $0.65 billion
(9/30/00). **Direct without depositories’ measures $8.4 to $9.7. Direct with depositories” having a five basis point

effect on jumbo rates measures $11.7 to $13.0.
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It is important to recognize that the jumbo-conforming differential understates the
measure of the benefits provided by Freddie Mac and Fannie Mae because the jumbo rate is
already lowered by benefits provided to the jumbo market by financial institutions with
govemment support. That is, the jumbo market also benefits directly from government support
through both the existence of the FHLBs and deposit insurance, and indirectly from Freddie Mac
and Fannie Mae. The rotal benefit to consumers, including direct and indirect effects of Freddie
Mac and Fannie Mae on conforming, fixed-rate mortgages and the additional effects on fixed-
rate mortgages from subsidies held by all financial institutions in the jumbo market is in the

range of $13.6 to $23.5 billion.
V. Freddie Mac and Fanaie Mae Increase Efficiency

To this point we have focused on the key question raised in the 1996 CBO report—the
extent to which the Freddie Mac and Farmie Mae funding advantage generates benefits to
consumers or been absorbed by the two enterprises. Our findings in this area effectively rebut
CBO’s 1996 conclusion that a large percentage of the funding advantage is absorbed. They do
not, however, address a more general objection to federal sponsorship that has been raised in
discussions of Freddie Mac and Farmie Mae. This objection claims that federal sponsorship
through the credit markets distorts the allocation of resources that would otherwise arise from the
interaction of supply and demand in competitive markets. In the case of housing-related GSEs,
the claim is that their activities result in “too much™ housing at the expense of other components

of the nation’s capital stock, such as factories, offices, and business equipment.

In this section we address that point. As we have pointed out, Freddie Mac and Fannie
Mae are not the only federally sponsored entities participating in the residential mortgage
market. Federally insured depositories (banks and thrifts) fund over half—3$2.4 trillion—of the
conventional mortgages outstanding, either directly through their loan portfolio or indirectly

though their MBS holdings (Exhibit 11).2* Freddie Mac and Fannie Mae fund about one-third of

23 The total residential market includes single-family and multifamily mortgages. The sources for these data were
the Federal Reserve Board, Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation, Office of Thrift Supervision, Freddie Mac and
Fannie Mae; data were as of June 30, 2000.
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this amount, The remainder is divided among the FHLBs, mortgage companics, insurance
companies, pension funds, individuals, and other investors. Analyzing economic efficiency and
the benefits and subsidies requires understanding the cost structures and the risk characteristics

of the mortgage market.

Exhibit 11
Holders of Residential Mortgage Assets
as of June 30, 2000
Mortegage Debt Trillions of
gag Dollars
Total Residential $5.4
FHA/VA/RHS/Ginnie Mae $0.8
State & Local Governments $0.1
Total Conventional $4.5
Depositories & FHLBs $2.4
Freddie Mac & Fannie Mae $0.8
Households $0.1
Other $1.2

Competitive Balance

The competitive balance m the industry depends on which charter can provide funds and
manage risks at the lowest cost *
Freddie Mac and Fannie Mae are more efficient than the depositories in three activities:
o Channeling funds from the global capital markets to mortgage markets;
e Managing mortgage interest-rate risk; and

* Managing mortgage credit risk.
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In the management of interest rate risk, Freddie Mac and Fannie Mae take advantage of
opportunities to issue callable debt. They also operate at a large scale and are able to spread the
expense of sophisticated interest rate risk management across a large volume of risks. 1PS
Sendero (1999) documents the continued existence of significant interest rate risk in the thrift

industry.

In the management of credit risk, the traditional advantage held by Freddie Mac and
Fannie Mae has been superior exploitation of geographic diversification. Quigley and Van Order
(1991) and Regional Financial Associates (1998) document the importance of geographic
diversification in risk reduction. Although elimination of restrictions on branching makes this
advantage potentially smaller today than it was in prior decades, it is still an important
consideration, because many local and regional banks and thrifts hold significant mortgage

portfolios.

Another important advantage for Freddie Mac and Fannie Mae in credit risk management
1s their prominent role in the development of automated underwriting systems. Credit risk
evaluation and management is rapidly shifting from the rules of thumb used in manual
underwriting to the rigorous statistical analysis of default risk that supports mortgage scoring and
automated underwriting. Straka (2000) and Standard and Poor’s (1997b) summarize this
transformation. Freddie Mac and Fannie Mae have access to larger and more comprehensive
data files on loan performance than other major mortgage market participants. This resource
gives them an advantage in development of models with strong predictive power across a broad

range of risks.

Depositories have a few advantages of their own, beyond their federal sponsorship. They
have more local-market knowledge that can be exploited in the assessment of credit risk. They
also have opportunities to sell other products to their mortgage customers. These advantages

enable depositories to fund some loans at costs below what they otherwise would incur.

* Van Order {2000a} describes the “dueling charter” framework for depositories and Freddie Mac and Fannie Mae,
while Van Order (2000b) provides a more technical discussion.
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Second Best Solution

Some critics of Freddie Mac and Fannie Mae contend that their federal sponsorship
distorts resource allocation m that credit is diverted into residential real estate from other uses
that, at the margin, have higher values. It is not our purpose here to address the desirability of
promoting the financing of housing. Rather, we simply note that this argument fails to take into

account the distortions introduced by federal deposit insurance.*

Exhibit 12 presents an analysis of the removal of the funding advantage to Freddie Mac
and Fannie Mae in a situation where the implicit subsidization of the mortgage market through
depositories is retained. The exhibit is taken from an iflustration by Miller and Capital
Economics (2000), who conclude that ... revoking the GSEs’ charters would reduce welfare
(economic efficiency). Thus, we conclude that revoking Freddie Mac’s and Fannie Mae's

charters cannot be justified on the grounds of economic efficiency” (page 14).

¥ Chairman Greeaspan has often noted the existence of a funding advantage for banks. “Government guarantees of

the banking system — deposit insurance and direct access to the Fed discount window and payment system

guarantees — provide banks with a lower cost of capital than would otherwise be the case.” Testimony, House of

Representatives, Commerce Committee, April 28, 1999.
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Exhibit 12
Efficiencies from Freddie Mac and Fannie Mae:
the Second Best Argument

Mortgage Rate S

depositories wio funding advatage
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100 much banking B
(bricks and mortar) )
depositories

Sos8 wo
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housing  advavtage
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Py o

Demand

Q Dep Q ’T Q{ Amount of Loans
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P

Exhibit 12 indicates that Freddie Mac and Fannie Mae provide an efficient allocation of
resources from a “second best” perspective. Elimination of Freddie Mac and Fannie Mae’s
funding advantage would provide an efficiency improvement (triangle EFG) in that some of the
excess housing finance would be removed from the market. This improvement would be more
than offset by an efficiency loss resulting from an increase in (high cost) production by
depositories (triangle ABC). Thus, elimination of Freddie Mac and Fannie Mae’s federal
sponsorship would lead to a loss of allocative efficiency, not a gain.?® The loss would be greater
the larger is the funding advantage of depositories relative to Freddie Mac and Fannie Mae. We
next consider what the magnitude of the funding advantage, given deposit insurance, might be

for the depositories.

* This result depends on the relative clasticities of the demand and supply curves. See Capital Economics (2000)
for the full discussion.
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Cost of Funds Comparisons

The GSE-AA spreads presented in Exhibit 6 do not provide a complete picture of the
funding of Freddie Mac and Fannie Mae relative to other financial market participants, One
must also address the sources of funds available to bariks and thrifts issuing federally insured
deposits. Exhibits 13 and 14 (as well as Exhibit 4 provided earlier) show that Freddie Mac and
Fannie Mae have no funding advantage at all relative to depositories. Exhibit 13 lists average
spreads from 1995-2000 between depository instruments and relevant GSE yields. Exhibits 4

and 14 plot these spreads on a mouthly basis.

Exhibit 13
Bank Cost of Funds Are Below GSE Yields

Bank Cost of Funds less GSE Yields:

6 month CDs: -103 bps
One year CDs: -16 bps
1 1% District COFI:! -95 bps
Money Market: -322bps
Savings Accounts: 274 bps
Checking Accounts: -233 bps

The FHLB-San Francisco, 11th District, Monthly Weighted Average Cost of Funds
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Exhibit 14
Bank Cost of Funds (1995-1999)
Bank Cost of Funds
{basis points)
350
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Using several alternative series based on data from bark call reports and Bloomberg, we
clearly demonstrate that depositories have an average cost of funds below that of Freddie Mac
and Fannie Mae. As shown above, this implies that charter revocation of Freddie Mac and

Fannie Mae would lead to less efficiently supplied housing finance.
V1. Conclusions

The funding advantages that Freddie Mac and Fannie Mae derive from their federal charters
and the benefits they provide to homeowners cannot be measured precisely and are better
expressed as ranges. Reasonable estimates of the ranges reveal that the benefits to homeowners

far exceed the funding advantages of Freddie Mac and Fannie Mae. We find:

e The 1996 CBO study overstated the funding advantage received by Freddie Mac and Fannie
Mae and undérestimated the benefits provided by them. CBO incorrectly treated all debt as
long-term debt despite the lower funding advantage on shortt-term debt and included separate
spreads for callable debt and noncallable debt despite the difficulties inberent in measuring
callable spreads. Rather than the 70 basis point funding advantage contained in CBO’s 1996

report, we believe a better estimate places that funding advantage in the range of 10 to 40
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basis points. Further, the 1996 CBO report did not incorporate the effect Freddie Mac and

Fannie Mae have on conforming loans not purchased by them or on jumbo loans.

* Benefits to consumers provided by Freddie Mac and Fannie Mae far exceed the Freddie Mac
and Farmie Mae finding advantage. The benefits to consumers are at least $8.4 billion and
may be as high as $23.5 billion. The funding advantage to Freddie Mac and Fannie Mae lies
between $2.3 billion and $7.0 biltion.

¢ In addition, Freddie Mac and Fannie Mae provide benefits, not measured in this paper,
beyond those that can be quantified in terms of savings on mortgage interest expense by
homeowners. These benefits include maimtenance of liquidity in the mortgage market during
periods of financial turbulence and expanding homeownership opportunities for low-income

and minority families.

»  Giventhat depositories would subsidize housing finance in the absence of Freddie Mac and
Fannie Mae, federal sponsorship of Freddie Mac and Fannie Mae provides a second best
structure that supplies housing finance more efficiently than could the depositories alone.
Depositories receive funding advantages through deposit insurance, access to Federal
Reserve Bank liquidity and FHLB advances and have an average cost of funds lower than

Freddie Mac and Fannie Mae.

In summary, CBO’s 1996 report was deficient in many respects. The methodology used
overstated the funding advantage Freddie Mac and Fannie Mae derive from their charters, and
the evaluation of consumer benefits understated some components and ignored others. A repeat
of these rus-measurements in the new report would render its findings and conclusions without
credible foundation. A more accurate approach shows that the current arrangement benefits

consumers much more than any funding advantage received by Freddie Mac and Fannie Mae.
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OVERVIEW

This study reviews a simulation of the financial performance of the thrift industry
under the risk-based capital stress test (the RBC Test) recently finalized by the Office of
Federal Housing Enterprise Oversight (OFHEQ). The RBC Test represents a novel and
sophisticated method of establishing regulatory capital requirements that differs
substantially from the capital-to-asset ratio tests that most financial regulators have
used historically. The Federal Home Loan Mortgage Corporation (Freddie Mac), which
along with The Federal National Mortgage Association (Fannie Mae), is subject o the
new standards, sought to ascertain the stringency of the RBC Test by applying it to the
U.S. thrift industry, which currently maintains a relatively high capital-to-asset ratio
under traditional capital adequacy measurements. Freddie Mac engaged The
CapAnalysis Group, LLC {CapAnalysis) to conduct an independent review of the
methodology and results of its application of the RBC Test to the thrift industry and to
give its independent judgment about the correctness of the application and the
robustness of the conclusions.

As is described in greater detail below, CapAnalysis agrees with Freddie Mac
that the thrift industry would not be able to pass the RBC Test. This conclusion implies
that the RBC Test is a much more stringent test for judging the safety and soundness of
a financial institution than is a traditional capital-requirements test. Because the RBC
Test relies on a sophisticated evaluation of potential risks, it is able to identify
exposures that would remain undetected using a basic ratio test. This finding is
consistent with the higher ratings that nationally recognized statistical ratings
organizations (NRSROs) have assigned consistently to Freddie Mac in comparison to
the ratings they have assigned to thrift institutions. In addition, this finding is consistent
with the results of a 1999 study by IPS-Sendero, which examined how the thrift industry

would perform under a stress test with conditions similar to those specified in the 1992
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Federal Housing Enterprises Financial Safety and Soundness Act, the legislation that
specifies the requirements of the RBC Test.1

A summary of Freddie Mac’s application of the RBC Test to the thrift industry is
set forth in Table 1. Meeting this test requires sufficient capital to pass two specific
scenarios — one with rising interest rates over a four-year period, and one with declining
interest rates over the same period. The thrift industry would not pass the up-rate
scenario and would fail approximately 7.5 years into the simulated rising-rate
environment. It would, however, pass the down-rate scenario incorporated in the test.

But since the industry fails one part of the test, it fails the test overall.

Table 1: Appilication of OFHEO’s Risk-Based Capital Stress Test to U.S. Thrift Industry

Measure Up-Rate Scenario Down-Rate Scenario
Initial Capital $786 biflion $76 billion

Required Capital $108 biltion $41 billion

Excess {Deficit) {$32 billion) $35 billion

Time to Failure 7.5 years -

BACKGROUND

OFHEQ is the safety-and-soundness regulator of Freddie Mac and Fannie Mae
(Freddie Mac and Fannie Mae together are referred to as the Enterprises). Congress
established OFHEO in 1992 as an independent office within the U.S. Department of
Housing and Urban Development (HUD) and gave it responsibility for examining and
regulating the Enterprises and ensuring that they are adequately capitalized. Part of
OFHEQO’s mandate was to develop a risk-based capital standard.

OFHEQ’s RBC Test ascertains the amount of capital an Enterprise would need
to survive a ten-year period of substantial credit losses and significant movements in

interest rates. If the Enterprises’ current capital is sufficient 1o meet this test, they meet

1 IPS Sendero, Risk-Based Capital and the Thrift Industry: Implications of Risk-Based Capital Stress Test
Requirements (February 1, 1999).

2



151

The CapAnalysis Group, LLC

OFHECQ's risk-based capital regulatory standard. The Enterprises also must meet
minimum capital requirements determined through a traditional ratio-based approach
(see below). An Enterprise’s actual capital requirement at any given time is the higher
of either its risk-based capital requirement or its minimum capital requirement.

The RBC Test differs significantly from the approach that regulators traditionally
have used to establish capital requirements. Under a conventional approach, capital
requirements are determined by a simple ratio of capital-to-assets. In contrast, the
RBC Test takes into account characteristics of an institution’s assets and liabilities and
establishes a capital requirement designed to ensure that the institution is able to
withstand a protracted financial stress. While an institution’s starting capital position is
a factor in the RBC Test, the nature of its porifolio of assets and liabilities is generally
more important to its ability to survive the adverse and long-lasting economic conditions
simulated in the RBC Test.

In order to demonstrate the stringency of the RBC Test, Freddie Mac applied it to
the thrift industry — an industry that currently maintains a relatively high capital-to-asset
ratio. While the RBC Test was designed specifically to assess the operations of the
Enterprises, it is reasonable to use it to evaluate other entities involved primarily in
mortgage lending, such as the thrifts.2 The principal risks to mortgage lenders are
mortgage credit losses and exposure to changing interest rates, and these risks are the
focus of the RBC Test.

The thrift industry consists of approximately 940 institutions and is regulated by
the Office of Thrift Supervision (OTS). Each is required to hold capital equal to

approximately 4 percent of its total mortgage assets, and at present the capital-to-asset

2 Approximately 85percent of the assets held by the thrift industry correlate to specific inputs into the RBC
Test. For the remaining assets, Freddie Mac applied supportable assumptions that are conservative, in
that they tended to enhance the industry's performance on the RBC Test. The most significant of these
assumptions are described in Table 2.
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ratio of the industry is more than twice the required amount.3 By this conventional
measure, the thrift industry is well-capitalized. Accordingly, application of the RBC Test
to the industry should provide a valuable assessment of the stringency of the RBC Test.
With this objective, Freddie Mac prepared an analysis of the thrift industry's
performance under the RBC Test and requested that The CapAnalysis Group review

and evaluate the results.4

METHODOLOGY AND SCOPE

To perform this test, Freddie Mac took publicly available data from OTS relating
to the thrift industry and ran it through OFHEO’s stress test model. The data used was
the aggregate thrift industry data as reported in the Office of Thrift Supervision Industry
Aggregate Report, Schedule CMR (December 31, 2001). Accordingly, the simulation
under the RBC Test treats the entire thrift industry as a single financial institution. This
approach is conservative and will tend to understate the thrift industry’s risks, because
the approach implicitly assumes that losses at individual institutions can be offset by the
capital of others. CapAnalysis reviewed the source and completeness of the
information relating to the thrift industry; assessed and validated the assumptions used
to correlate the information to the proper data input into the RBC Test; and analyzed
and evaluated the results of Freddie Mac's application of the RBC Test to the ;(hrift' .

industry.

DESCRIPTION OF RBC TEST
Overview — OFHEQ issued its final rule implementing the RBC Test on

September 13, 2001. The test determines the amount of capital each Enterprise would

3 As of December 31, 2001, the thrift industry's capital-to-mortgage asset ratio was 8,13 percent. In
contrast, Freddie Mac’s capital-to-asset ratio on that date was 3.13 percent. Comparable data for 2002 is
not yet available.

4 The CapAnalysis Group, LLC is a consulting firm with extensive experience in economic, financial,
regulatory, valuation, and iitigation matters. CapAnalysis' staff of over 50 professionals includes
Economists, Certified Public Accountants, Certified Management Accountants, Certified Valuation
Analysts, and other accounting and financial experts, as well as regulatory analysts with a degreeina
technical specialty and experience in the rulemaking and legislative process.
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need to survive a ten-year period {(stress period) characterized by large credit losses
and large movements in interest rates, with an assumption that an Enterprise not
purchase any new mortgages during that period.5 Specifically, the test determines the
amount of starting capital that would permit an Enterprise to maintain a positive capital
position throughout the stress period, adding 30 percent of that amount to cover
management and operations risk.

Interest Rate Stress — OFHEQ's RBC Test specifies two interest-rate
scenarios -- one with falling rates (down-rate scenario) and the other with rising rates
(up-rate scenario). The down-rate scenario assumes that during the first year of the
stress period the ten-year Constant Maturity Treasury (CMT) yield falls by the lesser of
600 basis points below the average yield during the nine months preceding the stress
period or to 80 percent of the average yield during the three year period preceding the
stress period, but in no case to a yield less than 50 percent of the average yield during
the preceding nine months. The up-rate scenario assumes that during the first year of
the stress period the ten-year CMT rises by the greater of 600 basis points above the
average yield during the nine months preceding the stress period or to 160 percent of
the average yield during the three years preceding the stress period, but in no case to a
yield greater than 175 percent of the average yield during the preceding nine months.

Under both interest-rate scenarios the ten-year CMT changes in twelve equal
monthly increments from the starting point and then remains constant for the final 108
months of the test. The RBC Test establishes the Treasury vield curve for the stress

pericd in relation to the prescribed movements in the ten-year CMT. In the down-rate

5 Both the General Accounting Office and the Congressional Budget Office have recently concluded that it
would not be desirable to include assumptions regarding new business during the stress period into the
RABC Test. See United States General Accounting Office, OFHEO's Risk-Based Capital Stress Test;
Incorporating New Business is Not Advisable {(June 2002); Letter from Dan L. Crippen, Director,
Congressional Budget Office to the Honorable Paul S. Sarbanes, Chairman, Committee on Banking,
Housing and Urban Affairs (January 3, 2003; the attached report concludes that: fi] the no new business
assumption does not understate Enterprise capital requirements for the RBC Test, [ii] the impact of new
business assumptions on Enterprise capital requirements would depend primarily on the assumptions;
and [iii] if new business assumptions were incorporated into the RBC Test, assuming that new business
during the stress period would be profitable is more realistic than assuming it wouid be unprofitable).

5
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scenario, the yield curve is upward sloping during the final nine years of the stress
period; in the up-rate scenario, the Treasury yield curve is flat for the last nine years of
the stress period.

Because many different interest rates affect the business performance of an
Enterprise, rates and indexes other than Treasury yields must be established for the
entire stress period. The RBC Test sets those rates and indexes using an average of
the spread of each non-Treasury rate to its comparable CMT for the two-year period
prior to the start of the stress period. Indexes of mortgage Interest rates are calculated
using the average absolute basis-point spread for the same two-year period.

Credit Stress — In order to simulate the stressful conditions that are the basis for
credit losses in the RBC Test, OFHEQ employed a methodology based on historical
analysis of newly originated, fixed and adjustable rate, first-lien single family and
multifamily mortgages. Using this methodology, OFHEO identified the worst cumulative
credit losses experienced by loans originated during a period of at least two
consecutive years in contiguous states comprising at least five percent of the U.S.
population. Currently this benchmark is determined by loans originated in Arkansas,
Louisiana, Mississippi, and Oklahoma in 1983 and 1984; approximately 14.9 percent of
mortgages defaulted in those states during these years.

To simulate mortgage performance during the adverse conditions of the stress
period, the RBC Test uses statistical models to project default, prepayment and loss
severity rates during the stress period. The models simulate the interaction of the
patterns of house prices, residential rents, and vacancy rates from the benchmark time
and place with specified interest rates and mortgage risk characteristics to predict the
performance of Enterprise loans throughout the stress period. The defauit and
prepayment models calculate the proportion of the outstanding principal balance for
each loan group that defaults or prepays in each of the 120 months of the stress period.

The models are based on the historical relationship of economic conditions, mortgage
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risk factors, and mortgage performances, as reflected in the historical experience of the
Enterprises. In the case of defaults, a loss severity rate is calculated which takes into
consideration not only the loss of principal but also transaction costs related to
foreclosure, property holding costs, and disposition costs.

Additional Stress Test Considerations — QOther factors included in the RBC Test
are mortgage credit enhancements and counterparty default rates. Credit
enhancements are contractual arrangements with third parties that reduce Enterprise
losses on defaulted loans. Counterparty default rates reflect the creditworthiness of
companies and financial instruments to which the Enterprises have credit exposure.
These credit exposures include most mortgage credit enhancement counterparties,
securities held as assets, and derivative contract counterparties. The RBC test
reduces, or applies “haircuts” to, the amounts due from these instruments or
counterparties according to their level of risk, which is determined by public credit
ratings at the start of the stress period.

Calculation of Capital Requirement — To determine an Enterprise’s risk-based
capital requirement, the RBC Test calculates monthly stress period cash flows for every
loan group and individual instrument reported by the Enterprise. Haircuts are applied to
these cash flows to reflect the credit risk of securities and counterparties. The cash
flows are used to create pro forma financial statements that reflect the Enterprise’s total
capital for each month of the stress period. The capital balance for each month is then
discounted back to the start of the stress period using the six-month Treasury rate when
the Enterprise is a net lender and the six-month Enterprise Cost of Funds rate when the
Enterprise is a net borrower. The lowest discounted monthly balance is subtracted from
the Enterprise’s initial capital, with the result representing the smallest amount of
starting capital required to maintain positive capital throughout the stress period. This

amount is then multiplied by 1.3, which adds a 30 percent risk premium to protect
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against management and operations risk.6 The final result is the Enterprise’s risk-

based capital requirement.

APPLICATION OF RBC TEST TO THE THRIFT INDUSTRY

Because the core business of both the Enterprises and the thrift industry is
mortgage lending, the thrift industry is a good candidate for evaluation under the RBC
Test. OFHEO developed the RBC Test to evaluate the risks associated with mortgage
lending - specifically, credit risk and changes in interest rates. By applying the RBC
Test to a similar industry, which is regulated by a different entity using a different
approach to capital standards, it is possible to derive significant insights into the
stringency of the RBC Test.

Data used to apply the RBC Test was obtained from the Thrift Financial Reports,
which all thrift institutions are required to file with OTS. These reports provide detailed
information on the industry’s balance sheets, income statements, off balance sheet
activities and rates -- all of which are necessary to ensure a valid application of the RBC
Test.

While the core business of the thrift industry is analogous to that of the
Enterprises, there are differences that must be accounted for in applying the RBC Test
to this industry. For example, unlike the Enterprises, the thrift industry underwrites
commercial loans, consumer loans, and construction loans in addition to its principal
business of residential mortgage lending. With respect to mortgage lending, the thrift
industry underwrites “jumbao” mortgage loans as well as the “conforming” residential
mortgages that the Enterprises are able to purchase. A further difference is that the
thrift industry also generates fees from mortgage servicing.

Because OFHEO designed its model specifically to evaluate the activities of the

Enterprises, differences between the businesses of the Enterprises and thrift institutions

6 Notably, the Basel Committee on Banking Supervision recernitly agreed to eliminate the separate floor
capital requirement for operation risk that had been proposed previously as a component of its bank
capital standards. See www.bis.org/press/p020710.htm (July 11, 2002).

8
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are not addressed in the RBC Test. Furthermore, certain Enterprise data evaluated in
the RBC Test is not available in the same level of detail for the thrift industry in the
reports issued by OTS. To properly account for these differences and lack of detai,
certain assumptions had to be made in the application of the RBC Test to the thrift
industry.

CapAnalysis has reviewed the assumptions made by Freddie Mac in applying
the RBC Test to the thrift industry and concludes that the decisions made are
reasonable. in making required assumptions, Freddie Mac treated the data in a manner
thatis ‘Iogical. Where assumptions necessarily required subjective judgments, Freddie
Mac favored choices that tended to improve the performance of the thrift industry in the
RBC Test. To verify Freddie Mac’s treatments of thrift industry data, CapAnalysis
traced all data inputs into the RBC Test back to the thrift industry reports issued by
OTS. To the extent that information contained in the reports could not be input directly
into OFHEQO’s model, Freddie Mac made reasonable assumptions as to how to
incorporate this data into the RBC Test, often using data on their portfolios. Review by
CapAnalysis indicates that these assumptions are reasonable. A summary of the major

assumptions is shown in the table below.
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Table 2: Assumptions in Application of RBC Test to Thrift Industry

ftern

Assumption

i Notes

LTV Ratios

Credit Quality
of Mortgage
Assets

Credit
Enhancements

Counterparty
Credit Rating

Construction &
Land and
Commercial
Loans

Adjustable
Rate
Consumer
{oans

Fixed Rate
Consumer
Loans

Servicing
Rights

Swaps, Caps
and Swaptions

ARMs

Thrift industry's portfolio
has the same breakdown
of LTV ratios found in
Freddie Mac's portiolio.

Thrift industry has the
same asset quality as

i Freddie Mac.

; Mortgage insurance is the

only credit enhancement
and two-thirds of all loans
with an original LTV ratio
greater than 80% have
mortgage insurance.

Half of all mortgage
insurance is issued by
AAA-rated insurers, with
the remaining half issued
by AA-rated insurers.

These loans are included
with Muiltifamily ARMs,
using the weighted
average remaining
maturities and weighted
average coupons.

: These loans are inciuded
| with adjustable rate

second mortgages.

included with fixed rate
second mortgages.

Not modeled.

Modeled with average
characteristics of
comparable instruments
in Freddie Mac's portfolio.

Lifetime caps set to 600

; basis points.

i Publicly available data indicates that Freddie Mac tends to purchase

lower-risk mortgages than does the thrift industry.7 Assuming that
LTV ratios for the thrift industry are the same as for Freddie Mac
improves the thrift industry’s performance in the RBC Test.

Because net charge-offs for the thrift industry have been more than
i 20 times greater than those of Freddie Mac in recent quarters,

| assuming that the thrift industry’s assets are comparabie impraves
: the thrift industry's performance in the RBC Test.

Freddie Mac's charter requires all mortgages with an original LTV
above 80% to have mortgage insurance or other specified credit
enhancements. Publicly available data (MIRS, published by FHFB)
indicates that the thrift industry has mortgage insurance on
approximately two-thirds of its loans with an original LTV above 80%.

This assumption is conservative, based on the actual industry ratings

break--down of Mi coverage. (Less than half of aggregate coverage

. is provided by AAA-rated issuers.) In the RBC Test, AA-rated
insurers receive a greater haircut {up to 12.5%) than do AAA-rated

: insurers (up to 5%).

. The ABC Test does not model these foans, The effect of this
assumption is to reduce thrift industry assets that must be funded
over the 10-year period of the RBC Test. This assumption
substantially improves the thrift industry’s performance in the RBC
Test by boosting the shori-term yields and shortening the remaining
terms of these loans.

The RBC Test does not model these loans. Similar to the
assumption concerning construction & fand and commercial foans,

; this assumption improves the thrift industry’s performance on the
RBC Test. However, the beneficial impact is less here due to the
lower unpaid balance of adjustable rate consumer loans.

i The RABC Test does not model these loans. Similar to the

: assumption concerning construction & land and commercial loans,
this assumption improves the thrift industry’s performance in the
RBC Test.

The RBC Test does not model servicing rights. Not modeling these
¢ assets effectively converts them to cash, improving the thrift
industry’s performance in the BBC Test because sesvicing values
¢ become significantly impaired when mortigages defauit.

: While actual notional values are available and are used, other
characteristics are derived from instruments in Freddie Mac's
- portfolio, which are assumed to be typical.

. This assurmption is based on typical characteristics of these types of
! loans.

7 G. Canner, W. Passmore, B. Surrette, “Distribution of Credit Risk among Providers Mortgages to Lower
Income & Minority Homebuyers," 82 Federal Reserve Bulletin No. 12 (December, 1996), pp. 1077-1102.

10
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RESULTS

Assessed under the RBC Test, the thrift industry would not have sufficient capital
to survive the entire stress period in the up-rate scenario, though it would have
sufficient capital in the down-rate scenario. Accordingly, the industry would fail the RBC
Test. Calculated as specified in OFHEQO’s model, the industry’s initial total capital is
$76 billion. The industry's monthly discounted total capital at the end of the stress
period (in the up-rate scenario) is negative $7 billion. Thus, the industry’s required risk-
based capital at thé beginning of the stress period would be $108 billion (($76B — (-
$7B)) x 1.3). In other words, the thrift industry’s capital is $32 billion less than would be
necessary to pass the RBC Test in the up-rate scenario ($768 ~ $108B).

Up-Hate Scenario Details —In the up-rate scenario, the thrift industry’s total
capital turns negative in the 90" month of the 120 month stress test period. At the end
of the first 12 months of the stress period, the industry’s aggregate income statement
shows a loss of $2.07 billion on net interest income of $18.72 billion. Both mortgage
and debt balances fall to 82 percent of their starting balances.

in OFHEO’s model, mortgage balances are reduced due to maturities coming
due, defaults, and prepayments resulting from refinancing activity and curtailments.
Prepayments in the model's up-rate scenario are greatly reduced, however, as fixed-
rate borrowers are assumed to have no incentive to refinance due to higher rates. The
model assumes relatively more refinancing by adjustable rate mortgage (ARM) holders,
as ARMs adjust to the rising rates and become expensive relative to current market
rates. In addition, there is a certain amount of frictional prepayment activity built into
OFHEO's model that occurs due to exogenous factors, such as the relocation or death
of the homeowner.

The thrift industry’s interest income was 118 percent of its starting level after the
first 12 months of the stress period. Most of this increase stems from the rates on
ARMs rising with the market rates, although periodic and lifetime caps keep this income

from increasing as much as do market rates. Fixed rate mortgages also limit the
1
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amount that interest income can grow, and their long lives at below market rates hurt
growth in interest income.

Interest expense at 12 months rises to 176 percent of its starting level. In
OFHEO’s model, assumed short-term debt funding of assets requires the debt to roll
over to higher rates much more quickly than the assets. The model’s slowdown in
prepayment speeds exacerbates this effect.

By the end of the 120" month of the stress period, the thrift industry’s morigage
and debt balances would still follow each other roughly, with 21 percent of mortgage
balances still remaining, and 24 percent of the starting debt balances remaining on the
aggregate balance sheet. interest income would drop to 31 percent of its starting level.
This percentage is higher than the remaining asset and liability balances as a result of
ARM borrowers who are assumed not to refinance their mortgages. This would occur
to the extent that such borrowers are rate insensitive or do not keep up with market
rates. Or, such borrowers could have loans with short remaining terms or be in other
circumstances where refinancing is not a financially attractive option.

The thrift industry's interest expense at the end of month 120 would be 70
percent of its initial starting level. The high rates in the market coupled with the
continual roll over of the short term debt instruments would keep these expense levels
high.

The following tables show balance sheets and income statements for the thrift

industry during the up-rate scenario of the ten-year stress test.

12
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Down-Rate Scenario Details — In the down-rate scenario, the thrift industry’s
total capital remains positive throughout the entire 120-month period of the RBC Test.
In the first 12 months of the stress period, the industry would lose $1.10 billion on net
interest income of $19.83 billion. Mortgage balances fall to 67 percent of their starting
balances after 12 months while debt is reduced to 72 percent of its starting balance.
The steeper drop in mortgage balances (relative to the up-rate scenario) reflects the
increased speed of prepayments in OFHEO's model due to refinancing and
curtailments. The percentage difference between the decline in mortgage and debt
balances results from the fixed term of debt relative to the continual stream of
mortgage prepayments over the initial 12-month period.

Over the same 12-month period, the industry’'s interest income would falf to 68
percent of its starting level while interest expense would fall to 67 percent of its
starting level. The decline in interest rates would trigger faster mortgage prepayments
and the reduced funding costs in OFHEQO’s model.

At the end of the stress period in the down-rate scenario, the thrift industry’s
mortgage balances would be 4 percent of starting levels, and debt balances would be
removed completely. The dramatic prepayments assumed in OFHEQ’s model,
combined with the model’s “no new business” assumption leaves only a few assets

“that require funding. At the end of the stress period, the industry's interest income
also falls to 4 percent of its starting level, \.Ni'[h no debt expense remaining as debt
balances are retired.

The RBC Test calculates the down-rate risk-based capital requirement using
the same methodology described above for the up-rate scenario. The thrift industry’s
initial total capital is the same $76 billion as in the up-rate scenario. The industry's
monthly discounted total capital at the end of the stress period is $45 billion. Thus the

risk-based capital requirement in the down-rate scenario is $41 billion (($76B - $45B) x
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1.3). This means the thrift industry’s capital is $35 billion ($76B - $41B) more than

required under this scenario.

ANALYSIS

The results of the application of OFHEO's RBC Test (i.e., inadequately
capitalized in the up-rate scenario and adequately capitalized in the down-rate
scenario} are consistent with expectations givén the characteristics of the industry’s
assets and liabilities and limitations on the industry’s ability to hedge exposure to
interest rate risk. The vast majority of the industry’s revenues are generated from
interest income on single-family mortgage portfolios and morigage-backed securities,
while the biggest expense is interest on the liabilities incurred to fund these mortgage
assets. The industry’s assets are primarily long-term, with the amount of adjustable
rate mortgages being slightly higher than the amount of fixed rate mortgages ($273
billion vs. $224 billion). These assets are funded predominantly by short-term
liabilities, consisting primarily of customer deposits. Only 21 percent of the industry’s
debt is classified as long-term.

The major factors affecting the spread between the thrift industry's interest
income and interest expense are mortgage prepayment rates and interest-rate lag. In
an up-rate environment, there is little incentive for borrowers with fixed rate mortgages
to prepay, with the result that effective interest rates on such mortgages lag behind
market rates. With respect to adjustable rate mortgages, periodic and lifetime caps
cause increases in the effective interest rate on that portion of the industry’s asset
base to lag behind the rising market rate. In contrast, the rate of interest that the
industry is paying on its short-term liabilities rises in step with the market rate. Thus,
in an up-rate environment, the spread in the rates between interest income and

interest expense narrows. This phenomenon contributes to the failure of the thrift
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industry in the up-rate scenario under the harsh conditions imposed by the OFHEO
model.

In a down-rate environment, there is an incentive for borrowers to refinance to a
lower interest rate, thus increasing the amount of prepayments. This increase in
prepayments lowers the effective rates on both fixed and adjustable rate mortgages,
as well as reduces the burden of carrying long-term assets funded by short-term
liabilities. The drop in the effective rates, however, tends to lag behind the drop in the
market rates due to borrowers wanting to try to catch the “bottom” of the cycle and the
time involved to process a refinancing. However, the rate of interest paid on the short-
term liabilities tends to decrease in step with the market and can actually have the
effect of increasing the spread between interest income and interest expense. Thus,
the down-rate scenario presents a considerably lesser challenge to the thrift industry
than does the up-rate scenario.

The difficulties that the up-rate scenario presents to the thrift industry also
highlight the inherent limitations on the industry's ability to hedge interest rate risk. in
an up-rate environment, longer-term liabilities on the industry’s balance sheet would
mitigate the erosion in the spread between interest income and interest expense.
And, the use of callable debt and swaptions could provide a hedge against any risks
that such longer-term liabilities would introduce in a down rate environment.
(Swaptions are put options on interest rate swaps and allow an institution to lock in
fixed rates in a rising rate environment, or switch to an adjustable or floating rate
portfolio in a falling rate environment.) The thrift industry is limited, however, in its
ability to extend the effective life of its liabilities because most of its funding is in the

form of customer deposits, which typically are shorter-term obligations.
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CONCLUSION

With a capital-to-asset ratio of approximately 8 percent, the aggregate
capitalization of the thrift industry is well above what is deemed to be “safe” by OTS.
Nevertheless, the industry does not have sufficient capital to pass the RBC Test,
which is applied to both Freddie Mac and Fannie Mae. Notably, several assumptions
made in applying the RBC Test to the thrift industry would operate to reduce the
severity of this application significantly. This conclusion should not be interpreted as
indicating that the thrift industry is undercapitalized. Rather, the fact that the thrift
industry is not able to pass OFHEQ’s RBC Test is an indication that the RBC Test is
extremely stringent and that it is able to evaluate risks that are not addressed by
traditional ratio tests.

This conclusion also demonstrates the value of hedging as an effective strategy
to mitigate interest rate risk. In an environment of significant and sustained interest
rate shifts, even a relatively high capital-to-asset ratio will not insulate institutions that
retain a high level of long-term fixed-rate assets. The fact that the Enterprises are
able to pass the RBC Test affirms the value of prudent hedging practices as an
effective risk-mitigation device. Because of the nature of its business, the thrift
industry has only limited opportunities to reduce its risks through hedging. Without the
ability to offset the risks associated with long-term fixed-rate assets, an institution
would be unlikely to perform satisfactorily under the protracted stresses incorporated

in the RBC Test.
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Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive Officer
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On “Oversight of Government-Sponsored Enterprises:
The Risks and Benefits to Consumers”

For the Senate Committee on Governmental Affairs
Subcommittee on Financial Management, the Budget and International Security

July 21, 2003

Thank you, Chairman Fitzgerald, Ranking Member Akaka and members of the
Subcommittee for this opportunity to share with you The Enterprise Foundation’s views
on the benefits to consumers provided by the housing Government Sponsored Enterprises
(GSEs): Fannie Mae, Freddie Mac and the Federal Home Loan Bank (FHLB) system.

I am Bart Harvey, chairman of the board and chief executive officer of The
Enterprise Foundation. Enterprise is a national nonprofit organization that provides
private capital to support affordable housing and economic development in low-income
communities. Enterprise and its wholly owned subsidiary companies have invested $4.4
billion to finance 144,000 affordable homes for low-income families and individuals,
including more than 12,000 in 2002. We are currently investing half-a-billion dollars a
year to help connect low-income people and communities to the mainstream economy.
Our sole mission is to serve low- and very low-income households and to rebuild
communities.

We have no more important partners in our work than the housing GSEs. These
institutions have been indispensable to Enterprise’s efforts to expand housing opportunity
for low-income homebuyers and renters. In many cases, the GSEs alone were willing and
able to helr Enterprise meet the needs of the people and places we serve. Without the
GSEs, much of our work simply would not be possible.

In the interest of full disclosure, the Committee should know that Enterprise
regularly seeks support from major financial institutions, including the housing GSEs.
They (and in the case of Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac, their corporate foundations) along
with other financial institutions have been major contributors to The Enterprise
Foundation. In addition, we have sought out senior executives from financial institutions
to lend their talent, energy and personal contributions to our cause. Franklin Raines,
Fannie Mae’s chairman and chief executive officer, and Barry Zigas, senior vice
president and executive director of Fannie Mae’s National Community Lending Center,
are Trustees of The Enterprise Foundation. Mr. Zigas has served since his days as
executive director of the National Low Income Housing Coalition. Finally, I recently
completed a term on the board of directors of the Federal Home Loan Bank of Atlanta.
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We understand that the Committee will hear testimony from other witnesses that
addresses the macroeconomic benefits the GSEs provide consumers. It certainly seems
clear that Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac’s participation in the secondary mortgage market
lowers home mortgage rates for consumers. Rates on the “conventional” loans these
GSEs finance are significantly lower than rates on the “jumbo” loans they do not. The
lower rates Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac make possible cut monthly mortgage costs for
low-income homeowners and help enable renters to buy their first home.

We are not experts on the extent of these and other macroeconomic benefits.
Enterprise is not a research institution, but a practitioner—a provider of resources to
those consumers who are often left out of the mainstream housing market. Our testimony
addresses how we, working with the GSEs, address the needs of these low-income
families and individuals.

We do not purport to speak for all the low-income housing consumers who have
benefited from GSE products, programs and services or the other organizations that have
worked with the GSEs to address America’s housing challenges. We speak solely from
our own experience over two decades of partnership with Fannie Mae, Freddie Mac and
the FHLBank system. While some of the initiatives we have undertaken with these
institutions have been groundbreaking or unique, we believe they are broadly
representative of the tools the GSEs and partners like Enterprise have developed to fill
gaps and correct failures in the housing market.

We suspect that the Committee will hear a great deal in connection with this
hearing about the federal benefits the GSEs receive. It is equally important, we believe,
for the Committee to be aware of the strong federal requirements on the GSEs to finance
affordable housing.

Consider Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac. The Federal Housing Enterprises
Financial Safety and Soundness Act of 1992 requires these companies to dedicate
substantial portions of their business to serving low-income people and coinmunities.
They must meet annual goals, established by HUD, and expressed as a percentage of all
the housing units for which the institutions provide financing, in the following categories:
loans to low- and moderate-income borrowers (minimum 50 percent of all units financed
by each company for 2003); loans in central cities, rural communities and other
underserved areas (31 percent); and loans to very low-income borrowers and low-income
borrowers living in low-income areas (20 percent).

When HUD established the current affordable housing goals for Fannie Mae and
Freddie Mac in 2000 it substantially increased the percentage-of-business targets in each
category. We strongly supported increasing the goal levels at that time. We have long
encouraged Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac to increase their affordable housing activities.
We are pleased that the companies affirmatively embraced the increased goal levels and
have been meeting them, in a disciplined, prudent fashion. We are not aware of any other
corporations that have such demanding public purpose responsibilities.

3]
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The Federal Home Loan Banks are required to dedicate 10 percent of their net
income each year to fund the Affordable Housing Program (AHP). The AHP is a federal
program that provides grants and loan interest rate subsidies for affordable rental and for-
sale housing development. The AHP program has provided $1.7 billion in investment that
has financed nearly 360,000 affordable homes. The Banks also offer other affordable
housing initiatives, including billions of dollars of loans near cost for community
investment opportunities through member Banks. While I served on the board of the
Federal Home Loan Bank of Atlanta, the president and board granted additional earnings
to pioneer an economic development program, create a secondary market for small
multifamily loans and reach out to historically black colleges and minorities; among other
activities.

Enterprise has worked in productive partnerships with the GSEs to provide
housing for many thousands of low-income families and individuals. For example,
Fannie Mae, through Enterprise, was one of the first institutions to invest in the Low
Income Housing Tax Credit (LIHTC), in 1987. Fannie Mae’s commitment to this
fledgling federal incentive sent a strong signal to the marketplace that the Credit was a
sound investment at a time when few corporations were willing to utilize it. Fannie
Mae agreed to commit $25 million in investments and go on the road with us to
convince other corporations to invest. Together, we helped create the corporate market
in LIHTC investments,

Freddie Mac joined Fannie Mae several years later in helping to expand the
market of LIHTC investors by making matching pledges for state and local LIHTC
investment. With Enterprise, Fannie Mae started the first national LIHTC equity fund
for special needs housing, Corporate Housing Initiatives, in which Freddie Mac was the
other key investor. Since those early years of the LIHTC’s history, Fannie Mae and
Freddie Mac have been leaders and innovators in the LIHTC industry, pioneering new
products and best practices in financing LIHTC developments. Attached to our
westimony are descriptions of several LIHTC developments we have finaiced with
Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac.

The LIHTC is now the most important federal incentive for the development of
rental housing for low-income people. It accounts for $6 billion in housing investment
that produces more than 115,000 affordable apartments for working families, seniors,
homeless individuals and people with special needs every year. Essential to the
LIHTC’s efficiency and effectiveness is strong corporate support for it. Fannie Mae is
the largest investor in the Credit and Freddie Mac is among the very largest.

Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac also have been leaders in the creation of
innovative lending programs to finance affordable housing. For example, Fannie Mae
and Enterprise created a $150 million lending program, Enterprise Mortgage
Investments (EMI), that provides low-cost capital and credit enhancement for rental
housing for low-income working families.

s
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EMI primarily provides financing for smaller developments outside major cities
that conventional banks are reluctant to support. EMI fills a critical, often overlooked
market segment. EMD’s status as a Special Fannie Mae lender, with fully delegated
underwriting and servicing authority, enables it to provide resources that otherwise
would not be available. One example:

e Prior to redevelopment made possible by EMI and Fannie Mae financing,
Edgewater Village Apartments in northern Maryland was home to an open air
drug market that generated one-third of all police calls in the southern part of
the county. As a result of redevelopment, drug dealers are gone from the
community, now called the Village at Lakeview. The community has 223
apartments for low-income renters, in 19 garden-style buildings, and a
community room for after school programs and social services. Across the street
is a Police Athletic Center that provides child care services.

Enterprise also has worked with Federal Home Loan Banks on innovative
initiatives to provide affordable housing. One example is the “Home of Your
Own/Portland” initiative, through which Enterprise, the Federal Home Loan Bank of
Seattle and the Housing Authority of Portland, Oregon are enabling very low-income
public housing residents to become homeowners.

Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac have been enormously productive and creative,
which is part of their value added. They have very talented people, have innovated with
state-of-the-art technology, reduced dramatically transaction costs and found a way to
mainstream products and services that were considered “too risky” before. They have a
mandate to find ways to make markets in affordable products work, which Wall Street
does not.

The examples we have cited are a few among that show how the GSEs are
serving low-income consumers and communities. We believe that the current statutory
and regulatory framework for the GSEs, Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac in particular,
has enhanced their ability and willingness to forge partnerships with organizations like
Enterprise to deliver housing resources to people and places that cannot take full
advantage of our nation’s generally well functioning housing system.

The 1992 law that revised Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac’s charter and regulatory
structure allowed and encouraged the companies to be innovative in meeting their new
affordable housing requirements. Congress expressly provided Fannie Mae and Freddie
Mac the freedom and flexibility to respond to fast moving market conditions and
emerging needs. The companies have consistently met their affordable housing
responsibilities, even as HUD steadily and substantially increased them over the past
decade. Millions of low-income people have a decent, affordable home as a result.
Curtailing Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac’s flexibility to innovate would undermine these
gains and limit future progress towards meeting our nation’s affordable housing needs.
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Certainly, the safety and soundness of the housing GSEs is critical for
consumers and the economy. Vigorous regulation is essential. There is no reason that
strong safety and soundness oversight should chill or constrain the GSEs’ vitally
important affordable housing activities.

In fact, the interests of affordable housing and safety and soundness are very
compatible, if carried out the right way. Enterprise itself has a long history of proving
this thesis. For instance, in the mid 1980’s, Enterprise was confronted with the perception
that risk capital for investments using the LIHTC for multifamily housing must be set at a
very high level, given prior multifamily housing default history. The miniscule default
rate in our multi-billion dollar portfolio of LIHTC investments over 15 years has
disproved this concern. Over time, the LIHTC marketplace has acknowledged this point,
as equity investments now price like bonds, meaning more cents per tax credit dollar goes
into affordable housing. Similarly, our and others’ low downpayment loans, carefully
underwritten, have performed within the tolerance level of mainstream products.

Finally, we have room to innovate, take risks, try new products and find ways that
we can create capital flows in distressed communities. Inevitably, one of the GSEs is the
first investor willing to take calculated risks to find new markets.

We hope these comments from one organization’s real world, on-the-ground
perspective will help the Congress as it devotes appropriate attention to the housing GSEs
and the indispensable, irreplaceable benefits they provide millions of low-income
consumers.
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Chairman Fitzgerald, Senator Akaka, and distinguished members of the Subcommittee:

Thank you for the invitation to testify today on government-sponsored enterprises
and their risks and benefits to consumers. My name is Susan M. Wachter. 1 am the
Richard B. Wormley Professor of Financial Management and a Professor of Real Estate
and Finaiice at The Wharton School of the University of Pennsylvania. I am a former
Assistant Secretary of Policy Development and Research at the U.S. Department of
Housing and Urban Development. My testimony is taken from studies that I have
authored or co-authored on the affordability of housing and government-sponsored
enterprises.

Currently, the United States has one of the best housing finance systems in the
world. The efficiency of this system has been advanced by the federal chartering of
government-sponsored enterprises (GSEs), in particular Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac.
These institutions have enabled the securitization and the development of a secondary
market for the funding of mortgages. Sccuritization and the efficient trading of mortgages
in secondary markets have integrated the U.S. mortgage market into the international
financial system.

The goal of the federal chartering of Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac, further
articulated by the 1992 regulatory legislation that established OFHEQ, is to achieve
public policy objectives including the promotion of nationwide homeownership through
the purchase and securitization of mortgages. The Federal government provides a
number of economic privileges to the GSEs, most important of which is the implied
Federal government guarantee which decreases the enterprises’ funding costs. Given the
contingent liabilities to the U.S. taxpayer, GSEs are and must be monitored for their
safety and soundness as well as for their mission achievement.

Today, I will address the increased access to homeownership for all Americans
and, in particular for the underserved, which, I believe, is achieved by the Federal
chartering of the GSEs. In my testimony, I will specifically refer to a research paper,
authored by myself and colleagues, which details the extent that affordable lending
products advance homeownership. In addition, I believe the GSEs have had a role in the
recent strength of the U.S. housing market which has contributed towards the
stabilization of the overall U.S. economy.

Based on my research and that of my colleagues, Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac
have contributed to the expansion of homeownership in America, providing affordable
residential mortgages for low- and moderate-income households who otherwise might not
have the opportunity to become homeowners. Specifically, Freddie Mac and Fannie Mae
efforts have helped to advance gains in overall homeownership rates and in
homeownership rates among minority and low-income households occurring over the
past decade, resulting in the record high homeownership rate in America of 68% in 2003,
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GSEs have accomplished this in part through their special affordable lending
programs but also importantly through lower mortgage and down payment rates that
would not prevail but for the presence of the GSEs. The findings of the recently released
research study “The impacts of Affordable Lending Efforts on Homeownership Rates” by
Roberto Quercia, George McCarthy, and Susan M. Wachter, published in the Journal of
Housing Economics (Volume 12, Number 1, March 2003), indicate that affordable
lending efforts increase homeownership opportunities overall and for underserved
populations in particular. Affordable lending products including those which permit low
downpayments have large impacts on the homeownership outcomes of all Americans and
larger impacts for underserved groups, including a 27 percent increase in the relative
probability of homeownership for young households, a 21 percent increase in the relative
probability of homeownership for African Americans, and a 15 percent increase for
households residing in central city.

The gains in homeownership are attributable in part to improved credit risk
management, which have enabled the lowering of downpayments. Thus, it is not just
lower mortgage rates, but also the technical innovations, such as automated underwriting,
developed by the GSEs in the 1990s that are responsible for increasing homeownership.

The GSEs and a strong secondary market deliver a second benefit, besides
expanded homeownership opportunity, to the American consumer. Their role in
accessing global capital markets and stabilizing U.S. mortgage markets was evident in
August 1998 upon the defaulting of Russia’s foreign-held debt. In the crisis, MBS yields
moved sharply higher and illiquidity appeared to be a growing concern. Purchasing a
record number of mortgages, the GSE’s staved off crisis by adding liquidity to mortgage
markets; therefore, no credit crunch evolved in the U.S. bousing sector as opposed to
other markets of the time. This pivotal effect is even more evident in the recent role
housing has played in stabilizing the overall U.S. economy. The role of mortgage market
access to global capital markets as an automatic stabilizer for the U.S. economy is
demonstrated by the strength of the housing sector and its role in moving the economy
out of the 2001 recession. Access to international capital markets during a period of low
and falling interest rates and possible deflation has resulted in additional consumer
spending which has supported the U.S. economy. This benefit that the GSEs and
secondary markets provide the American consumer is a major contributory factor is
today’s strong housing market which has helped to stabilize and grow the U.S. economy.

Chairman Fitzgerald, Senator Akaka, and distinguished members of the
Subcommittee, this concludes my prepared statement, and | would be pleased to respond
to any questions that you may have.



